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CORPORATE PROFILE AND CORPORATE INFORMATION

AFENTR2BEH

InvesTech Holdings Limited (the “"Company”, “our” or “we", together
with all its subsidiaries, the "Group”) is mainly engaged in the
provision of network system integration including provision of
network infrastructure solutions, network professional services and
smart office software solutions, and the network equipment rental
business. The shares of the Company (the “Shares") were listed on
the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the

“"Stock Exchange”) on 16 November 2010.
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Executive Directors
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Mr. Lu, Brian Yong Chen
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Mr. Liu Chun Fai
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PROFILE AND CORPORATE INFORMATION
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REGISTERED OFFICE
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Bank of China (Hong Kong) Limited

China Merchants Bank
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
ERBS

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the board (the "Board") of directors (the "Directors”) of
the Company (the “Company” and together with its subsidiaries, the
“Group”), | hereby present to you the audited annual results of the
Group for the year ended 31 December 2021 (the "Year").

BUSINESS AND MARKET OVERVIEW

The People's Republic of China (the "PRC" or “China") was among the
world's fastest-growing major economies in 2021 with the adoption
of her effective control measures over COVID-19 pandemic (the
“COVID-19"). Under the national "14th Five-Year Plan (2021-2025)"
and "Digital China" strategy, the Chinese government has redoubled
its efforts to accelerate the construction of information network
infrastructure and a national-level, integrated system of “Big Data"
centre, alongside an emphasis on industrial digital transformation.
Investment in related industries began to soar, presenting a new
momentum in the PRC's IT industry and fostered a broader market,
which has opened up numerous opportunities for the Group.

In response to the "new normal” of the COVID-19 era business
environment, the global market for IT infrastructure system
integration grew substantially during the Year amid surging demand
for new software and networking tools designed to enhance
corporate connectivity. Enterprises in a range of industries strived to
adopt various system integration solutions as a matter of priority to
manage their operations virtually and efficiently.

Meanwhile, companies have rushed to adapt to restrictions imposed
to control the COVID-19, the market for smart office solutions has
seen explosive growth as such technologies proliferate worldwide.
The phenomenon of remote work has become widespread due to
the impact of the COVID-19, and smart office solutions and software
have been crucial to maintaining business operations amid the need
to facilitate teleworking and increase flexibility. During the Year,
leveraging robust demand for IT infrastructure system integration
and smart office software solution services in the Chinese market,
the Group spared no effort to enhance its business development and
achieve its revenue growth.
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OUTLOOK

China has established itself as a major player in the global technology
space, including in IT infrastructure, software and services, and has
staked out leadership positions in emerging areas such as 5G and
robotics. Supported by favourable government policies, the demand
for IT services and investment in IT will experience continued, solid
growth in the country.

Given that COVID-19 has brought fundamental changes to the global
business environment, demand for smart office solutions is expected
to gain momentum even in the post-pandemic era. Leveraging our
targeted investment and solid IT industry experience laid out in
past years, the Group will closely monitor the development of the
industry and proactively capture market opportunities, with the
aim of optimising smart office software solutions using digital-twin
technology.

Looking ahead, the Group will maintain the stable development of
its IT infrastructure system integration business, with a focus on
expediting the development of its smart office software business,
which will be the Group's revenue growth engine, as it aims to boost
its market share in the PRC. The Group will foster relationships and
alliances with additional large enterprises to reach new customers
while continuing its investment in its research and development
centre in Xi'an, the PRC, to enhance its capabilities. In Hong Kong, the
Group will continue to bid for and acquire public and private projects,
and looks forward to increased cooperation with government
departments in the future.
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EEHE

GIE=4;:3°
PEHERKBSERSE2MRMEALE (BEFEERR
RERRM RERRE) NEE2RE WEH
HELLRE (56K s AN) BUS AL - R EIA
M BT R BYSZF - HE AP IRB BB R
EARENREEEARE T HREER

ENMAUERFEEREEREBIRETRTIR
AEE HEEMABRAS BB RFERNEL
BEBRACARERS ) - BRERFARBER
FHERREMEENENARITRER &5
EREZNERTENERIBEBILET SRS
UEREFSEERMEBIEEEMDRFRIRT

-
o

RERK AEERFRFEENANSERRER
MECEBORTERR TENHERSERR
ROEEH EHREBFERRALRNS D) 193
B RASHEBABARTENTSMNE x5
I 7Ry B L i oK Y 1 3 5 7 R e Bk BR AR B
ERoRKEEEEPEAZNAZERONER
B DIRAHEHREN -RNEB FEBERKG#E
BRRUIGRAERMWEER > WS RIGHNH B
G

ANNUAL REPORT 2021 — & = —FF 3R 7

- i



CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
EiE

In recent years, a number of technology giants have allocated
immense resources to metaverse investments, making metaverses
a development that looms large in the future of the IT industry. In
addition, the COVID-19 has prompted development of enterprise
metaverse solutions, which deliver advantages such as increased
access to talent, enhanced productivity and reduced operating
costs. At the current stage, the Group has entered into the inflection
point in relation to the development of the up-and-coming global
trend towards virtual experience. In managing increasingly complex
technology for business, the Group aims to power the enterprise
metaverse with its IT infrastructure and software solutions.
Currently, the Group offers a "hybrid” smart office solution allowing
users to work partly in the physical workplace and partly remotely,
permitting enterprises to better tap their true potential, ensuring
smooth business operations and management, and fostering their
overall productivity and competitiveness. Leveraging the strong
capabilities of our internal resources, as well as our formidable
experience in IT solutions, the Group aims to further modify and
enhance its software products through built-in compatibility with
the latest technology, and at the same time collaborate with tech
industry leaders with the ultimate goal of providing highly realistic,
virtual smart-office solutions that can be used in settings such as
finance, new economy and across multinational enterprises.

APPRECIATION

On behalf of the Board, | express my gratitude to our Shareholders
for your continuous support to the Group, and to express our
appreciation to our dedicated staff for their contributions as well as
hard work, and to our customers, business partners, Shareholders
and Directors for their continuing support.

Yours faithfully,

Chan Sek Keung, Ringo
Chairman and CEO

31 March 2022
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY
CrEEE

A highlight of results, selected financial ratios, assets and liabilittes & KETCHHIELR EEHEABERESRE
and cash flows is as follows: I EY N -
RESULTS INFORMATION xEEN

Year ended 31 December

#E+-A=+-AILEE

2021 2020
—E_—F “TTEF
RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETR ARETIT
(Re-presented) "
(E3R) ™
Revenue WA 484,598 469,116
Gross profit EF] 57,108 51,267
Loss before tax from continuing operation REFELSERNGRRAIEE (22,048) (78,278)
(Loss)/profit for the year FR (BB &EH
- Continuing operation —FHERE X (22,329) (78,662)
- Discontinued operation — BRI R 1,329 (8,024)
(21,000) (86,686)
(Loss)/profit for the year attributable to ISYN=IEZ 2PN
owners of the parent FW (E18) &5F)
- Continuing operation —FHEREER (18,176) (75,027)
- Discontinued operation — BRI 1,329 (8,024)
Loss for the year auributable to FEEHI R RIL F RS
non-controlling interests
- Continuing operation —FEREER (4,153) (3,635)
(Loss)/earnings per share s (B8 /B
From continuing and discontinued operations REFERBRIECEER
- Basic and diluted (RMB cents) —BEEREE ARES) (RMB21.03 cents)  (RMB109.18 cents)
(AE21.035) (AEK¥109.18%)
From continuing operation REFEEEE
- Basic and diluted (RMB cents) —BEXREE UEED) (RMB22.69 cents)  (RMB98.63 cents)
(ANE#22.69%) (AE198.637)
From discontinued operation REBRIEEEER
- Basic and diluted (RMB cents) —BEEREE ARES) RMB1.66 cents  (RMB10.55 cents)

AE¥1.66%

(AR #10.559))

HRBE_Z_—F+_A=+—HLEFERESR
TWEBABERER LEE R FILERERU

constitutes a discontinued operation. Ko

" Comparative amounts are re-presented as a result of certain subsidiaries m
being disposed of for the year ended 31 December 2021, which

ANNUAL REPORT 2021 — & = —FF 3R 9
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY
MEBHE

SELECTED FINANCIAL RATIOS INFORMATION RIETMIFLEEER

Year ended 31 December
HE+-A=t—HLEE
2021 2020 2019 2018 2017
ZE--f “ECFE “ZNE —ZNEF “E—+tf&

(approximate)  (approximate) ~ (approximate)  (approximate)  (approximate)

(BE49) (BE#) (BE49) (#E49) (B4

(Re-presented)™

(=)
Gross profit margin ERx 11.8% 10.9% 13.3% 8.6% 12.7%
Net loss margin® FEEE (4.6%) (16.8%) (5.0%) (13.2%) (19.3%)
Current ratio (times) TMENLLE () 14 13 13 14 23
Gearing ratio® BRGRBERO 10.8% 6.7% 5.8% 6.7% 8.6%
Return on total assets®! BEERRY (3.1%) (9.5%) (2.0%) (3.9%) (6.4%)
Return on total equity® BRI (5.6%) (14.4%) (2.8%) (5.4%) (9.2%)

(1) Comparative amounts are re-presented as a result of certain (1) HRBEE_ T —F+_HA=+—HIFEHE
subsidiaries being disposed of for the year ended 31 December 2021, ETHBRAMBMBE RIS ER  FILBRIE
which constitutes a discontinued operation. [ ek

(2)  Calculated by using loss for the year from continuing operation divided ~ (2) 2R B ELE 5 F R IEMRUBAGTE

by revenue.
(3) Calculated by using the total of interest-bearing bank and other  (3) %5t BIR1T R EME LUK A AR E S AR AN PR L
borrowings and convertible bond divided by total assets. MMEESTE

(4)  Calculated by using loss for the year divided by average balances of  (4) RERFEMRLUBREENEED 2 FHRREES
total assets or total equity. Ho

ANNUAL REPORT 2021 — & = —FF 3R 1 1
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY
MEBHE

ASSETS AND LIABILITIES INFORMATION EERABREEN

As at 31 December
K+=ZB=+—H
2021 2020 2019 2018 2017

it Je e
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB000
AEBTT  ARBTT  ARBTT  ARBTT  ARETR

Cash and cash equivalents ReRREEEY

(excluding pledged deposits)  (FBIEEEFEFE) 54,920 76,128 48,781 98,278 211,514
Current assets TEEE 378,406 366,343 399,185 404,426 744,695
Non-current assets FERBEE 271,023 354,127 710,719 955,346 691,423
Current liabilities PIEII=E 276,936 279,786 301,439 297,637 322,812
Non-current liabilities EI e =X 49,192 20,140 27,103 62,327 70,327
Equity attributable to HAREBA

owners of the parent FEHER 322,750 371,099 728,093 943,072 977,730
Non-controlling interests JEEHIE S 6,551 49,445 53,269 56,736 65,249

CASH FLOWS INFORMATION HEREEN

Year ended 31 December
#E+-A=+-ALEE
2021 2020 2019 2018 2017

¥ RIFE IE-NE ZEF-\F IEtH
RMB'000 Y RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AEBTR AREBTT ARBTT ARETR ARET:R

Net cash (usedin)/from KEEE i) /g

operating activities RE P48 (8,707) 19,917 39,347 89,088 56,856
Net cash (used in)/from REEEH (FTA) /i

investing activities REEE (6,456) 24,699 (40,333) (195,393) (443,965)
Net cash (used in)/from &GS (FTR) /e

financing activities REEE (4,867) (15,853) (47,486) (2,902) 47,405

1 2 InvesTech Holdings Limited & :TiZBR B R A F
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY
MEBHE

A summary of consolidated financial results for the five yearsended #HEZE_ZE-_—F+_-_A=+—HIEEBEFEEHN
31 December 2021 is as follows: REMBEENBENT

Year ended 31 December

HETZRA=+-HLEE

202 2020 2019 2018 2017
ZEC-F Z30%% “BNE “B-)\E 3-t%
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AEETTT ARETT ANRETT ARETTR ANRETT
(Re-presented)
(s5)
CONTINUING OPERATION RREERH
Revenue W\W\ \ 484,598 489,116 488,682 414,864 501,933
Costof sales HEA (427,490) (617,849) (423,640) (379,256) (436,085)
Gross profit el 57,108 51,267 65,042 35,606 63,848
Other income and gains Hi AR g 5,252 6,027 3,891 5,629 15,979
Selling and distribution expenses HERDHES (25,806) (25,942) (24,654) (22,167) (25,947)
Administrative expenses G (54,359) (48,047) (56,038) (47872) (57,766)
Other expenses, net AME%3H (1,236) (58,057) (6,764) (19.877) (51,975)
Finance costs BERA (3,007) (2926) (5115) (9735) (31.991)
Loss before tax RABE (22,048) (78,218) (22,638) (58,416) (87,852)
Income tax (expense) /credit sk (B%) /% (261) (384) (2,027) 3759 (8.655)
Loss for the year from RERELEEBNEERE
continuing operation (22,329) (78,062) (24,665) (54,657) (96,707)
DISCONTINUED OPERATION BRIEELE
Profit/ (loss) for the year from REBAILAELBNEE
discontinued operation it/ (B8 1,329 (8,024) - - -
Loss for the year FEFE (21,000) (86,686) (24,665) (54,857) (96,707)
Other comprehensive income/(loss) ~ REEBEENAE
that may be reclassified to profit AEENENEE
or loss in subsequent periods: @/ (58)
Exchange differences ontranslation ~ AEINEIEHZESR
of foreign operations = 26,064 21,848 (57997) 402 (18,736)
Recycle of exchange differencesupon  HENEERBONERZE
disposal of foreign operations (657) = = e e
25,407 21,848 (57,997) 602 (18736)

ANNUAL REPORT 2021 — & = —FF 3R 1 3
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY
MEBHE

Y

Other comprehensive (loss)/income

that will not be reclassified to A BEIH

profit or loss in subsequent periods: 2 (1) /Wi

Exchange differences on BEATARYBERE
translation of the Company's PG ERER
financial statementsinto
presentation currency

Financial asset at fair value

BAREBESA
S 2END

through other comprehensive i
income: RS

Change in fair value NEE2S
Income tax effect i

Other comprehensive (loss)/income
for the year, net of tax

FEEMEE (BR) /K
0 Hﬁlﬁ

Total comprehensive loss for the year ~ EE2EEBEE

Loss attributable to: WFEARMLEE
- Owners of the parent -BAREEA
- Non-controlling interests —JREhlE

Total comprehensive loss attributable to: LT & A2 EESEEE
- Owners of the parent —SAREEA
- Non-controlling interests —FEElER

1 4 InvesTech Holdings Limited & :TiZBR B R A F
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Year ended 31 December
HET-A=+—HItEE
2021 2020 2019
Z§-  CEEE EE
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
N R NS INEL S

(Re-presented)

HEE)

2018
TENE
RMBO0D
AE®TT

2017
TE-tE
RMBO00D
ARBTT

(27,083) (24,489) 60,052 402 974
(70,992) (271,491) (230,370) 12,939 -

- - 3,235 (3.235) -
(98,075) (295,980) (167,083) 10,106 974
(72,668) (214,132) (225,080) 10,708 (17,762)
(93,668) (360,818) (249,745) (43,949) (114,469)
(16,847) (83,051) (21,096) (k6,171) (95,611)
(4,153) (3,635) (3,569) (8,486) (1,09)
(21,000) (86,686) (24,665) (54,657) (96,707)
(89,437) (356,99) (246,278) (35,436) (113291)
(6,231) (3,824) (3.467) (8513) (1,178)
(93,668) (360,818) (249,745) (43,949) (114,469)




MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BUSINESS REVIEW

During the year ended 31 December 2021 (the “Year"), the Group
continued to focus on its core business of the IT infrastructure system
integration and the sales of smart office software solutions. The
majority of the Group's revenue was generated from the market in
the People's Republic of China (the "PRC" or “China"). The overall
financial performance of the Group for the Year is comparable to
that of 2020, by excluding the effect of impairment loss of goodwill
recorded in 2020. During the year under review, the Group's money-
lending business was discontinued.

Following the outbreak of COVID-19 pandemic (the “COVID-19")
became stabilised and slowdown in the PRC, the Group's operations
gradually resumed to normal during the Year, particularly in the
first half of the year, the Group promptly resumed sales activities
with existing and potential customers. By maintaining close ties
with its clients and capturing surging demand for IT infrastructure
system integration and smart office software solutions across
various industries in China, the Group grew its sales considerably.
However, certain deliveries were deferred due to late deliveries
of goods by suppliers and urban lockdowns, in turn leading to a
delay in the recognition of revenue. As a result, the Group's total
revenue remained steady with a slight increase of approximately
RMB15.5 million or approximately 3.3% to approximately RMB484.6
million for the Year (2020: approximately RMB469.1 million). The
Group's gross profit increased by approximately RMB5.8 million or
approximately 11.3% to approximately RMB57.1 million for the Year
(2020: approximately RMB51.3 million), broadly in line with revenue
growth. A net loss for the year of approximately RMB21.0 million
was recorded, narrowed from the loss of RMB86.7 million in last
year, mainly attributable to the absence of the recognition of the
impairment of loan receivables and the impairment of goodwill in
relation to the network system integration cash-generating unit for
the Year.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EREMR RO

BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

IT infrastructure system integration

The Group continued to expedite the development of its traditional IT
infrastructure system integration business, which remained a major
source of revenue during the Year. In addition to strengthening its
core competitiveness in the provision of a wide range of products and
services through the traditional IT infrastructure system integration
business, the Group also joined forces with various tech giants, with
the aim of acquiring new clients through strategic alliances to deliver
cutting-edge IT infrastructure solutions. To foster its sustainable
growth, the Group has further expanded its customer base, in not
only the private sector but also the public sector during the Year.

Leveraging the solid foundations in the industry and strong customer
relationships, the Group's revenue from the IT infrastructure system
integration segment increased by approximately RMB1.9 million or
approximately 0.4% to approximately RMB448.6 million for the Year
(2020: approximately RMB446.7 million).

Smart office software solutions

As office closures and work-from-home arrangements were adopted
across various industries during the Year, demand surged for the
Group's smart office software solutions and property technology
("PropTech”) solutions, which operate with Internet of Things (loT)
technology. The number of orders for, and sales of, smart office
software solutions increased significantly, delivering revenue
growth of approximately RMB13.6 million or approximately 60.7%
to approximately RMB36.0 million for the Year (2020: approximately
RMB22.4 million). Such encouraging results attest to the success
of the Group's early investment in the development of smart office
software and PropTech solutions, whose applications include
such tools as intelligent building control systems and smart visitor
management systems. The evolution of artificial intelligence, loT
technology and global awareness of the importance of sustainability,
green technologies, productivity and manageability in the
commercial real estate industry represent promising developments
for the Group.
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BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

Smart office software solutions (continued)

To capture further opportunities in the smart office software
solutions industry and expand its market share, the Group will
expand the scope of its services and continue to upgrade Virsical, our
flagship smart office software solutions product. During the Year,
the Group also allocated more resources to expand its research and
development team and centre located in Xi'an, the PRC.

Contract awarded to the Group

In September 2021, a government contract for the provision of a
smart library system for the Hong Kong government's Leisure and
Cultural Services Department with contract sum of approximately
HK$693.1 million was awarded to an unincorporated joint venture,
which was formed by the Group and an independent third party
in proportion to the contribution of 70% and 30% respectively.
The project involves the design, supply, delivery, installation,
commissioning, implementation, system support and maintenance of
core library systems, alongside the provision of other services. The
estimated project duration is from September 2021 to March 2026,
with a warranty and maintenance period running until March 2036.
The project is set to broaden our revenue stream and expand our
business in Hong Kong in coming years.

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EREMR RO

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Revenue and cost of sales

The Group recorded a total revenue for the Year of approximately
RMB484.6 million (2020: approximately RMB469.1 million),
representing an increase of approximately RMB15.5 million, or
approximately 3.3% as compared with that of 2020. The increase in
sales was primarily attributable to the increase in sale of products in
relation to the Group's traditional IT infrastructure system integration
and smart office software solutions for the Year.

The cost of sales increased by approximately RMB9.7 million, or
approximately 2.3% to approximately RMB427.5 million for the Year
(2020: approximately RMB417.8 million). The increase in the cost of
sales was in line with the increase in revenue of the Group.

Gross profit and gross profit margin

The Group achieved gross profit for the Year amounted to
approximately RMB57.1 million (2020: approximately RMB51.3
million), representing an increase of approximately RMB5.8
million, or approximately 11.3% as compared with that of 2020. The
gross profit margin for the Year was approximately 11.8% (2020:
approximately 10.9%), representing an increase of approximately
0.9% as compared with that of 2020. The increase in gross profit
margin was primarily attributable to the increase in sales of the
Group's smart office software solutions throughout the Year, which
had a relatively high profit margin as compared to that of other
products and services of the Group.

Other income and gains

The Group recorded other income and gains of approximately
RMB5.3 million for the Year (2020: approximately RMB6.0 million),
mainly consisted of (i) government grants released to the Group of
approximately RMB1.5 million (2020: approximately RMB3.3 million);
(i) a fair value gain on an equity investment at fair value through
profit or loss of approximately RMB1.9 million (2020: fair value loss
of approximately RMB0.2 million included in other expenses); (iii)
a fair value gain on a debt investment at fair value through profit or
loss of approximately RMB1.4 million (2020: approximately RMB1.6
million); (iv) finance income on the net investment in a lease of
approximately RMBO0.2 million (2020: approximately RMBO.4 million);
and (v) bank interest income of approximately RMB0.2 million (2020:
approximately RMBO0.4 million).
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FINANCIAL REVIEW (continued)

Selling and distribution expenses

The selling and distribution expenses decreased by approximately
RMBO0.1 million or approximately 0.4% to approximately RMB25.8
million for the Year (2020: approximately RMB25.9 million), primarily
due to the combined effect of (i) the decrease in sales commission;
and (i) the increase in the marketing activities as a result of the
resumption of normal operations and social distancing relaxation in
the PRC during the Year.

Administrative expenses

The administrative expenses increased by approximately RMB5.8
million or approximately 11.9% to approximately RMB54.4 million
for the Year (2020: approximately RMB48.6 million), was primarily
attributable to the increase in business operations and activities
during the Year.

Other expenses and impairment of goodwill

The other expenses mainly represented foreign exchange loss.
No impairment loss on goodwill in relation to the network system
integration cash-generating unit was recorded for the Year (2020:
approximately RMB57.6 million)

Finance costs

The finance costs recorded for the Year of approximately RMB3.0
million is comparable to that of 2020 (2020: approximately RMB2.9
million).

Income tax

The income tax of the Group comprised provision of income tax
expense and deferred tax. The Group recorded income tax expense of
approximately RMB3.4 million (2020: approximately RMB4.1 million)
for the Year, and the decrease in income tax expense was mainly due
to the absence of assessable profit incurred in Vietnam during the
Year. The Group recorded tax expense for the Year of approximately
RMBO0.3 million (2020: approximately RMBO0.4 million), primarily
due to the recognition of the deferred tax credit of approximately
RMB3.1 million (2020: approximately RMB3.7 million) arising from
the amortisation of other intangible assets, which offset the impact
of income tax expense.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EREMR RO

FINANCIAL REVIEW (continued)

Loss for the Year from continuing operation

The Group recorded a loss for the Year from continuing operation of
approximately RMB22.3 million for the Year (2020: approximately
RMB78.7 million). The decrease was mainly attributable to the
absence of the impairment loss on goodwill for the Year (2020:
approximately RMB57.6 million).

Liquidity and financial resources
As at 31 December 2021,
calculated by total of interest-bearing bank and other borrowings

the Group's gearing ratio, which is

and convertible bond divided by total assets, was approximately
10.8% (31 December 2020: approximately 6.7%). The increase
in gearing ratio was mainly due to the combined effect of (i)
the decrease in total assets resulted from the decrease in loan
receivables balance resulted from the disposal of subsidiaries and
the decrease in fair value of the investment in non-listed equity
investment; and (ii) the issue of convertible bond, during the year.

As at 31 December 2021, the total interest-bearing bank and other
borrowings of the Group amounted to approximately RMB49.3 million
(31 December 2020: approximately RMB48.2 million), among which
approximately RMB29.3 million (31 December 2020: approximately
RMB41.2 million) was unsecured and guaranteed by a director of the
Company. As at 31 December 2021, the interest-bearing bank and
other borrowings of approximately RMB24.9 million (31 December
2020: approximately RMB17.6 million) carried at fixed interest
rates and approximately RMB24.4 million (31 December 2020:
approximately RMB30.6 million) carried at floating interest rates.

As at 31 December 2021, the carrying amount of convertible bond
of the Group amounted to approximately RMB21.7 million (31
December 2020: Nil).

Save as aforesaid or as otherwise disclosed in this report, and apart
from intragroup liabilities, the Company did not have any other
outstanding indebtedness or contingent liabilities as at 31 December
2021.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW (continued)

Foreign currency risk

As certain of the Group's trade and other receivables, cash and cash
equivalents and trade and other payables are denominated in foreign
currency, exposure to exchange rate fluctuation arises. The Group
has relevant policy to monitor the risk associated with the fluctuation
of foreign currency and control such risk, if necessary.

Working capital

Inventories balance as at 31 December 2021 was approximately
RMB17.3 million (31 December 2020: approximately RMB12.6
million). The average turnover days for inventories was 13 days as at
31 December 2021 (31 December 2020: 11 days).

Trade and bills receivables balance as at 31 December 2021 was
approximately RMB208.0 million (31 December 2020: approximately
RMB199.6 million). The average turnover days for trade and bills
receivables decreased to 154 days as at 31 December 2021 (31
December 2020: 159 days), which was comparable between the
years.

Trade payables balance as at 31 December 2021 was approximately
RMB174.8 million (31 December 2020: approximately RMB161.7
million). The average turnover days for trade payables decreased
to 144 days as at 31 December 2021 (31 December 2020: 145 days),
which was comparable between the years.

The Group's cash conversion cycle for the Year was 23 days as
compared with that of 25 days in 2020.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEEA AR

FINANCIAL REVIEW (continued)

Cash flows

The net cash used in operating activities for the Year amounted to
approximately RMB8.7 million.

The net cash used in investing activities for the Year of approximately
RMB6.5 million was mainly attributable to the combined effect
of (i) the receipt of proceeds from the disposal of subsidiaries of
approximately RMB13.4 million; and (ii) the increase in pledged
deposits of RMB19.7 million.

The net cash used in financing activities for the Year of approximately
RMB4.9 million was primarily attributable to the combined effect
of (i) repayment of bank and other borrowings of approximately
RMB54.0 million; (ii) new bank and other borrowings of
approximately RMB42.1 million; (iii) the gross proceeds from the
issue of shares of approximately RMB14.5 million; and (iv) payment
of lease liabilities of approximately RMB7.6 million.

Capital expenditures

The Group had capital expenditures of approximately RMB22.5
million for the Year (31 December 2020: approximately RMBO0.6
million) for additions to property, plant and equipment and right-of-
use assets.

Capital commitments
The Group had no significant capital commitments as at 31 December
2021 (31 December 2020: Nil).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EREH RS

INVESTMENT IN LISTED EQUITY SECURITIES EHRAFESFRE

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group recorded a HE_ZE_—E+_B=+—HIEE > AEH
fair value gain on a held for trading listed securities investment of RS EEE L HHBHFRENAABEREY
approximately RMB1.9 million, details as follows: AR IB&IT F#FWT !

Movement during the year ended 31 December 2021 HE_Z—_—F+_H=+—HILFEZEE)

Number of
shares held
and % of

Dividend totalshare  Percentage to

Carrying Carrying income  Netincome heldby the Group's

amount amount forthe forthe theGroup  totalassets

asat asat  yearended yearended asat asat

1January  Unrealised Exchange  31December  31December  31December  31December  31December

Stock code Name of investee company 2021 gain  realignment 2021 2021 2021 2021 2021

AZEC-E
S S +ZB RIEZ-%
“EC-E  CEC-E =t-# +ZR

R#o8-- 12A t2R  EEFE  =1-B

i tR  =t-B  =+-B RHEER  f55%E

-A-H XRER =+-H i34 LLFE iRy~ BESE

RENSATLHE HEfE Wi ExHE REE  REMA BHA  #ESH B

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 Approximately

AEBTR  ABBTn ARBTR ARBTR ARRTR  ARETR i)

6108 New Ray Medicine 999 1948 (67) 2,880 S 1,948 25,080,000/ 0.44%
International Holding Limited Approximately
1.50%
FREEERERARAT 25,080,000/
BT 50%

999 1948 (67) 2,880 - 1,948
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEEA SRR

INVESTMENT IN LISTED EQUITY SECURITIES (continued)
Investee Company’s Principal Business, Performance and
Future Prospect

New Ray Medicine International Holding Limited (“New Ray")

New Ray is an investment holding company. New Ray and its
subsidiaries are principally engaged in (i) the distribution and trading
of pharmaceutical products; and (ii) the provision of marketing and
promotion services in the PRC. As disclosed in the interim report of
New Ray for the six month ended 30 June 2021, (i) the unaudited
revenue and profit of New Ray for the six month ended 30 June 2021
were approximately HK$214.5 million and approximately HK$1.1
million respectively; (ii) New Ray focused on its own core business
and would continue to diversify its existing product portfolio; and (iii)
New Ray would also continue to enhance and expand its sales and
marketing capabilities in the PRC.

Pursuant to the inside information announcement of New Ray dated
22 March 2022, it is expected that New Ray will record a substantial
reduction in net loss from approximately HK$69.7 million in 2020 to
not more than HK$3.0 million in 2021, based on its latest available
unaudited consolidated management accounts.

New Ray was suspended trading on 6 October 2017 due to Securities
and Futures Commission has issued a direction under Section 8(1) of
the Securities and Futures (Stock Market Listing) Rules to suspend
trading in the shares of New Ray, and the trading in the shares of New
Ray was permitted to recommence on 22 March 2022.

The Group remained holding 25,080,000 shares of New Ray in
its investment portfolio as at 31 December 2021. The Group's
management appointed an external valuer to be responsible for
the valuation of shares of New Ray. The fair value of shares of New
Ray held by the Group was approximately RMB2.9 million as at 31
December 2021.
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INVESTMENT IN NON-LISTED EQUITY SECURITIES
Investee Company's Principal Business, Performance and
Future Prospect

China Communication Technology Co., Ltd.* (“CCT")

CCT is a company incorporated in the PRC with limited liability which
together with its subsidiaries are principally engaged in research and
development, design, production and sales of computer software
and hardware, communication products, metal, semi-conductor
and provision of network information service. Its major businesses
include high-frequency satellite communication systems, military
communication and provision of related supporting services.

During the year ended 31 December 2017, the Company entered
into a capital injection agreement to inject an amount of RMB600
million to CCT (the "CCT Investment”). The CCT Investment was
completed on 25 July 2018 and the Company had interested in
approximately 3.91% of the enlarged registered capital of CCT as at
31 December 2021. The CCT Investment was recorded as a financial
asset at fair value through other comprehensive income of the Group.
The fair value of the CCT Investment as at 31 December 2021 was
approximately RMB40.1 million which accounted for approximately
6.1% of the Group's total asset as at 31 December 2021.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the fair value loss net of
the income tax in respect of the above unlisted equity investment
recognised in other comprehensive loss amounted to RMB70,992,000
(2020: RMB271,491,000). The fair value loss was mainly attributable
to (i) the continuous poor business and economic environment in
the industry of satellite communication products as a result of the
sanctions imposed by the United States of America and the slowdown
in the global economy caused by the outbreak and the escalation
of the COVID-19; (ii) the asset impairment for a major subsidiary of
CCT that undergoes bankruptcy reorganisation procedures; (iii) the
decrease in value of equity investments held by CCT; and (iv) the
unenforced amount under various litigations for enforcement to CCT.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EREMR RO

INVESTMENT IN NON-LISTED EQUITY SECURITIES

(continued)

Investee Company'’s Principal Business, Performance and
Future Prospect (continued)

China Communication Technology Co., Ltd.* (“CCT") (continued)
Given that there were several factors affecting its operating
capabilities, such as the seizure of important assets, the suspension
of its major construction projects, etc. Notwithstanding the above,
the management of CCT will proactively take feasible improvement
and supportive measures to reorganise its businesses in order to
improve its financial position. Looking ahead, the Group will continue
to monitor the operations of CCT for its turnaround in future.

* The English name is for identification purpose only.

EMPLOYEES

As at 31 December 2021, the total number of employees of the Group
was 285 (31 December 2020: 256). The breakdown of employees of
the Group as at 31 December 2021 and 2020 is as follows:

Manufacturing and technical engineering B4 R i T12
Sales and marketing THE R TiBHE
General and administration — MR RAT
Research and development i

Total #ast

Compensation policy of the Group is determined by evaluating
individual performance of the employees and has been reviewed
regularly.
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MATERIAL ACQUISITION AND DISPOSAL

Acquisition of 25% of entire equity interest in Fortune Grace

Management Limited (the “Fortune Grace")

On 23 September 2021, the Company entered into a sale and
purchase agreement with Smoothly Global Holdings Limited (the
"Vendor") to acquire twenty-five (25) ordinary shares of Fortune
Grace, representing its 25% entire equity interest, at a consideration
of HK$30.0 million which shall be settled by the issue of the
convertible bond in the principal amount of HK$30.0 million by the
Company to the Vendor (the "Acquisition”). Prior to the completion of
the Acquisition, the Company held 75% of equity interest in Fortune
Grace, being a direct non-wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company.

The Acquisition constitutes a connected transaction of the Company.
As at the date of the sale and purchase agreement (i.e. 23 September
2021), the Vendor was a substantial shareholder (as defined in
the Rules (the "Listing Rules”) Governing the Listing of Securities
on main board of the Stock Exchange) of the Company interested
in approximately 18.41% of the then issued share capital of the
Company. The Vendor was also owned as to 70% by Mr. Chan Sek
Keung, Ringo and as to 20% by Ms. Wang Fang. On 23 September
2021, Mr. Chan Sek Keung, Ringo was executive Director and was
beneficially and deemed to be interested in approximately 5.63%
of the then issued share capital of the Company, while Ms. Wang
Fang was executive Director and was beneficially interested in
approximately 0.05% of the then issued share capital of the Company.
Accordingly, the Acquisition constitutes a connected transaction
and is subject to the reporting, announcement, circular and the
independent shareholders' approval requirements under Chapter
14A of the Listing Rules.

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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NI TR
MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BB AR

MATERIAL ACQUISITION AND DISPOSAL (continued) BARWNBRHESEE ®

Upon the completion of the Acquisition on 26 November 2021,
Fortune Grace became a direct wholly-owned subsidiary of
the Company. The Directors are of the view that the Acquisition
enables the Group to obtain full control over the management and
operation of the Fortune Grace and its subsidiaries and is in line
with the Group's planning and development strategies. Details of
the Acquisition are set out in the announcements of the Company
dated 23 September 2021, 18 October 2021, 29 October 2021 and 19
November 2021, and the circular of the Company dated 2 November
2021.

Disposal - Discontinued operation - money lending business
The Group disposed of the money lending business segment in March
2021.

On 25 March 2021, the Company (as the vendor), Metro Win
Investment Holdings Limited (the "Metro Win", as the purchaser),
and Ms. Cheung Hing Ling (being the ultimate beneficial owner
of Metro Win, as the guarantor) entered into a sale and purchase
agreement, pursuant to which the Company has conditionally
agreed to sell and Metro Win has conditionally agreed to purchase
one (1) share of InvesTech Finance (International) Limited (the
"Target Company"), representing the entire issued share of the
Target Company at the consideration of HK$16.0 million (the
"Disposal Transaction”). The Target Company is principally engaged
in investment holding and its wholly owned subsidiary, InvesTech
Finance Limited, is a company incorporated in Hong Kong with
limited liability and is principally engaged in money lending
business. Details of the Disposal Transaction have been set out in the
announcement of the Company dated 25 March 2021.

Completion of the Disposal Transaction took place on 30 March
2021 and a gain on disposal of subsidiaries of approximately RMB1.3
million was recognised during the Year. As a result of the Disposal
Transaction, the Group discontinued its operation in the money
lending business.

During the Year, the Group recorded profit from discontinued
operation of approximately RMB1.3 million (2020: loss of
approximately RMB8.0 million).
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CAPITAL STRUCTURE

Change of domicile

The Company has been deregistered from the Cayman Islands and
duly continued in Bermuda as an exempted company under the laws
of Bermuda. The change of domicile became effective on 7 July 2021
(Bermuda time) (8 July 2021 (Hong Kong time)). In connection with
the change of domicile, a new memorandum of continuance and the
New Bye-laws have been adopted by the Company with effect from 7
July 2021 (Bermuda time) (8 July 2021 (Hong Kong time)).

Capital reorganisation

On 3 May 2021, the Company announced to implement the capital
reorganisation after the change of domicile becoming effective that
(i) every twenty (20) issued and unissued shares of US$0.02 each
will be consolidated into one (1) consolidated share (“Consolidated
Share") of USS$0.40 each (the "Share Consolidation"); (ii) the issued
share capital of the Company will be reduced through a cancellation
of the paid-up capital of the Company to the extent of US$0.39 on
each of the issued Consolidated Shares such that the nominal value
of each issued Consolidated Share will be reduced from USS$0.40
to US$0.01 (the “Capital Reduction”); (iii) immediately following
the Capital Reduction, each authorised but unissued Consolidated
Shares of US$0.40 each will be sub-divided into forty (40) new
shares of US$0.01 each (the “Share Subdivision”); and (iv) the credits
arising in the books of the Company from the cancellation of any
fraction in the issued share capital of the Company which may arise
from the Share Consolidation, and the Capital Reduction will be
credited to the contributed surplus account of the Company within
the meaning of the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda. The Share
Consolidation, Capital Reduction and Share Subdivision became
effective on 28 July 2021. Details of the above are set out in the
announcements of the Company dated 3 May 2021, 26 May 2021,
23 June 2021, 8 July 2021 and 27 July 2021, and the circular of the
Company dated 31 May 2021.

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EREH RS

IS 2248

=i

AABERBSHEHHEAM TEARBEERE
HNABREAREERNFENAERE AT BN
N ZET—FHAtH BRERE CEZ—
F+H/\B (FERRB)) £EM -HEMEBM &AAQ
AERMNMTEARARTMEA B —Ft
BtH BRERE CEZ—FtAN\RH @&
FERERED)) AR

A= 4H

NZEZ—FRB=H ARBERERBME
MBEMRAEH NS _1+(20)REKREE
0.02ETMBEBETRARZETRMDEHA—(K
SREELOETNEHERN (&K% (K
mEft) 5 (1) BEBFHEAR B E R AERA
NEBETRE USKEETEHIRMN0.39%
AR BSEREBETEHRH 2EERKS
0.40&THIREO0.013= 7T (TARZAHEIRL) ; (iii) 22 BE
BEASH R > S IREE0. 40 T A A E AR ETT
B HIRGITME AT+ (40) REREE0.01ETH
RS (TREA IR 5 RK(iv) A AR AR B R
BRPEHAEEEZ AR BETREPZE
Al B R R B AS B R T B2 A 2 S BR BB ST AR
B ERRGRE (EER—NMN—FEREAT
) BRI E G RABIR ARG IFER S Z—
FTRAZHN\BEN - EMEBRFHFBEHRN AL
BAHBEAE_—FAB=H - ZE-—F%1A
Z+ARABZEZ—FXBI+=H-ZZF=—
FtANHEZZEZ—FtTtAZ+tHNAE
UEAABDHPEAZSZ_—FA=+—HH
K o

29

ANNUAL REPORT 2021 — & — —F 4R



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EREMR RO

CAPITAL STRUCTURE (continued)

Placing of new shares under general mandate

On 16 August 2021, a placing agent and the Company entered into a
conditional placing agreement pursuant to which the Company has
conditionally agreed to place through the placing agent, on a best
effort basis, a maximum of 14,040,000 ordinary shares of the par
value of US$0.01 each in the share capital of the Company ("Placing
Share(s)") at the placing price of HK$1.24 per Placing Share (the
“First Placing"). Completion of the First Placing took place on 6
September 2021, and an aggregate of 14,040,000 Placing Shares
have been successfully placed to not less than six placees pursuant
to the terms and condition of the placing agreement. The Company
received net proceeds of approximately HK$16.8 million (equivalent
to approximately RMB14.0 million) from the First Placing. Up to the
date of this report, the entire new proceeds has been utilised as to
(i) approximately HK$7.6 million for the general working capital; (ii)
approximately HK$1.2 million for financing the business development
of the Group; and (iii) approximately HK$8.0 million for repayment of
bank and other borrowings of the Group. Details of the First Placing
are set out in the announcements of the Company dated 16 August
2021, 27 August 2021, 1 September 2021 and 6 September 2021.

EVENT AFTER THE END OF THE REPORTING PERIOD
Placing of new shares under specific mandate

On 22 November 2021, a placing agent and the Company entered
into a conditional placing agreement pursuant to which the Company
has conditionally agreed to place through the placing agent, on a
best effort basis, a maximum of 33,000,000 ordinary shares of the
par value of US$0.01 each in the share capital of the Company (“New
Placing Share(s)") at the placing price of HK$1.5 per New Placing
Share (the “Second Placing”). Completion of the Second Placing
took place on 11 March 2022, and an aggregate of 33,000,000 New
Placing Shares have been fully placed by the placing agent, the gross
proceeds from the Second Placing was HK$49.5 million, and the
net proceeds from the Second Placing, after deducting the placing
commission and other expenses incurred in the Second Placing, was
approximately HK$48.0 million. Such net proceeds are intended to
be used for project on hand of approximately HK$29.6 million has
not been utilised up to the date of this report. Details of the Second
Placing are set out in the announcements of the Company dated 22
November 2021, 23 December 2021, 13 January 2022, 27 January
2022 and 11 March 2022, and the circular of the Company dated 24
December 2021.
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EVENT AFTER THE END OF THE REPORTING PERIOD
(continued)

Placing of new shares under specific mandate (continued)
Save as disclosed in this report, there was no other significant
subsequent event undertaken by the Group subsequent to 31
December 2021 and up to the date of this report.

OUTLOOK

Leveraging robust demand for IT infrastructure system integration
and smart office software solution business in the PRC's market,
the Group will continue to enhance its business development,
with a focus on smart office software solutions to capture market
opportunities. It is worth noting that the Group’s total contracted
sales backlog (comprised of the sales of both IT infrastructure
system integration and smart office software solutions) increased
by approximately 340.3% to approximately RMB802.9 million as at 31
December 2021, as compared to that of 2020. The Group expects its
revenue to grow, with more income recognised upon the completion
of projects in the years ahead.

The Group has always actively sought opportunities to build a new
business ecosystem and to become a leading integrated smart IT
solutions provider. With a view to further expanding our revenue base
and diversifying our business, the Group's management will continue
to identify suitable acquisition and investment targets to tap new
business opportunities in markets both inside and outside China,
especially in Asia-Pacific, while progressing enterprise metaverse
development and achieving breakthroughs in the industry.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS

EFXEE

DIRECTORS

Executive Directors

Mr. Chan Sek Keung, Ringo (“Mr. Chan"), aged 62, is the chairman
of the Board, an executive Director and the CEO of the Company.
Mr. Chan is also the chairman of the investment committee of the
Company (the “Investment Committee”). Mr. Chan is in charge of the
overall strategic planning, business planning and decision making in
all material matters of the Group. Mr. Chan was appointed as non-
executive Director on 23 December 2015 and was re-designated as
executive Director on 21 September 2016. Mr. Chan was appointed as
the chairman of the Board on 25 February 2016 and was appointed as
CEO of the Company on 21 September 2016.

Mr. Chan has obtained a degree of Bachelor of Science in Engineering
from The University of Hong Kong in November 1981. Mr. Chan is
currently a member of the Chinese People's Political Consultative
Conference for Chengdu, Sichuan Province, the PRC. Mr. Chan has
over 30 years of experience in the IT and network industry. Mr. Chan
has previously worked for various multi-national corporations such
as General Electric Company, Case Communications Limited and Infa
Telecom Limited and served in senior executive positions in the Asia
Pacific region.

Mr. Chan also served as the sole director of Smoothly Global
Holdings Limited. He is currently the director of the following major
subsidiaries of the Company, namely Fortune Grace Management
Ltd., Wafer Systems Limited, Wafer Systems (China) Ltd., Beijing
Wafer New Century Information Technology Co., Ltd., Wafer Network
Systems (Shanghai) Co Ltd., Wafer (Xi'an) Software Co Ltd., and
Wafer Systems (Vietnam) Co., Ltd.
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Executive Directors (continued)

Ms. Wang Fang (“Ms. Wang"), aged 54, is an executive Director and a
vice CEO of the Company. Ms. Wang was appointed as Director and a
vice CEO of the Company on 23 December 2015.

Ms. Wang graduated from Nanjing University of Posts and
Telecommunications (formerly known as Nanjing College of Posts
and Telecommunications) (Radio Engineering Section) in July 1988,
and obtained a degree of master of Business Administration from
the program jointly organised by the Beijing University and Fordham
University in May 2002.

Ms. Wang joined us in June 1995 and was promoted as the president
subsequently, wherein Ms. Wang was mainly responsible for daily
business operation, management and oversee of communication
system segment, including decision making in corporate strategy,
corporate policy review and internal control. Ms. Wang has over 20
years of experience in the area of network system integration.

Mr. Lu Chengye ("Mr. Lu"), aged 44, is an executive Director of
the Company. Mr. Lu is in charge of the overall strategic planning,
business planning and decision making in all material matters of
communication system segment of the Group. Mr. Lu was appointed
as Director on 29 May 2013.

Mr. Lu has over 20 years of experience in the communication industry
gained in the Group and in his previous employment. Before joining
the Group, Mr. Lu worked as a director of the science and research
department of base station software development in a renowned
mobile communication equipment company in the PRC from April
2002 to August 2008, mainly responsible for the design, development
and implementation of solution of communication base station
software. From August 2009 to May 2012, Mr. Lu had served as the
general manager of TD-SCDMA/TD-LTE production line of another
prestigious communication equipment and technology firm, mainly
in charge of the establishment and research and development works
for projects of wireless base station and communication base station
equipments. Mr. Lu obtained his master degree of engineering
from Xidian University (5% & F##52K22) majoring in information
and communication engineering in March 2002. As an expert from
TD-LTE workgroup of the Ministry of Industry and Information
Technology of the People's Republic of China (F1ZE AR HFET
#M5 21530), Mr. Lu was the inventor of 7 patented technologies
in the communication sector, and has published several research
papers on communication topics in various journals.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS
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Executive Directors (continued)
Mr. Liu Chun Fai ("Mr. Liu"), age 34, is an executive Director of the
Company. Mr. Liu was appointed as Director on 1 August 2020.

Mr. Liu was educated in Canada. Mr. Liu has over 10 years of working
experience in legal, finance and management. Mr. Liu currently
served as an executive director and chairman of China Eco. Farming
Limited (stock code: 8166, a company who shares are listed on GEM
of the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the "Stock Exchange”)
since February 2022 and has been acting as a director of Blue Sky
Solar Energy Management Limited, a company is mainly engaged in
one-stop solar power system installation service, since November
2018. Mr. Liu was an executive director of CEFC Hong Kong Financial
Investment Company Limited (stock code: 1520, a company whose
shares are listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange) from
November 2016 to June 2019. Mr. Liu has been acting as a director of
Tung Wah Group of Hospitals from 2019-2021.

Non-executive Director
Mr. Wong Tsu Wai, Derek (“Mr. Derek Wong"), aged 52, is a non-
executive Director of the Company. Mr. Derek Wong was appointed as
Director on 1 August 2019.

Mr. Derek Wong was educated in Canada. Mr. Derek Wong has
approximately 20 years of experience in management and operation
of textile and knitting, food and beverages business. Mr. Derek Wong
was a co-founder and an executive director of Fornton Group Limited
(renamed as Momentum Financials Holdings Limited, stock code:
1152, a company whose shares are listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange) from October 2011 to June 2014,
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Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. David Tsoi (“Mr. Tsoi"), aged 74, is an independent non-executive
Director, the chairman of the audit committee of the Company and a
member of each of the C&B Committee and nomination committee
of the Company. Mr. David Tsoi was appointed as Director on 14 May
2021.

Mr. David Tsoi obtained a master's degree in business administration
from the University of East Asia, Macau (currently known as
University of Macau) in October 1986. Mr. Tsoi was admitted as (i)
an associate of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants
in September 1981; and (ii) an associate of the Taxation Institute of
Hong Kong in March 1984. Furthermore, Mr. Tsoi was admitted as
(i) a fellow member of CPA Australia in November 2009; (ii) a fellow
member of the Association of Hong Kong Accountants in July 2014;
(iii) a fellow of the Institute of Chartered Accountants in England
and Wales in June 2015; (iv) a chartered professional accountant
member of the Chartered Professional Accountants of British
Columbia, Canada, in June 2015; and (v) a fellow member of the
Society of Chinese Accountants and Auditors in December 2015.

Mr. Tsoi has over 30 years of experience in the field of accounting,
auditing and financial management. He currently serves as a director
of Alliott, Tsoi CPA Limited, and he is a certified public accountant
(practicing) registered with the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants. Mr. Tsoi is currently an independent non-
executive director of (i) Universal Technologies Holdings Limited
(stock code: 1026) since June 2013; (i) Guru Online (Holdings)
Limited (stock code: 8121) since May 2014; (iii) VPower Group
International Holdings Limited (stock code: 1608) since October
2016; (iv) Green International Holdings Limited (stock code: 2700)
since June 2017; (v) Tianli Holdings Group Limited (stock code:
117) since August 2017; and (vi) Everbright Grand China Assets
Limited (stock code: 3699) since January 2018. The shares of these
companies are listed on either GEM or the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange.

In the past, Mr. Tsoi had also served as an independent non-executive
director of (i) Loto Interactive Limited (stock code: 8198) from
October 2001 to July 2017; (ii) CRRC Corporation Limited (stock
code: 1766) from March 2008 to June 2014; and (iii) Enviro Energy
International Holdings Limited (stock code: 1102) from July 2008 to
June 2017. The shares of these companies are listed on either GEM or
the Main Board of the Stock Exchange.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS

Independent Non-executive Directors (continued)

Mr. Lu, Brian Yong Chen, aged 58, is an independent non-executive
Director, the chairman of each of the C&B Committee and the
Nomination Committee and a member of each of the Audit Committee
and the Investment Committee. Mr. Lu, Brian Yong Chen was
appointed as Director on 25 June 2015.

Mr. Lu, Brian Yong Chen graduated from the University of New South
Wales in Australia with a Degree of Master of Information Science in
October 1994.

Mr. Lu, Brian Yong Chen served as a Manager, Design/Architecture
of IBM Australia Limited from May 1995 to April 2001. Mr. Lu, Brian
Yong Chen then served as a Client Unit Executive in the IBM Global
Technology Services Department of IBM China/Hong Kong Limited
from 2001 to 2012, and a partner of the Business Application
Consulting Sector of IBM (China) Company Limited from June 2012.
Mr. Lu, Brian Yong Chen is an independent non-executive director of
Sprocomm Intelligence Limited (stock code: 1401, a company whose
share are listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange) since 18
October 2019.

Mr. Lu, Brian Yong Chen is a successful corporate executive with
excellent business strategy capability and well established business
connections in the Asia Pacific region. Mr. Lu, Brian Yong Chen has
over 20 years of management experience in Fortune 100 companies
in Australia, Hong Kong and the PRC, assisting in enterprises with
their business transformation and growth.
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Independent Non-executive Directors (continued)

Mr. Yuen Shiu Wai ("Mr. Tsoi"), aged 63, is an independent non-
executive Director and a member of each of the Audit Committee, the
C&B Committee and the Nomination Committee. Mr. Yuen Shiu Wai
was appointed as Director on 7 April 2021.

Mr. Yuen obtained a Bachelor's degree of Science in Engineering
from the University of Hong Kong in November 1981. Mr. Yuen was
also granted the Diploma in Business Management by the Chinese
University of Hong Kong in August 1987. Furthermore, he received a
degree of Master of Science (Finance) from the National University
of Ireland in October 1999. In April 2007, Mr. Yuen was certified as
a Financial Risk Manager (FRM®) by the Global Association of Risk
Professionals, and was qualified as a Chartered Financial Analyst
(CFA) of CFA Institute in September 2008. In September 2017, Mr.
Yuen was certified as a Chartered Valuer and Appraiser (CVA) by the
Singapore Accountancy Commission.

Mr. Yuen has had over 10 years of experience in the field of valuation.
From September 2013 to May 2017, Mr. Yuen served as one of the
independent non-executive directors of Finsoft Financial Investment
Holdings Limited, a company listed on GEM of the Stock Exchange
(Stock Code: 8018). Since July 2014, Mr. Yuen has been appointed as
the director of Ascent Partners Valuation Service Limited to oversee
its valuation business.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
EXERRS

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Directors recognise the importance of incorporating the
elements of good corporate governance into the management
structures and internal control procedures of the Group so as to
achieve effective accountability to the Shareholders as a whole.
The Board strives to uphold good corporate governance and adopt
sound corporate governance practices continuously in the interest
of Shareholders to enhance the overall performance of the Group.
The Company has adopted and complied with the principles and
applicable code provisions of the Corporate Governance Code
(the "CG Code") contained in the Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules
throughout the Year except for the following deviations.

(a)  Code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code states that the roles of
chairman and chief executive officer (the “CEQ") should be
separate and should not be performed by the same individual.
Being aware of the said deviation from code provision A.2.1,
but in view of the current rapid development of the Group,
the Board believes that with the support of the management,
vesting the roles of both chairman and CEO by Mr. Chan
Sek Keung, Ringo can facilitate execution of the Group's
business strategies and boost effectiveness of its operation.
In addition, under the supervision by the Board which consists
of three independent non-executive Directors, the interests
of the Shareholders will be adequately and fairly represented.
The Company will seek to recomply with code provision
A.2.1 by identifying and appointing a suitable and qualified
candidate to the position of the CEQ in future; and

(b) Code provision A.6.7 of the CG Code provides that
independent non-executive directors and other non-
executive directors should attend general meetings
and develop a balanced understanding of the views of
shareholders. Some independent non-executive Directors
were not able to attend the annual general meeting of
the Company held on 14 May 2021 due to their respective
business engagements. Other Board members who attend the
aforesaid annual general meeting were already of sufficient
calibre and number for answering questions raised by the
Shareholders at the relevant general meeting.
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MODEL CODE FOR DIRECTORS' SECURITIES

TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code") as
set out in Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules as its code of conduct
regarding securities transactions by the Directors. On specific
enquiries made, all Directors confirmed that they complied with the
required standards set out in the Model Code during the year ended
31 December 2021.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Composition of the Board

As at 31 December 2021 and at the date of this report, the Board
comprised four executive Directors, one non-executive Director
and three independent non-executive Directors. The composition of
the Board as at 31 December 2021 and the date of this report are as
follows:

Executive Directors
Mr. Chan Sek Keung, Ringo
(Chairman and Chief Executive Officer ("CEQ"))
Ms. Wang Fang (Vice CEO)
Mr. Liu Chun Fai
Mr. Lu Chengye

Non-executive Director
Mr. Wong Tsu Wai, Derek
(with his former name of Wong Tat Wai, Derek)

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. David Tsoi (Appointed on 14 May 2021)

Mr. Lu, Brian Yong Chen

Mr. Yuen Shiu Wai (Appointed on 7 April 2021)

Mr. Huang Liangkuai (Resigned on 7 April 2021)

Mr. Wong Chun Sek, Edmund (Retired on 14 May 2021)

The biographical details of all Directors are set out in pages 32 to
37 of this report. Save as disclosed herein, to the best knowledge of
the Company, there is no other financial, business, family or other
material or relevant relationships among the members of the Board.

The composition of the Board is well balanced with each Director
having sound industry knowledge, extensive corporate and strategic
planning experience and/or expertise relevant to the business of the
Group. The Board brings a variety of experiences and expertise to the
Company.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
EXERRS

Functions of the Board

The Board takes overall responsibility to oversee all major matters
of the Group, including the formulation and approval of all policy
matters, considering and approving overall development strategies,
financial objectives, annual budget, investment proposals,
monitoring and controlling the operation and financial performance,
risk management and internal control systems of the Group and to

assume the responsibilities of corporate governance of the Group.

Board meetings and Board practices

During the Year, the Board held 19 meetings, including 4 regular
Board meetings. Apart from the Board meetings, the Board has
passed 4 written resolutions. The Directors can attend meetings
in person or through other means of electronic communication in
accordance with the New Bye-laws. The company secretary of the
Company (the “Company Secretary”) will assist the chairman of
the Board to prepare the agenda of the meeting and all Directors
have the opportunity to include matters in the agenda for the Board
meetings. Notices of at least 14 days for regular Board meetings
are given to the Directors and Board procedures in compliance
with the Articles of New Bye-laws, as well as relevant rules and
regulations. The Directors are provided with relevant materials
relating to the matters brought before the meetings. All Directors
have separate and independent access to the senior management
and the Company Secretary at all time and will be able to seek
independent professional advice at the Company's expenses. The
Company Secretary is also responsible for ensuring the procedures
of the Board meetings are observed and providing the Board with
opinions on matters in relation to the compliance with the procedures
of the Board meetings. All minutes of Board meetings were recorded
in sufficient details of the matters considered by the Board and the
decisions reached.

During the Year, a meeting between the chairman of the Board and
the independent non-executive Directors without the presence of
executives or other representatives of the Group was held to discuss
issues that they wish to raise at the Board.
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(1)

(2)

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

TEEARS
Board Meetings (1) E5893
The numbers of the Board meetings held and the attendances RAFE EEHZETEERTHEE
of each Director at the Board meetings for the Year have been EEHEESEERIBEREFIUWT ¢
set out as follows:
No. of Board meetings held: EEHEEEERRY: 19
Name of the Directors E5UY
Executive Directors BITES
Mr. Chan Sek Keung, Ringo (Chairman and CE0) ~ [RS3&5EAE (L /EFARH) 13/19
Ms. Wang Fang (Vice CEO) TE T (BIHEH) 12/19
Mr. Lu Chengye B SE 18/19
Mr. Liu Chun Fai BEEEAE 18/19
Non-executive Director EMITES
Mr. Wong Tsu Wai, Derek FraELE 18/19
Independent Non-executive Directors BIIEMITES
Mr. David Tsoi (Appointed on 14 May 2021) BRMBLEE W _—FA B +NRERDT 13/13
Mr. Lu, Brian Yong Chen BRERIEE 18/19
Mr. Yuen Shiu Wai (Appointed on 7 April 2021) RIBIAEE W B _—FNALHEEM 15/15
Mr. Huang Liangkuai (Resigned on 7 April 2021) &= R®R&EE (R - —FMA L HEHT) 44
Mr. Wong Chun Sek, Edmund =EEBERE
(Retired on 14 May 2021) RZZBZ—FHA+MHHED 5/5
General Meeting (2) REXE
The number of general meeting held and the attendance of RAEFE BEEHZIREAERHEREZE
each Director at the general meeting for the Year have been set EHEREAG ZBERHEHIUT !
out as follows:
No. of general meeting held: EERKRRAERH : 3
Name of the Directors EENY
Executive Directors WITES
Mr. Chan Sek Keung, Ringo (Chairman and CEO) — [RS53&5c4 (£ /E F#AR#H) 2/3
Ms. Wang Fang (Vice CEQ) TEL+ (BIAEZ) 0/3
Mr. Lu Chengye e 0/3
Mr. Liu Chun Fai BEEEEE 3/3
Non-executive Director EMITES
Mr. Wong Tsu Wai, Derek FrafELE 0/3
Independent Non-executive Directors BUFRITER )
Mr. David Tsoi (Appointed on 14 May 2021) BARMBLEE W _—FAB+URERT) 2/2
Mr. Lu, Brian Yong Chen EKIRITE 0/3
Mr. Yuen Shiu Wai (Appointed on 7 April 2021) RBMSE (W B —FOBtHEZR®D 3/3
Mr. Huang Liangkuai (Resigned on 7 April 2021)  ERMREE W= —FMNA T HEHD) N/A (Note)
B (MTEE)
Mr. Wong Chun Sek, Edmund BEHRERE N/A (Note)
(Retired on 14 May 2021) R —FHA+UHRDT B (MIET)
Note: Mr. Huang Liangkuai resigned as independent Non-executive Wizt BERMLENR —E-_—FIF+ HEFTHE
Director as at 7 April 2021 and Mr. Wong Chun Sek, Edmund UIFRITEE MERELLEN ZE - —
retired on 14 May 2021 (the most recent annual general meeting FFHAIIE (EATRIRIR FEFA G
was held on 14 May 2021). E-—F A F1IIHET) BIE
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
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Directors’ appointment, re-election and removal

Each of the executive Directors and the independent non-executive
Directors has entered into a service contract with the Company for a
term of three years, all are subject to termination in accordance with
the provisions of the service contract or by either party giving the
other not less than three months' prior written notice.

By virtue of article 102(B) of the New Bye-laws, Directors shall have
the power from time to time and at any time to appoint any person as
a Director either to fill a casual vacancy of the Board or as an addition
to the existing Board. Any Director appointed by the Board to fill a
casual vacancy shall hold office until the first general meeting of
Shareholders after his appointment and be subject to re-election at
such meeting and any Director appointed by the Board as an addition
to the existing Board shall hold office only until the next following
annual general meeting of the Company and shall then be eligible for
re-election.

In compliance with the code provision A.4.2 of the CG Code, all
Directors are subject to retirement by rotation at least once every
three years. Furthermore, pursuant to article 99 of the New Bye-
laws, at each annual general meeting one-third of the Directors for
the time being (or, if their number is not a multiple of three (3), the
number nearest to but not less than one-third) shall retire from office
by rotation provided that every Director shall be subject to retirement
at an annual general meeting at least once every three years.

Independent Non-executive Directors

Independent non-executive Directors have played a crucial role in
the Board by providing their independent judgment at the Board
meeting and scrutinising the Group's performance. Their views
carry significant weight in the Board's decision, in particular, they
bring an impartial view to bear on issues of the Group's strategy,
performance and control. All independent non-executive Directors
possess extensive academic, professional and industry expertise
and management experience and have provided their professional
advices to the Board. The independent non-executive Directors
provide independent advice on the Group's business strategy,
results and management so that all interests of the Shareholders
will be taken into account, and the interests of the Company and the
Shareholders can be protected.
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In compliance with Rules 3.10(1) and 3.10A of the Listing Rules,
the Board consists of three independent non-executive Directors,
representing not less than one-third of the Board, among the three
independent non-executive Directors, Mr. David Tsoi, possessing
appropriate professional qualification in accounting or related
financial management expertise as required by Rule 3.10(2) of the
Listing Rules.

The Company has received the annual written confirmation of
independence from each of its independent non-executive Directors
pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company, based on
such confirmations, considers that all the independent non-executive
Directors, namely, Mr. David Tsoi, Mr. Lu, Brian Yong Chen and
Mr. Yuen Shiu Wai, are independent and they all meet the specific
independence guidelines as set outin Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.

Chairman and CEO

Code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code states that the roles of chairman
and CEO should be separate and should not be performed by the
same individual. Being aware of the said deviation from code
provision A.2.1, but in view of the current rapid development of the
Group, the Board believes that with the support of the management,
vesting the roles of both chairman and CEQO by Mr. Chan Sek Keung,
Ringo can facilitate execution of the Group's business strategies
and boost effectiveness of its operation. In addition, under the
supervision by the Board which consists of three independent
non-executive Directors, the interests of the Shareholders will
be adequately and fairly represented. The Company will seek to
recomply with code provision A.2.1 by identifying and appointing a
suitable and qualified candidate to the position of the CEO in future.
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Delegation of powers

The Board delegates the authority and responsibility for
implementing day-to-day operations, administration and
management of the Group's businesses to the CEO, executive
Directors, senior management and certain specific responsibilities
to the Board committees of the Company. It is the job of the Board
to determine the objectives of the Company and it is the job of the
executives and senior management to decide the means by which
those objectives are best achieved within rules of conduct and limits
of risk that are set by the Board. When the Board delegates aspects
of its management and administration functions to members of
the management team, it gives clear directions as to the powers
of management, in particular, with respect to the circumstances
where the management team needs to report back and obtain prior
approval from the Board before making decisions or entering into any
commitments on behalf of the Company. The delegated functions and
work tasks are regularly reviewed.

Continuous professional development

According to the code provision A.6.5 of the CG Code, all directors
should participate in a programme of continuous professional
development to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills to
ensure that their contribution to the Board remains informed and
relevant. The Company should be responsible for arranging and
funding training, placing an appropriate emphasis on the roles,
functions and duties of the Directors.

During the Year, the Company had arranged to provide to all Directors
with the “Guidelines for Directors” and the “Guide for Independent
Non-executive Directors” issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Directors.

The Company also updated the Directors and senior management
on the latest development regarding the Listing Rules and other
applicable regulatory requirements from time to time, to ensure
compliance and enhance their awareness of good corporate
governance practices. In particular, training sessions covering topics
including the CG Code and the disclosure of inside information had
been held during the year ended 31 December 2021.
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According to the records provided by the Directors, a summary of the RIFEZEZRMIEE EFNAFEEMZEZHE
training received by the Directors for the Year is as follows: Atatan T
Attending
training/
Reading briefing
materials sessions
Name of Directors HEEERE
ERit4 REME ke
Executive Directors HITES
Mr. Chan Sek Keung, Ringo (Chairman and CEO) 88538554 (Z/E#4E#) v v
Ms. Wang Fang (Vice CEO) TELT FHE) 4 4
Mr. Lu Chengye FRRESRE v 4
Mr. Liu Chun Fai BEBLE v v
Non-executive Director FERTES
Mr. Wong Tsu Wai, Derek ey v v
Independent Non-executive Directors BIEHITES
Mr. David Tsoi BAMAE
(Appointed on 14 May 2021) MW_E_—FHB+MH
BT 4 4
Mr. Lu, Brian Yong Chen BKERSE v v
Mr. Yuen Shiu Wai RABRAE
(Appointed on 7 April 2021) M_E_—FMAtHEZD v v
Mr. Huang Liangkuai BRREE
(Resigned on 7 April 2021) MZZZ—FMBt HEHD v N/ARER
Mr. Wong Chun Sek, Edmund EERERE
(Retired on 14 May 2021) M2 —FhHB+MERED v N/ATREF
/: Completed Ve
Liability insurance for directors %5%&@[“’

The Company has subscribed appropriate and sufficient insurance
coverage on directors' liabilities in respect of legal actions taken
against Directors arising out of corporate activities since 31 March
2015.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established (i) the audit committee of the Company
(the "Audit Committee”); (ii) the compensation and benefits
committee of the Company (the “C&B Committee"”); and (iii)
the nomination committee of the Company (the “Nomination
Committee"), with defined terms of reference. The latest versions of
the terms of reference of the Board committees which explain their
respective role and the authority delegated to them by the Board are
available on the websites of the Stock Exchange and of the Company.
The Board committees are provided with sufficient resources to
discharge their duties and, upon reasonable request, are able to seek
independent professional advice and other assistance in appropriate
circumstances, at the Company's expenses.

ARBEB_ZE—HAF=-ZA=1+—HEBESE
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Audit Committee

Composition

The Company established the Audit Committee pursuant to a
resolution of Directors passed on 25 October 2010 in compliance
with Rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules. The Audit Committee has set
up the written terms of reference which was revised on 22 March
2012 and further revised on 26 November 2015 and 1 January 2019.
The primary responsibilities of the Audit Committee are to make
recommendation to the Board on the appointment and removal
of external auditors, review the financial statements and material
advice in respect of financial reporting at least at half-year intervals,
and oversee the risk management policies and internal control
procedures of the Group constantly. The Audit Committee currently
consists of three members, namely, Mr. David Tsoi, Mr. Lu, Brian
Yong Chen and Mr. Yuen Shiu Wai, all of whom are independent
non-executive Directors. Mr. David Tsoi currently serves as the
chairman of the Audit Committee. Mr. Huang Liangkuai resigned as
a member on 7 April 2021 and Mr. Yuen Shiu Wai was appointed as
a member on 7 April 2021. Mr. Wong Chun Sek, Edmund stepped
down as Chairman on 14 May 2021 and Mr. David Tsoi was appointed
as Chairman on 14 May 2021. The Audit Committee has adopted
the terms of reference which are in line with the applicable code
provisions in the CG Code.

The Audit Committee has reviewed the Group's annual results for the
year ended 31 December 2021, the consolidated financial statements
for the year ended 31 December 2021 and this report.

During the Year, the Audit Committee held 3 meetings to make
recommendation on the re-appointment of external auditors, review
financial statements, financial reporting system, risk management
and internal control systems of the Company. And the attendances
of each Audit Committee member for the Year have been set out as
follows:

No. of Audit Committee meetings held:

Name of the Audit Committee members
Mr. David Tsoi (Appointed on 14 May 2021)
Mr. Lu, Brian Yong Chen
Mr. Yuen Shiu Wai (Appointed on 7 April 2021)
Mr. Huang Liangkuai (Resigned on 7 April 2021)
Mr. Wong Chun Sek, Edmund

(Retired on 14 May 2021)

= KERSEE

HBELE

46

InvesTech Holdings Limited &zl %R B IR A E

EEREREEES

BREEGMENS
BAMEE WS —FHAtNEEZMD

RIBREE W2 —FHAtHESD
BERREE W —FHA L HED

ExZEY

A
RABNBZEEG N REBEESEN _E—ZF
+TEZ+AHBANRERTER FHRAIH
32MEMMARIL - BZEZEGE]HEEmBEE
BowR _E——_F=ZRA -+ _"_HEF &R
E—HF+—BIZ+AABRZZE—hhE—FB—
HIEE—P B BZEZESTNTEBREIHME
BREEIIEZEMMESS(FHHEERR B
VEYFERYBEREAABEAMBRENEE
BER O UNRTRHEEREENRMEEBRERN
BEEErR BRZEZESEAH=-%REANK
BIEEANELRE BRBEEERRBREE (2
EABIIENITES) - BAMHLEBFIETSE
BEEgFR ERMEENR _E-_—FAt
HEERE REBBWEENR S -_—FMB+H
ELZTAREBE - HEBLENR_ZE-_—FHA
+THOHEBEERE BREXENR S —FAHA
+THHEZEATR BERZLZETERME P
EATREATIBR R EEE -

BEZZECEERAERBEE_S _—F+=
B=+—HLEFENEFXE BE_T_—F
TR+ —HUEFENGEMBRERETR

REFE BEREECRR=-RNERZUEREE
SNESIZ BB s BRI AR BNMBHRER MBRS
AR RBREERABEENE AFEREZ
ZEEMEHFEZBRNOT !

R 3
A
3/3
2/2

11
1M

WRZE-_—=0 B +HAEME



C&B Committee

Composition

The Company established the C&B Committee pursuant to a
resolution of Directors passed on 25 October 2010 in compliance
with Rule 3.25 of the Listing Rules. The C&B Committee has set up
with written terms of reference which was revised on 22 March 2012.
The primary duties of the C&B Committee are to review and make
recommendations to the Board on the overall remuneration policy
and structure relating to all Directors and senior management of
the Company. The compensation and remuneration of all Directors
and senior management of the Company are subject to regular
review by the C&B Committee to ensure that the levels of their
compensation and remuneration are appropriate and none of the
Directors determine their own remuneration. The C&B Committee
currently consists of four members, namely, Mr. Lu, Brian Yong Chen,
Mr. David Tsoi, Mr. Yuen Shiu Wai (all are independent non- executive
Directors) and Mr. Liu Chun Fai (an executive Director). Mr. Lu, Brian
Yong Chen currently serves as the chairman of the C&B Committee.
Mr. Huang Liangkuai resigned as a member on 7 April 2021 and Mr.
Yuen Shiu Wai was appointed as a member on 7 April 2021. Mr. Wong
Chun Sek, Edmund retired as a member on 14 May 2021 and Mr.
David Tsoi was appointed as a member on 14 May 2021.

During the Year, the C&B Committee held 3 meetings to review and
make recommendation on the remuneration policy and structure
relating to Directors and senior management of the Company. And
the attendances of each C&B Committee member for the Year have
been set out as follows:
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BHMEkFMOBEHFINRENZE S EHR
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ERMEESEBTEE B SN - #ilxEF
ZECHAAMNBAEEMN  SEaKEREE
BRMSRE REBMEE (ﬁ%é%ﬁ?ﬁﬂﬁ%%)
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REFE FHFNRENZEGER=RGE
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BUFMIERLZZ s FEESHMREBINEZEE
FREHFEZBERAT :

No. of C&B Committee meetings held: EEHHFNAENZESEERE - 3
Name of C&B Committee members N RENEZEERERS
Mr. Lu, Brian Yong Chen =KERFTE 3/3
Mr. Liu Chun Fai BEEEAE 2/3
Mr. Yuen Shiu Wai (Appointed on 7 April 2021) RIBBEE R _—FNE+HESDT 2/2
Mr. David Tsoi (Appointed on 14 May 2021) BARMERE
M2 —FHATHAEZRD 11
Mr. Huang Liangkuai (Resigned on 7 April 2021) BR®REYE W2 —FMOBtHHD mnm
Mr. Wong Chun Sek, Edmund =BBELE
(Retired on 14 May 2021) MRZZZ—FAHB+HHEEMD 1/
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Remuneration policy for Directors and senior management
The emolument policy of the employees of the Group is determined
on the basis of their merit, qualifications and competence.

The emoluments of the Directors are recommended by the C&B
Committee, having regard to the Company's operating results,
individual performance, experience, responsibility, workload and
time devoted to the Company and comparable market statistics.
Each of the executive Directors is entitled to a basic salary which is
reviewed annually. In addition, each of the executive Directors may
receive a discretionary bonus as the Board may recommend. Such
amount has to be approved by the C&B Committee.

In addition, the Company maintained share option schemes. The
purposes of the share option schemes are to enable the Company
to grant options to selected eligible participants as incentives or
rewards for their contribution to the Group and/or to enable the
Group to recruit and retain high caliber employees and attract human
resources that are valuable to the Group and any invested entity. One
of the share option scheme expired in October 2020 and followed by a
new share option scheme adopted on 23 June 2021.

Nomination Committee

Composition

The Company established a nominating and corporate governance
committee pursuant to a resolution of Directors passed on 25
October 2010 (which was renamed as Nomination Committee on
22 March 2012). The Nomination Committee has set up the written
terms of reference which was revised on 22 March 2012, and was
further revised on 28 August 2013 and 1 January 2019. The primary
duties of the Nomination Committee are to review the structure, size
and composition of the Board on a regular basis and to recommend to
the Board the suitable candidates for Directors after consideration of
the nominees' independence and quality in order to ensure fairness
and transparency of all nominations. The Nomination Committee
currently consists of three members, namely Mr. Lu, Brian Yong
Chen, Mr. David Tsoi and Mr. Yuen Shiu Wai (all are independent
non-executive Directors). Mr. Lu, Brian Yong Chen currently serves
as the chairman of the Nomination Committee. Mr. Huang Liangkuai
resigned as a member on 7 April 2021 and Mr. Yuen Shiu Wai was
Mr. Wong Chun Sek,
Edmund retired as a member on 14 May 2021 and Mr. David Tsoi was

appointed as a member on 7 April 2021.

appointed as a member on 14 May 2021.
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The Nomination Committee adopted the board diversity policy in
August 2013. The Company recognises and embraces the benefits
of having a diverse Board to enhance the quality of its performance.
Pursuant to the board diversity policy, selection of candidates will be
based on a range of diversity perspectives, including but not limited
to gender, age, cultural and educational background, ethnicity,
professional experience, skills, knowledge and length of service. The
ultimate decision will be based on merit and contribution that the
selected candidates will bring to the Board.

In assessing the suitability of a proposed candidate as a member of
the Board, the Nomination Committee would follow the nomination
policy and consider factors including:

(a) Reputation;

(b) Skills, knowledge, experience, cultural and educational
background, gender, age and other qualities required, with due
regard for the benefits of diversity of the Board;

(c) The extent to which the proposed candidate is likely to
contribute to the overall effectiveness of the Board and work
constructively with the existing Directors;

(d) The skills and experience that the proposed candidate brings
to the role and how he/she will enhance the efficiency and
performance of the Board as a whole;

(e) The nature of existing positions served by the proposed
candidate including directorships or other relationship with the
Company and/or its Directors and impact they may have on his/
her ability to exercise independent judgment; and

(f)  Factors which may affect the proposed candidate's time
commitment to the Company.

These factors are for reference only, and not meant to be exhaustive
and decisive. The Nomination Committee has the discretion to
nominate any person, as it considers appropriate.
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During the Year, the Nomination Committee held 2 meetings to
review the structure, size and composition of the Board. And the
attendances of each Nomination Committee member for the Year
have been set out as follows:

REFE RREZEEEHMAERURNES
EHRB - RERAEAN FAFERRLEZEEN
BHREZEREIWNT -

No. of Nomination Committee meetings held: EEHRLEZETEERE 2
Name of the Nomination Committee members RLZEEHEEH
Mr. Lu, Brian Yong Chen =R 2/2
Mr. Yuen Shiu Wai (Appointed on 7 April 2021) RBREE M2 —FUETHEZMD il
Mr. David Tsoi (Appointed on 14 May 2021) BARMESRE N/A (Note)
MRZE—FHB+HHEZD FE A (P ET)
Mr. Huang Liangkuai (Resigned on 7 April 2021) BERREYE W2 —FMAtHHD il
Mr. Wong Chun Sek, Edmund =EEELE
(Retired on 14 May 2021) (RZE—FHB+NBEMD 1/1

Note: Mr. David Tsoi was appointed as independent Non-executive Director
as at 14 May 2021 (the most recent nomination committee meeting was
held on 14 May 2021).

Corporate governance functions

The Company's corporate governance functions are carried out by
the Board pursuant to a set of written terms of reference adopted by
the Board in compliance with code provision D.3.1 of the CG Code,
which include (a) to develop and review the Company's policies and
practices on corporate governance and make recommendations to
the Board; (b) to review and monitor the training and continuous
professional development of the Directors and senior management
of the Group; (c) to review and monitor the Company's policies and
practices on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements; (d)
to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and compliance
manual (if any) applicable to employees of the Group and the
Directors; and (e) to review the Company's compliance with the
applicable CG Code and disclosure in the Corporate Governance
Report.
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FINANCIAL REPORTING

The Board, supported by the finance department, is responsible for
the preparation of the Group's financial statements for each financial
year which shall give a true and fair view of the financial position,
performance and cash flows of the Group for that year. In preparing
the financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2021, the
Board has selected suitable accounting policies and applied them
consistently, made judgments and estimates that are prudent, fair
and reasonable and prepared the financial statements on a going
concern basis. The Directors are responsible for taking all reasonable
and necessary steps to safeguard the assets of the Group and to
prevent and detect fraud and other irregularities. The Board is not
aware of any material uncertainties relating to events or conditions
that may cast significant doubt upon the Group's ability to continue as
a going concern.

The responsibilities of the Company's external auditors, BDO
Limited, on the financial statements are set out in the section headed
“Independent Auditors’ Report” in this report.

External auditors' remuneration

During the Year, the fees paid or payable to the Company's external
auditors in respect of their audit and non-audit services were as
follows:

Type of Services BR#5 48R
Audit services ZE RS
Non-audit services* IR AR TS
Total #ast

* including the fees for tax compliance services.
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COMPANY SECRETARY

The Company engaged an external professional company secretarial
services provider, Link Corporate Services Limited (the “Link"), to
provide compliance and full range of company secretarial services
to the Company in order to assist the Company to cope with the
changing regulatory environment and to suit different commercial
needs. Mr. Fung Siu Kei ("Mr. Fung”), the representative of Link, was
appointed as the named Company Secretary since 1 October 2019.

Mr Fung has over ten years of professional experience in public
accounting and auditing, and had previously served in international
audit firm and acted as company secretary for a Hong Kong listed
company. Mr. Fung is a practicing member of Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accounts. Mr. Fung obtained a degree of bachelor of
business administration in accountancy from the City University of
Hong Kong in 2007.

The financial controller of the Company is the primary point of
contact at the Company with the Company Secretary.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Board has access to
the advice and services of Mr. Fung at all time in accordance with
Code Provision F.1.4 of Appendix 14 to the Rules Governing the
Listing Securities on the Stock Exchange (“the Listing Rules”). Mr.
Fung has taken no less than 15 hours of professional training during
the Year under review pursuant to the Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules.
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SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS

In accordance with the Listing Rules, any vote of Shareholders at a
general meeting must be taken by poll except where the chairman,
in good faith, decides to allow a resolution which relates purely
to a procedural or administrative matter to be voted on by a show
of hands. Therefore, all votes of the Shareholders at general
meetings shall be taken by poll. The results of voting by poll will be
published on the websites of the Stock Exchange and of the Company
respectively.

How Shareholders can convene a special general meeting
and put forward proposals at Shareholders’ meetings
Pursuant to article 62 of the New Bye-laws, any one or more
Shareholders holding at the date of deposit of the requisition not less
than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company carrying the
right of voting at general meetings of the Company shall at all times
have the right, by written requisition to the Board or the Company
Secretary by mail at Room 1201, 12/F, C C Wu Building, 302-308
Hennessy Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong, to require a special general
meeting to be called by the Board for the transaction of any business
specified in such requisition and such meeting shall be held within
two months after the deposit of such requisition. If within 21 days
of such deposit the Board fails to proceed to convene such meeting
the requisitionist(s) himself (themselves) may do so in the same
manner, and all reasonable expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s)
as a result of the failure of the Board shall be reimbursed to the
requisitionist(s) by the Company.

Procedures by which enquiries may be put to the Board
Shareholders may put forward their proposals or inquiries to
the Board by sending their written request to the Company's
correspondence address in Hong Kong.
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INVESTORS AND SHAREHOLDERS RELATIONS

Since the change of domicile with effect from 7 July 2021, the
changes in the Company's constitutional documents have been
available on the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.

The Board recognises the importance of maintaining clear, timely
and effective communication with Shareholders and investors
of the Company. The Board also recognises that effective
communication with investors is the key to establish investor
confidence and to attract new investors. Therefore, the Group
is committed to maintaining a high degree of transparency to
ensure that the investors and the Shareholders receiving accurate,
clear, comprehensive and timely information of the Group by the
publication of annual reports, interim reports, announcements and
circulars. The Company also publishes all corporate correspondence
on the Company's website at http://www.investech-holdings.com.
The Board continues to maintain regular dialogues with institutional
investors and analysts from time to time to keep them informed of the
Group's strategy, operations, management and plans. The Directors
and the members of the Board committees would attend and are
available to answer questions at general meetings of the Company.
Separate resolutions would be proposed at general meetings of the
Company on each substantially separate issue.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

During the Year, the Board complied with the code provisions on
risk management and internal control as set out in the CG Code.
The Board has overall responsibility for evaluating and determining
the nature and extent of the risks it is willing to take in achieving
the Group's strategic objectives, and maintaining appropriate and
effective risk management and internal control systems for the
Group. The systems are designed to manage the risk of failure to
achieve business objectives, and can only provide reasonable and not
absolute assurance against material misstatement or loss.
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The procedures and feature of the Group's risk management and

internal control systems are as follows:

For risk management

Identification: Identify ownership of risks, business objectives
and risks that could affect the achievement of objectives.
Evaluation: Analyze the likelihood and impact of risks and
evaluate the risk portfolio accordingly.

Management: Consider the risk responses, ensure effective
communication to the Board and on-going monitor the residual
risks.

For internal control

Control Environment: A set of standards, processes and
structures that provide the basis for carrying out internal
control across the Group.

Risk Assessment: A dynamic and iterative process for
identifying and analysing risks to achieve the Group's
objectives, forming a basis for determining how risks should be
managed.

Control Activities: Action established by policies and
procedures to help ensure that management directives to
mitigate risks to the achievement of objectives are carried out.

Information and Communication: Internal and external
communication to provide the Group with the information
needed to carry out day-to-day controls.

Monitoring: Ongoing and separate evaluations to ascertain
whether each components of internal control is present and
functioning.

The management of the Company has established a set of

comprehensive policies, standards and procedures in areas of

operational, financial and risk controls for safeguarding assets

against unauthorised use or disposition; for maintaining proper

accounting records; and for ensuring the reliability of financial

information to achieve a satisfactory level of assurance against the

likelihood of the occurrence of fraud and errors.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
EXERRS

TEBENRRE
FaF

BRABBEZERANFTERE

EREEAMR

o B AREBRFREE  XEHBERAAER
EERERBER-

. &ﬁ 707 LR B9 B] BEME R B2 BRI ¥ A B
S FHARMEST (S

. Aﬁ TEAREY BREAEEFEENA
BETANEBLFEERTEGRAR

AR EIER R

s EBERE I AAEEFREASEERER
RN —ERE -BFRERE-

o REREHE BB RO ERUERAEE
BRI wL a0 7] B IR EL BRI B R IB RV BN AR X2

BEmfge

s EBETH BRNEFAEMBRERRER
R ERNEEEECERITMHIE
BITTE) -

e HENRBAN: AEERERHETHERE
PREBERIBIMBE R S ER5@ AR

e EBER:SEEABEENSERBOHES
FERETMETHNFERERT G-

ARBERENES MBEREAREESEFIE

TERGHR - BRERER UREEETS

EREERER TEEARNEE; EERETH
i LRBHMBENNTEE BUABRSE

A EHIRIFEREERIE T ©

55

ANNUAL REPORT 2021 — & = —FF 3R



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
EXERRS

The Board has overseen the Company’'s risk management and

internal control systems on an ongoing basis. A year end review
of the effectiveness of the Company's and its subsidiaries’ risk
management and internal control systems has been conducted
annually and the systems are considered to be effective and
adequate. The Company also has an internal audit function to carry
out the analysis and independent appraisal of the adequacy and
effectiveness of the systems, and has procedures in place to keep
information confidential and manage actual or potential conflicts of
interest. Stringent internal structures have been designed to prevent
the misuse of inside information and avoid conflicts of interest.

The Group has established systems and procedures for
disseminating inside information as defined under the Securities and
Future Ordinance (the "SF0") so as to ensure inside information is
promptly identified and escalated. Directors and management of the
Group have received relevant trainings to ensure inside information
remains confidential until the disclosure of such information is
appropriately approved, and the dissemination of such information is
efficiently and consistently made.
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The Directors are pleased to submit herewith this annual report
together with the audited consolidated financial statements for the
year ended 31 December 2021 (the "Year").

PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS IN HONG KONG
The Company is a limited liability company incorporated in the
Cayman Islands and continued in Bermuda with limited liability and
its principal place of business in Hong Kong is Room 1201, 12/F, CC
Wu Building, 302-308 Hennessy Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

During the Year, the Group was mainly engaged in the provision
of network system integration including the provision of network
infrastructure solutions, network professional services and smart
office software solutions, and the network equipment rental
business.

BUSINESS REVIEW

The business review of the Group for the Year is included in
the sections of Chairman’s Statement, Financial Summary and
Management Discussion and Analysis which are set out in pages 5 to
31 of this report and the paragraphs below.

The Group complies with the requirements under the Companies
Ordinance, the Listing Rules and the SFO for the disclosure of
information and corporate governance. The Group also complies with
the requirements of Employment Ordinance and ordinances relating
to occupational safety for the interest of employees of the Group. No
important business event affecting the Group has occurred since the
end of the financial year under review up to the date of this report.
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ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND PERFORMANCE

The Group promotes environmental protection by raising the
employees’ awareness of resources saving and efficient use of
energy. In recent years, the Group has implemented several policies
to encourage employees for saving energy and paper. All these
policies aim at reducing resources and saving costs which are
beneficial to the environment and meet the commercial goals of the
Group.

For further information about the environment policies and
performance of the Company during the Year, please refer to
the Environmental, Social and Governance Report prepared in
accordance with Appendix 27 to the Listing Rules to be published
by the end of April 2022 and will be available on the websites of the
Stock Exchange and of the Company accordingly.

KEY RISK FACTORS
The following lists out the key risks and uncertainties facing the
Group:

Impact of Local and International Regulations

The business operation of the Group is subject to government
policies, relevant regulations and guidelines established by the
regulatory authorities. Failure to comply with applicable rules and
requirements may lead to penalties, amendments or suspension of
the business operation by the authorities. The Group closely monitors
changes in government policies, regulations and markets as well as
conducting studies to assess the impact of such changes.

Third-Party Risks

The Group has been relying on third-party service providers in
parts of business to improve performance and efficiency of the
Group. While gaining the benefits from external service providers,
management realises that such operational dependency may
pose a threat of vulnerability to unexpected poor or lapses in
service including reputation damage, business disruption and
monetary losses. To address such uncertainties, the Group only
engages reputable third party providers and closely monitors their
performance.
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KEY RELATIONSHIPS WITH EMPLOYEES, CUSTOMERS
AND SUPPLIERS

The Group recognises the accomplishment of the employees by
providing comprehensive benefit package, career development
opportunities and internal training appropriate to individual needs.
The Group provides a healthy and safe workplace for all employees.
No strikes and cases of fatality due to workplace accidents are found
in the year under review.

The Group encompasses working relationships with suppliers to
meet our customers’ needs in an effective and efficient manner.
Each department works closely to make sure the tendering
and procurement process is conducted in an open, fair and just
manner. The Group's requirements and standards are also well-
communicated to suppliers before the commencement of a project.

The Group values the views and opinions of all customers through
various means and channels, including usage of business intelligence
to understand customer trends and needs and regular analysis on
customer feedback. The Group also conducts comprehensive tests
and checks to ensure that only quality products and services are
offered to the customers.

SUBSIDIARIES
Details of the principal subsidiaries of the Company are set out in
note 1 to the consolidated financial statements.

DIVIDEND

The Directors consider that the declaration, payment and amount
of the dividend shall be subject to the status of the Group's future
development. The Board does not recommend any final dividend for
the year ended 31 December 2021 (2020: Nil).
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CONVERTIBLE BOND

Details of movements in the Company's convertible bond are set out
in note 35 to the consolidated financial statements. Details of the
convertible bond agreement entered into during the Year are set out
below:

On 26 November 2021, the Company issued a convertible bond
with principal amount of HK$30,000,000 (the “Convertible Bond")
to Smoothly Global Holdings Limited, a company incorporated in
the British Virgin Islands (the "BVI") with limited liability and is 70%
and 20% owned by Mr. Chan Sek Keung, Ringo and Ms. Wang Fang
respectively, for settlement and discharge of the consideration
in accordance with the sale and purchase agreement dated 23
September 2021 in respect of the acquisition of 25% equity interest
in Fortune Grace Management Limited, a company incorporated in
BVI with limited liability. Details of the Convertible Bonds are set out
in the announcements of the Company dated 23 September 2021,
18 October 2021, 29 October 2021 and 19 November 2021, and the
circular of the Company dated 2 November 2021.

The Convertible Bond has an initial conversion price of HK$1.50
per conversion share. The Convertible Bond bears interest on the
outstanding principal amount at the rate of 1.5% per annum, payable
on a semi-annual basis in arrears, and will mature on the three years
from the date of issue.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company will declare and/or recommend the payment of
dividends to Shareholders after considering the Company's ability to
pay dividends, which will depend upon, among other things, its actual
and expected financial performance, its current and future business
operation, level of liquidity, capital requirements, contractual and
regulatory restrictions and so on. The Board has complete discretion
on whether to pay a dividend, subject to Shareholders’ approval,
where applicable. Even if the Board decides to recommend and
pay dividends, the form, frequency and amount will depend upon
its actual financial performance, its current and future business
operation, level of liquidity, capital requirements, contractual and
regulatory restrictions of and affecting the Group. The Board may
also consider declaring special dividends from time to time, in
addition to the interim and/or final dividends. The Company would
review and reassess the dividend policy and its effectiveness on a
regular basis or as required.
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DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVE

The Company's reserves available for distribution, calculated in
accordance with the Companies Act of Bermuda, amounted to
approximately RMB170.9 million as at 31 December 2021. Such
amount includes the Company's share premium, contributed surplus
and capital reserve accounts of approximately RMB928.9 million and
accumulated losses of approximately RMB758.0 million in aggregate
as at 31 December 2021.

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

The transfer books and register of members of the Company will to
be closed from 18 May 2022 (Wednesday) to 23 May 2022 (Monday)
(both dates inclusive) during which period no transfer of shares
will be registered. The holders of shares whose name appears on
the register of members of the Company on 23 May 2022 (Monday)
will be entitled to attend and vote at the annual general meeting of
the Company (the “Annual General Meeting”). In order to qualify for
attending and voting at the Annual General Meeting, all transfers
of shares accompanied by the relevant share certificates must be
lodged with the Company's branch share registrar in Hong Kong,
Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited, at Shops
1712-1716, 17th Floor, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’'s Road East,
Wanchai, Hong Kong for registration no later than 4:30 p.m. on 17
May 2022 (Tuesday).

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

Save as disclosed herein, no contracts concerning the management
and administration of the whole or any substantial part of the
business of the Company or its subsidiaries were entered into or
existed during the Year.
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the aggregate sales
attributable to the Group's top five largest customers comprised
approximately 21.7% (2020: 27.2%) of the Group's sales and
the sales attributable to the Group's largest customer were
approximately 6.3% of the Group's sales. The aggregate purchases
attributable to the Group's top five largest suppliers comprised
approximately 46.2% (2020: 42.8%) of the Group's purchases for the
year and the purchases attributable to the Group's largest supplier
were approximately 30.6% of the Group's purchases for the year.

So far as is known to the Directors, none of the Directors, their
close associates or any Shareholders owning more than 5% of the
Company's issued shares capital had any interest in the share capital
of any of the top five largest customers and suppliers of the Group.

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2021
and the Group's financial position as at that date are set out in the
consolidated financial statements on pages 89 to 252 of this report.

The Group's loss attributable to owners of the parent for the year
ended 31 December 2021 was approximately RMB16.8 million.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in the property, plant and equipment of the
Group during the year ended 31 December 2021 are set out in note 13
to the consolidated financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movements in the share capital of the Company during
the year ended 31 December 2021 are set out in note 30 to the
consolidated financial statements.
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DIRECTORS
The Directors during the financial year ended 31 December 2021 and
up to the date of this reportinclude:

Executive Directors
Mr. Chan Sek Keung, Ringo
(Chairman and Chief Executive Officer ("CEQ"))
Ms. Wang Fang (Vice CEO)
Mr. Liu Chun Fai
Mr. Lu Chengye

Non-executive Director
Mr. Wong Tsu Wai, Derek
(with his former name of Wong Tat Wai, Derek)

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. David Tsoi (Appointed on 14 May 2021)

Mr. Lu, Brian Yong Chen

Mr. Yuen Shiu Wai (Appointed on 7 April 2021)

Mr. Huang Liangkuai (Resigned on 7 April 2021)

Mr. Wong Chun Sek, Edmund (Retired on 14 May 2021)

The Company has received, from each of the independent non-
executive Directors, an annual confirmation of independence in
accordance with Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company
considers all of the independent non-executive Directors are
independent in accordance with the Listing Rules.

Pursuant to article 99 of the New Bye-laws, at each annual general
meeting one-third of the Directors for the time being shall retire from
office by rotation, provided that every Director shall be subject to
retirement at an annual, general meeting at least once every three
years. Mr. Chan Sek Keung, Ringo (executive Director), Ms. Wang
Fang (executive Director) and Mr. David Tsoi (independent non-
executive director) are the Directors, whom, since their last election,
serve the longest in office, or the Directors otherwise agree between
themselves, shall retire from office by rotation at the forthcoming
Annual General Meeting and are eligible to offer themselves for re-
election.
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DIRECTORS (continued)

No Director proposed for re-election at the forthcoming Annual
General Meeting has an unexpired service contract which is not
determinable by the Company or any of its subsidiaries within
one year without payment of compensation, other than statutory
compensation.

DIRECTORS' SERVICE CONTRACTS

Each of executive Directors has entered into a service contract with
the Company for a term of three years. Each of Mr. Chan Sek Keung,
Ringo and Ms. Wang Fang's current service contract was renewed
on 23 December 2021, Mr. Lu Chengye's current service contract
commenced on 29 May 2019, and Mr. Liu Chun Fai's current service
contract commenced on 1 August 2020.

Mr. Wong Tsu Wai, Derek’s (non-executive Director) has entered into
a service contract with the Company for a term of three years, and his
current service contract commenced on 1 August 2019.

Each of Mr. David Tsoi, Mr. Lu, Brian Yong Chen and Mr. Yuen Shiu
Wai (all are independent non-executive Directors) has entered into
a service contract with the Company for a term of three years. The
service contact of Mr. David Tsoi commenced on 14 May 2021. Mr. Lu,
Brian Yong Chen's current service contract renewed on 25 June 2021.
The service contract of Mr. Yuen Shiu Wai commenced on 7 April
2021.

All service contracts with Directors are subject to termination, among
others, by giving not less than three month's written notice.

DIRECTORS' REMUNERATION

The C&B Committee considers and recommends to the Board
the remuneration and other benefits paid by the Company to the
Directors. The remuneration of all Directors is subject to regular
monitoring by the C&B Committee to ensure that the levels of
their remuneration and compensation are appropriate. Details of
Directors’ remuneration are set out in note 8 to the consolidated
financial statements.
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DIRECTORS' BIOGRAPHIES

Biographical details of the Directors are set out on pages 32 to 37 of
this report.

DISCLOSURE OF CHANGE IN INFORMATION ON
DIRECTORS

Pursuant to rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules, the change of
information on Directors is as follows:

Mr. Yuen Shiu Wai was appointed as an independent non-executive
Director of the Company with effect from 7 April 2021.

Mr. Huang Liangkuai resigned as an independent non-executive
Director of the Company with effect from 7 April 2021.

Mr. David Tsoi was appointed as an independent non-executive
Director of the Company with effect from 14 May 2021.

Mr. Wong Chun Sek, Edmund retired as an independent non-
executive Director of the Company with effect from 14 May 2021.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

The Company has maintained appropriate directors and officers
liability insurance and such permitted indemnity provision for
the benefit of the Directors is currently in force and was in force
throughout the year.

DIRECTORS' INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS

No transaction, arrangement or contract of significance to which
the Company, or any of its holding company, subsidiaries or fellow
subsidiaries was a party, and in which a Director and a connected
entity of a Director had a material interest, subsisted at the end of the
year or at any time during the Year.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
i

DIRECTORS' AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES' INTERESTS AND
SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES
AND DEBENTURES

As at 31 December 2021, the interests or short positions of the
Directors and chief executives of the Company in the Shares,
underlying Shares and debentures of the Company or any of its
associated corporation (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFQ)
which were notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant
to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests or
short positions which they were taken or deemed to have under
such provision of the SFO) or which were required to be recorded in
the register required to be kept under Section 352 of the SFO or as
otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant
to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed
Issuers (the "Model Code") as follows:

Interest in Shares and underlying shares of the Company

EFEhR E"ﬁﬁ)\éﬁ"ﬂ%ﬁ ~HERARR
RSN ERRXE

RIBZ_—F+A=+—RH EFKFARTIR
SITHRABRARAHEMEREZEZE (EER
58 75 K BR G R B SEXVER) B 17 ~ AERA R (D I (B 1
HEHFTHEARBRE 5 MG RGIEXVEL 557 %8
DEEMEARB RN ERI KA (B1F
RIEZBFRAERAZRERS FRRE
ENEDI AR AR NRBES KBS
RBIEIS2EREFE 2 B CMAERERA
YIRE L HETAEFETIFXZNRETR
(MRESFA)) BN EARRE MMM S
HEWMT

AT D R ABRARR D PRI

Percentage of

Name of Director

BB

Mr. Chan Sek Keung, Ringo
("Mr. Chan") @I
BB E (TRTE) e

Ms. Wang Fang ("Ms. Wang")2®
ESzEe(ES el

Mr. Liu Chun Fai (“Mr. Liu")®
BERLE (BRE)N®

Mr. Wong Tsu Wai, Derek (“Mr. Wong")©

FTRE (2REDY

(L): Long position

Number of
issued ordinary
Shares held/
interested in

Fiish /A ED
ZEET
&1ip BERUE

Capacity

Interest of controlled corporation 16,504,141 (L)

RiEEEED

Interest of controlled corporation®® =

REEEREOY

Beneficial owner 3,741,650 (L)

BEREBA
Beneficial owner =
BEaEEA

Interest of controlled corporation 15,505,841 (L)

RiEEERD

Interest of controlled corporation®® =

REEEREOY

Beneficial owner =

BmEAA

Beneficial owner =

BmBEAA

Beneficial owner =

BanEAA
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Number of
underlying shares
of the Company
held/interested in

Fiish/ RAED
ZERF
HRRNUE

20,000,000 (L)

106,200 (L)

20,000,000 (L)

430,200 (L)

702,000 (L)

702,000 (L)

the issued
share capital
of the Company
(approximate)
LA AT
BE&{TRA
B (#E49)

19.59%

23.74%

4.44%

0.13%

18.41%

23.74%

0.51%

0.83%

0.83%



DIRECTORS' AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES' INTERESTS AND
SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES

AND

DEBENTURES (continued)

Interest in Shares and underlying shares of the Company

(conti
Notes:

(1)

Save

nued)

Mr. Chan was deemed to be interested in 36,504,141 Shares,
comprising of (i) 35,505,941 Shares held by Smoothly Global Holdings
Limited by virtue of it being owned as to 70% by Mr. Chan and (ii)
998,200 Shares held by Woodstock Management Limited by virtue of it
being owned as to 100% by Mr. Chan.

Ms. Wang was deemed to be interested in 35,505,941 Shares held by
Smoothly Global Holdings Limited by virtue of it being owned as to 20%
by Ms. Wang.

These Shares are the share options granted to Mr. Chan, Ms. Wang, Mr.
Liu and Mr. Wong under the share option schemes of the Company.

These 20,000,000 Shares represented the total number of Shares which
may be allotted and issued to Smoothly Global upon the exercise of the
conversion rights attaching to the Convertible Bond for the aggregate
principal amount of HK$30,000,000 at the initial conversion price of
HKS$1.5 per Share. The exercise of the conversion rights attaching to
the Convertible Bond is subject to the terms and conditions thereof,
including the restriction against conversion which would cause the
Company to be in breach of the minimum public float requirement
under the Listing Rules.

The total number of the issued shares of the Company as at 31
December 2021 (i.e. 84,240,000 shares) had been used for the
calculation of the approximate percentage shareholdings in the
Company.

as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2021, none of the

Directors or chief executives of the Company had or was deemed to

have any interests or short positions in the Shares, underlying Shares

or debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations

(withi
in the
of the
Excha

n the meaning of Part XV of the SFQ), which had been recorded

register maintained by the Company pursuant to section 352
SFO or which had been notified to the Company and the Stock
nge pursuant to the Model Code.
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SEEREETHABRKM HBERG
RERENERRKXE @
EATRGD BRABRARR D PRI (@)

Hiat -
(1) EPAEREEHES Smoothly Global Holdings Limited
2 70%# 5 fzWoodstock Management Limited
Z100%ME % MR E AR 7 7036,504,141
R R #ER # > B23E (i) Smoothly Global
Holdings LimitedFf %75 935,505,941 88 B&% 17 Kz (ii)
Woodstock Management LimitedFfri37/9998,200

BRAR ) °

F 7% £ % #EF Smoothly Global Holdings Limited
220%E 5 M F Z R A Smoothly Global
Holdings LimitedFfr#%7535,505,941 3280 S

TN

fEm o

ZERMBRBEARDBEREAB MRILTE T
L BERERERERLNERE

520,000,0008% B 17 2517 £ 4 A8 §H7330,000,000
AT AR R A A AR R R R R R AR
BERRMN1.5B A # 31T FSmoothly Global
BIRR ) 4B % - 1T FIHR B M B VIR R R B
SEER R BEGERRSI B A ARER
EHRAURBARTREREBIRS

AABIR B2 —F+-_A=+—HEETRH
4820 (BN84,240,0008 12 17) BB LAST A A B B9HE
HMERAD -

BREXAIEBEEN RBE-—F+ZA=+—
B BIEARRNEFURSTHRAEREART R

EAEEREE (& REBSF RS RGIEXVER)
RID - ERERONEEETHEEURSEE DK
BRBERES R ERGSEIS2HFREERERT
FEZELMOEEIRA  WREBRETRIE
MEART) KRB FTEIER KA ©
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
i

ARRANGEMENT FOR DIRECTORS TO PURCHASE
SHARES OR DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed herein, at no time during the Year were rights
to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of Shares in or
debentures of the Company granted to any Director of the Company
or their respective spouses or minor children, or were such rights
exercised by them, or was the Company, its holding company or
any of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangements to enable the
Directors of the Company to acquire benefits by means of the
acquisition of Shares in, or debt securities (including debentures) of
the Company or any other body corporate.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENT

Details of the equity-linked agreement entered into during the Year
or subsisting during the Year are set out in the paragraph headed
“"CONVERTIBLE BOND" above and paragraph headed “Share Option
Schemes" below:

Share Option Schemes

The Company adopted a share option scheme on 25 October 2010
(the "Old Share Option Scheme") for the purpose of enabling
the Company to grant options to selected eligible participants as
incentives or rewards for their contribution to the Group and/or to
enable the Group to recruit and retain high caliber employees and
attract human resources that are valuable to the Group and any
invested entity. The Old Share Option Scheme was valid and effective
for a period of 10 years from 15 November 2010 after which no
further options would be granted or offered. The Old Share Option
Scheme expired on 24 October 2020.

On 3 May 2021, the Board proposed to adopt a new share option
scheme (the "New Share Option Scheme") upon the approval by the
shareholders of the Company (the “Shareholders"”) at the Company's
extraordinary general meeting held on 23 June 2021 (the "EGM").

On 23 June 2021, the Board announced that the New Share Option
Scheme were duly passed by the Shareholders by poll at the EGM.

The summary of the New Share Option Scheme's principal terms was
set out in Appendix Il of the circular of the Company dated 31 May
2021.
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EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENT (continued)

Share Option Schemes (continued)

Eligible participants include the Directors, any employee (whether
full-time or part-time) of the Company, any supplier of goods or
services to, any customer of, and any advisors, consultants, agents
and distributors of any member of the Group.

As at 31 December 2021, 7,020,000 Shares may be issued upon the
exercise of all share options to be granted under the New Share
Option Scheme, representing 10% of the total of 70,200,000 Shares
in issue on the adoption date (i.e. 23 June 2021). On 13 September
2021, options carrying the rights to subscribe for 6,528,600 Shares
under the New Share Option Scheme have been granted, of which
no share options were exercised and no share options were forfeited
or lapsed and 6,528,600 share options were outstanding (entitling
holders thereof to subscribe for up to a total of 6,528,600 Shares,
representing approximately 7.75% of the total number of issued
Shares as at 31 December 2021). No option may be granted to any
eligible participant of the New Share Option Scheme such that the
total number of Shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of the
options granted and to be granted to that person in any 12-month
period up to the date of the latest grant exceeds 1% of the Company's
issued share capital from time to time. For details of the grant of
share options aforementioned, please refer to the announcements of
the Company dated 13 September 2021 and 21 September 2021.

Apart from the New Share Option Scheme, the Company also granted
share options under the Old Share Option Scheme which expired
on 24 October 2020. As at 31 December 2021, 396,000 Shares may
be issued pursuant to the Old Share Option Scheme, representing
approximately 0.47% of the total number of issued Shares as at 31
December 2021.

As at the date of this report, the total number of Shares available for
issue under the Old Share Option Scheme and the New Share Option
Scheme are 6,924,600, representing approximately 5.91% of the
issued share capital of the Company in issue as at that date (after
taking into account of the Capital Reorganisation became effective
on 28 July 2021, the First Placing completed on 6 September 2021
and the Second Placing completed on 11 March 2022).
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WERARRE  UKBAEREIAKE QTR
HERFRFNEAEER BENETATE K
EABHA R REBER Do

N ZEZ—F+ZA=1+—HB  REMBRRE
SRR FIRHNFT B R ETEMm A REEETT
7,020,000 B85 15 IRMBE BN =22 = —
FHRBZ+=R) 287K {H4%(70,200,000%
0% - RIEZ—FHLBE+=H BiREME
REREST B A #EF ] 30 886,528,600 % B% 19
BB RG #E > HAp W T A B AR R T T U
ERERESRBNRAM RITEBREHES
6,528,60017 (FHFHE A B B HELR56,528,600
BEROG WER B2 —F+B=+—HE
BITRMARBNT.T5%) 1T EM T RE AR # 5t
BEAEER2EATEERFRHENERRE
BENHERABREZBIEEA+ @R HE
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PRETEEIG ST RSN ARBINBBEER ZE S
FHAZ+HBAIBNEBRESIRLER
RN _EZ—F+_A=+—H REEEBR
HESHBIPT BEE517396,000/2 R (D 1E & ——
F+__A=1+—HEZETRHBENL0.47%-

RARESEE ERRES S RN BERESE
BTRAHETHRDAEE56,924,60008 > (5K
NEINRZE B ETRANN5.91% @&tk
T —EtA -+ /\BEMWRASH RS
T—FNAAAREHERNE—REEFTERRCZ
ZTF-A+—HERNEZXREESEE) o
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EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENT (continued)

Share Option Schemes (continued)

An option may be exercised in accordance with the terms of the New
Share Option Scheme at any time during a period as determined by
the Board and not exceeding 10 years from the date of the grant.
There is no minimum period for which an option must be held before
it can be exercised.

Participants of the New Share Option Scheme are required to pay
the Company HK$1.00 upon acceptance of the grant on the offer
date. The exercise price of the options is determined by the Board
in its absolute discretion and shall not be less than whichever is the
highest of:

(a) the closing price of the Shares as stated in the Stock Exchange's
daily quotation sheet on the date of the grant, which must be a
trading day;

(b) the average closing price of the Shares as stated in the Stock
Exchange's daily quotation sheet for the five (5) trading days
immediately preceding the date of the grant; and

(c) the parvalue of a Share on the date of grant.
The New Share Option Scheme shall be valid and effective for a

period of 10 years from 23 June 2021 after which no further options
will be granted or offered.
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EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENT (continued)

Share Option Schemes (continued)
Movements of the Old Share Option Scheme during the Year

R FEEREREEEE

Balance Granted Exercised Lapsed Cancelled Balance
asat during during during during asat Exercise
1January  thereporting thereporting  thereporting  thereporting 31 December Price Exercise
List of Grantees 2021 period period period period  Adjustment 2021 HKS  Dateof grant Period
RIB_-%
f2RT-F RESHM REBEER RESEA RESHEA +2R i@ :
ARARE —R-R&# it 1 x4 it St-RER An  RYA# e
Directors
g2
Chan Sek Keung, 720,000 - - - - (684,000) 36,000 360 2511012016 25/102016-
Ringo (Note 1) (Note 3) 25/10/2026
Ri% (1) (H3) (Note2)
Wz2)
Wang Fang 7,200,000 - - - - (6,840,000 360,000 30 2511012016 25/102016-
1% (Note 1) (Note 3) 251012026
Wiz Wi3) (Note2)
W)
Total 1,920,000 - - - - (7,524,000 39,000
i3t (Note4) (Note4)
(i) (Hite)
Notes: Fiat

The closing price of the shares of the Company immediately before the
date on which the options were granted was HK$1.73.

KABRMUWHEREEBRERL BBAAS
1.73% 7T

2. Up to 40% of the options granted (the “First Options”) are exercisable 2. BZ40%EERZERE (SHERE) IR =
during the period from 25 October 2016 to 25 October 2026 (both —RNE+RE+RAEE-_AE+HA-+EAH
days inclusive) (the “First Period"); up to 30% of the options granted (BiEEEMmA) Bl (EHtEm) B17E; 8
(the "Second Options”) (together with the First Options to the extent Z30%EERBERE (TE ZHERE) ERR
the same has not been exercised during the First Period, as the case EHEAERETE SHERE RIERTE) I
may be) are exercisable during the period from 25 October 2017 to RIZ2—tF+AZ+HEHEZZEZRE+A
25 October 2026 (both days inclusive) (the “Second Period"); up to “+EHE (BEEEMA) A (S THUEAR)) &
30% of the options granted (the “Third Options") (together with the 1716 ; RZ30%BEERBERE (TE=HEEREL)
First Options and the Second Options to the extent they have not been (ERPERPERE IR RETEZ it
exercised during the First Period and the Second Period, as the case BRERE_MBRE RBERME) IR _E
may be) are exercisable during the period from 25 October 2018 to 25 —N\FF+E+RHEZZE-ARFE+AZ+EH
October 2026 (both days inclusive) (the “Third Period"). (BiEEREMA) Al (TE=HEHEAM)) BT

3. Due to the Share Consolidation in 2021, the exercise price of the share 3. E_Z_—EMRMPEH BR_Z—XRE+AH
options granted on 25 October 2016 was adjusted from HK$1.7 to “_+EAREBREZITEEDSE1.TETH
HKS$34.0. BEA3L.0BTT 0

4. The share options continue to be capable of exercise during the 4.  1RIRESEEARIESH 8 R 4% A RABE AR B UK RN

prescribed period in accordance with the Old Share Option Scheme and
the terms during the time of granting such share options.

EREDNAIIIEERERTE
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EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENT (continued) EEEMATGE @
Share Option Schemes (continued) fEie st (@)
Movements of the New Share Option Scheme during the Year REFETERIENZIEE)
Balance Balance
asat ENC Exercised Lapsed Cancelled asat
1 January during during during during  31December  Exercise Price
List of Grantees 2021 the Year the Year the Year the Year 2021 HKS  Dateofgrant Exercise Period
RZEZ-F
RIE - : +ZB=1-H 1@
ARALE -B-B&H REEERE REEERE  REEEXN  REEEES i AT sk hicd
Directors
%
Chan Sek Keung, Ringo = 70,200 = = = 70,200 1.486 139201 13/9/201-
Rk (Note 1) 121912025
(1) (Note?)
W)
Wang Fang = 70,200 = = = 70,200 1.486 13912001 13/9/201-
I3 Note 1) 121912025
(1) (Note?)
W#2)
Liu Chun Fai = 702,000 = = = 702,000 1.486 131912001 13/9/201-
BEE (Wote 1) 120912025
(1) (Note?)
W#2)
Wang Tsu Wai, Derek = 702,000 = = = 702,000 1.486 13/9/2021 13/9/2021-
Ry Note 1) 121912025
iz1) (Note2)
W)
Substantial Shareholder
IERR
TinYat Yu, Carol = 70,200 = = = 70,200 1.486 131912001 13/9/201-
B4 (Note 1) 120912025
(1) (Note?)
W#2)
Other participants (Note 3) = 4,914,000 = = = 4,914,000 1.486 13/9/2021 13/9/2021-
Et 88T W3) Note 1) 121912025
iz1) (Note2)
W)
Total = 6,528,600 = = = 6,528,600
f3t
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EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENT (continued)
Share Option Schemes (continued)
Movements of the New Share Option Scheme during the Year

(continued)
Notes:

1. The closing price of the shares of the Company immediately before the
date on which the options were granted was HK$1.40.

2. 50% of the share options are exercisable from 13 September 2021 to
the end of the validity period (i.e. 12 September 2025) (both dates
inclusive); and 50% of the share options are exercisable from 13
September 2022 to the end of the validity period (i.e. 12 September
2025) (both dates inclusive).

(3)  Other participants refer to one supplier of services and six consultants
of the Group who have contributed to the Group in different aspects.
These participants possess extensive experiences, business network
and market connections in their particular sectors which, through
cooperation with these participants, the Group will be able to utilise
their expertise, network and connections to accomplish the long-term
growth and profitability of the Group.

During the Year, no share options were exercised, lapsed or cancelled
under the New Share Option Scheme.

RN ()
FiREE (B
RIFERBR A DED ()

Wit

1. ARBERNEHEREZEREEEDNAS
1.407B7Te

2. S0%MERETR_Z_—FhAt+=HiEA
MWEBEAR BN ZZ2ZAFEAA+ZH) (BFEERE
M B) HARSTE ; R50%ERET N T ==
NWB+=ZHEZEXHBR BIZEZHENA
+ZH) (BEEREMA) PEiTE.

(3) Hth2EALTHERTREEAAEBREHEMD
FEEN—BRBEEE R BEL - ZE2H
ATREBEREHEAEEER BERERKD
BAR AEBBBEZESEALIHNEE &
BESHIRI AR E C EXNH B RARBRAE
EHRAAE RKREFMEES

RAEFE  MBERESSETHERRECET
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E5gHRYE

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS' INTERESTS AND FERRI AR B A8 BA AR 19 B9 2 T 3¢
SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING =

SHARES

So far as is known to any Directors or chief executives of the FIERNEFTHARTARBITHRAEMM R-F
Company, as at 31 December 2021, the persons or corporations _——F+ZB=+—H > RAREKRH RBREK

(other than Directors or chief executives of the Company) who had 7 REAR@m I X B MARERF KA HEM
interest or short positions in the Shares and underlying Shares of the ~ SEXVE552/&%3 70 BIFX A4 A B M EE > LB L
Company which were required to be disclosed to the Company under RiREBFEF R HRAIE336EBEFEZE LM

the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or which ~ BIA L ZUEE (EFHARABRSITHRAERKRIN
were recorded in the register required to be kept under section 336 of ~ ¥01°F :

the SFO were as follows:

Number of Number of Percentage of
issued ordinary underlying the issued
shares of the shares of the share capital of
Company held/ Company held/ the Company
Name of Substantial Shareholders  Capacity interested in interested in (approximate)
e/ BERD  RA/ AR fEAAE
FAREHT P YNGIE L BE{TRA
TERRES g4 LER¥E RIHE BAL #4)
Smoothly Global Holdings Limited ~ Beneficial owner™ 15,505,941 (L) = 18.41%

(“Smoothly Global") EnkEa Al
Beneficial owner® S 20,000,000 (L) 23.74%

BHEEAY
Woodstock Management Limited Beneficial owner®? 998,200 (L) = 1.18%

("Woodstock Management") BEaEAA?
Ms. Tin Yat Yu, Carol Beneficial owner 9,351,400 (L) S 11.10%

A—fFxt BE@BEAA
Beneficial owner S 70,200 (L) 0.08%
BE@BEAA
(L): Long position (L):F2
Notes: miaE

(1) These 15,505,941 Shares are held by Smoothly Global, a company (1) 515,505,941 %15 HFiSmoothly GlobaliF 5 > %

incorporated in the British Virgin Islands with limited liability and is REBNEBERREESTMAIINERAE
70% and 20% owned by Mr. Chan Sek Keung, Ringo and Ms. Wang Fang R85 4 e £ 5 D BIHER 70%5220%
respectively. g

(2)  These 998,200 Shares are held by Woodstock Management, a company ~ (2)  #%5998,2008% & {7 FBWoodstock Management#
incorporated in the British Virgin Islands with limited liability and is B ZARAREBERREESSMMAIINER
100% owned by Mr. Chan Sek Keung, Ringo. RE] M AR TR ST HER 100%E 5 ©
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS' INTERESTS AND
SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING
SHARES (CONTINUED)

Notes: (continued)

(3)  These 20,000,000 Shares represented the total number of Shares which
may be allotted and issued to Smoothly Global upon the exercise of the
conversion rights attaching to the Convertible Bond for the aggregate
principal amount of HK$30,000,000 at the initial conversion price of
HK$1.5 per Share. The exercise of the conversion rights attaching to
the Convertible Bond is subject to the terms and conditions thereof,
including the restriction against conversion which would cause the
Company to be in breach of the minimum public float requirement
under the Listing Rules.

(4)  The total number of the issued shares of the Company as at 31
December 2021 (i.e. 84,240,000 shares) had been used for the
calculation of the approximate percentage shareholdings in the
Company.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2021, the Directors are
not aware of any other person or corporation (other than Directors
or chief executives of the Company) having an interest or short
position in the Shares and underlying Shares which would require to
be recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company under
section 336 of the SFO.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the Directors as at the date of this
Report, the Company has maintained the prescribed public float of
not less than 25% of the Company's issued shares as required under
the Listing Rules during the year ended 31 December 2021.

CONTRACTS WITH CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS
Save as disclosed in this report, no contract of significance has been
entered into between the Company or any of its subsidiaries and the
then controlling Shareholders or any of their subsidiaries, at any time
during the year ended 31 December 2021.
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(3)  £20,000,00082 B3 15 1T {2 £ 488 430,000,000
7T B0 PTHA IR A 35 I 75 BV HA AR A 18 PTHR AN UA A PR
EERRMH1.587TAC 3 K3 17 FSmoothly Global
BIRG 19 4R % o 1T PTHARR B 5 I B R AR 78
SFEMGR G BEH RS R AABIER
L HRAREARERERENRH
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REPORT OLTHE DIRECTORS

BHE

DIRECTORS' INTEREST IN COMPETING BUSINESS

None of the Directors is or was interested in any business apart from
the Group's business, that competes or competed or is or was likely
to compete, either directly or indirectly, with the Group's business
at any time during the year ended 31 December 2021 and up to and
including the date of this report.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

All related party transactions disclosed in note 38 to the consolidated
financial statements did not constitute connected transaction or
continuing connected transaction of the Company subject to, among
other things, reporting, announcement or independent shareholders’
approval requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.
The related party transactions under the paragraph headed
"Compensation of key management personnel of the Group” in note
38(e) to the consolidated financial statements were exempted from
reporting, announcement and independent shareholders’ approval
requirements pursuant to Rule 14A.73(6) of the Listing Rules.
The Company has complied with the disclosure requirements in
accordance with Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

As at 31 December 2021, cash and bank balances (excluding pledged
deposits) of the Group amounted to approximately RMB54.9 million
(2020: approximately RMB76.1 million). Details of such are set out in
note 25 to the consolidated financial statements.

As at 31 December 2021, the total interest-bearing bank and other
borrowings of the Group amounted to approximately RMB49.3 million
(2020: approximately RMB48.2 million), among which approximately
RMB29.3 million (2020: approximately RMB41.2 million) was
unsecured and guaranteed by a director of the Company. As at 31
December 2021, the interest-bearing bank and other borrowings
of RMB24.9 million (2020: approximately RMB17.6 million) carried
at fixed interest rates and approximately RMB24.4 million (2020:
approximately RMB30.6 million) carried at floating interest rates.
Details of such are set out in note 29 to the consolidated financial
statements.
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EVENT AFTER THE END OF THE REPORTING PERIOD
Save as disclosed in note 42 to the consolidated financial statements,
there was no other significant subsequent event undertaken by the
Group subsequent to 31 December 2021 and up to the date of this
report.

HUMAN RESOURCES

As at 31 December 2021,
(2020: 256).
Group is determined on the basis of their merit, qualifications and

the Group employed 285 employees
The emolument policy of the employees of the

competence. The Company adopted the New Share Option Scheme
to provide incentive to its senior management and employees. Please
refer to the paragraphs headed “Share Option Scheme” in this report
for details of such scheme.

For the year ended 31 December 2021, the total staff costs
(including directors' remuneration) amounted to approximately
RMB68.8 million (2020: approximately RMB54.4 million). The
Company maintains a New Share Option Scheme for the purpose of
providing incentives and rewards to the eligible participants for their
contributions to the Group.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group
for the past five financial years is set out in the section of Financial
Summary on pages 9 to 14 of this report.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the New Bye-
Laws or the laws of the Bermuda, being the jurisdiction in which the
Company was continued, which would oblige the Company to offer
new Shares to existing Shareholders on a pro-rata basis.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF LISTED
SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold or
redeemed any of the Company's listed securities during the year
ended 31 December 2021.
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ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

The Annual General Meeting will be held on 23 May 2022 (Monday)
and the notice of Annual General Meeting will be published and
despatched to Shareholders in due course.

AUDITORS

The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year
ended 31 December 2021 have been audited by BDO Limited.

BDO Limited will retire and, being eligible, offer themselves for
reappointment. A resolution for the re-appointment of BDO Limited
as auditors of the Company will be proposed at the forthcoming
Annual General Meeting.

By order of the Board
Chan Sek Keung, Ringo
Chairman and CEO

Hong Kong
31 March 2022
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

|IBDO

FEE © +852 2218 8288
{5H : +852 2815 2239

Tel : +852 2218 8288
Fax: +852 2815 2239
www.bdo.com.hk

BIREEMES

25t Floor Wing On Centre
111 Connaught Road Central

Hong Kong
FETHEEPI15R
KRHID2518

www.bdo.com.hk

To the Shareholders of Investech Holdings Limited
EEIZERBRAE

(incorporated in the Cayman Islands and continued in Bermuda with
limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of InvesTech
Holdings Limited (the "Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group")
set out on pages 89 to 252, which comprise the consolidated
statement of financial position as at 31 December 2021, and the
consolidated statement of profit or loss, the consolidated statement
of comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in
equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then
ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including
a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly,
in all material respects, of the consolidated financial position of
the Group as at 31 December 2021, and of its consolidated financial
performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended
in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards
("IFRSs") and have been properly prepared in compliance with the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing ("HKSAs") issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants ("HKICPA"). Our responsibilities under those
standards are further described in the "Auditor's Responsibilities
for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements” section of
our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the
HKICPA's “Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants” (the "Code”),
and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance
with the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

B BMEmERS

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period. These matters were
addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do
not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

Impairment assessment of goodwill
Refer to notes 3 and 15 to the consolidated financial statements and
the accounting policies on pages 112 to 114.

As at 31 December 2021, the net carrying amount of the Group's
goodwill amounted to RMB135.0 million.

Based on management's impairment testing, goodwill was allocated
to the network system integration cash-generating unit (“CGU"), and
the recoverable amount of the CGU was determined based on value
in use calculation carried out by an independent professional valuer
using cash flow projections. Significant judgement is involved to
determine the key inputs and assumptions used in the calculation of
value in use of the CGU.
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" INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Impairment assessment of goodwill (continued)

We identified impairment assessment of goodwill as a key audit
matter because of the management's significant judgement and
high level of estimation uncertainty involved in the determination of
the recoverable amount, and the net carrying amount of goodwill is
significant to the Group's consolidated financial statements.

Our response:

o Evaluated the reasonableness of key inputs and assumptions
used in the cash flow projections, which include budgeted
revenue growth rates, long term growth rate, budgeted gross
margins and discount rate;

L Checked the arithmetic accuracy of the cash flow projections
used in the value in use calculation;

. Evaluated the reasonableness of disclosures related to
goodwill impairment assessment in the consolidated financial
statements; and

o Evaluated the competence, capabilities and objectivity of the
independent professional valuer used by management.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
BIZHBEMHRS

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Fair value measurement of an unlisted equity investment
Refer to notes 3, 18 and 40 to the consolidated financial statements
and the accounting policies on page 126.

The Group held an unlisted equity investment as at 31 December
2021, the fair value of which was estimated by management to be
RMBA40.1 million. Such unlisted equity investment was classified as a
financial asset at fair value through other comprehensive income.

Management engaged an independent professional valuer to
assess the fair value of the above unlisted equity investment as at
31 December 2021. The fair value of the unlisted equity investment
was determined based on a number of valuation techniques and
unobservable inputs, the selection of which requires the exercise of
significant judgement.

We identified fair value measurement of an unlisted equity
investment as a key audit matter because of the significant
judgement and high level of estimation uncertainty involved in the
determination of fair value, and the carrying amount and fair value
change during the year of such investment are significant to the
Group's consolidated financial statements.

Our response:

o Evaluated the reasonableness of selection of valuation
techniques, as well as those key assumptions and data used
in the fair value determination of the investment, with the
assistance of our valuation specialist;

o Evaluated the reasonableness of disclosures related to the fair
value measurement of the unlisted equity investment in the
consolidated financial statements; and

e Evaluated the competence, capabilities and objectivity of the

independent professional valuer used by management and our
valuation specialist.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Impairment assessment of trade receivables

Refer to notes 3, 21 and 41 to the consolidated financial statements
and the accounting policies on pages 128 to 130.

As at 31 December 2021, the Group had trade receivables, net of loss
allowance for impairment, of RMB195.1 million, which represented
29.8% of the total assets of the Group. Net impairment of these
financial assets amounted to RMB1.1 million for the year ended 31
December 2021.

The estimation of expected credit losses (“ECLs") for trade
receivables requires management's significant judgement and
involves high level of estimation uncertainty.

Specific factors, such as ageing of the balances, existence of
disputes, past collection history, historical loss rates, forward-
looking information and any other reasonable and supportable
information available concerning the creditworthiness of
counterparties, would be considered during the estimation.
Management engaged an independent professional valuer to assist
with the estimation of ECLs.

We identified impairment assessment of trade receivables as a key
audit matter because of the significant judgement and high level of
estimation uncertainty involved, and the aggregate carrying amount
of the trade receivables is significant to the Group's consolidated
financial statements.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
BIZBEES

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)
Impairment assessment of trade receivables (continued)
Our response:

o Evaluated the appropriateness of estimation techniques used,
as well as the reasonableness of inputs and assumptions
used, to determine the ECLs. This includes assessment on the
groupings of customer categories under the provision matrix
used to estimate the ECL for trade receivables, accuracy
and relevancy of the historical loss rates and whether they
are reasonably adjusted based on recent loss experience
and forward-looking factors specific to the debtors, and the
realisable value of collaterals where appropriate;

e Checked the arithmetic accuracy of the calculation of ECLs;

o Evaluated the reasonableness of disclosures related to the ECL
estimation in the consolidated financial statements; and

o Evaluated the competence, capabilities and objectivity of the
independent professional valuer used by management.

OTHER INFORMATION IN THE ANNUAL REPORT

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other
information comprises the information included in the Company's
annual report, but does not include the consolidated financial
statements and our auditor's report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent
with the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge
obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.
If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is
a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to
report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.
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DIRECTORS' RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation and fair
presentation of these consolidated financial statements in
accordance with IFRSs and the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control
as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation
of consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group's ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors
either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no
realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors are also responsible for overseeing the Group's
financial reporting process. The Audit Committee assists the
directors in discharging their responsibility in this regard.

AUDITOR'S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's
report that includes our opinion. This report is made solely to you,
as a body, in accordance with section 90 of the Bermuda Companies
Act 1981, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility
towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this
report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if,
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these
consolidated financial statements.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
BIZBEES

AUDITOR'S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise

professional judgement and maintain professional skepticism

throughout the audit. We also:

86

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations,
or the override of internal control.

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Group's internal control.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors' use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt
on the Group's ability to continue as a going concern. If we
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to
draw attention in our auditor's report to the related disclosures
in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures
are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our
auditor's report. However, future events or conditions may
cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.
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AUDITOR'S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent
the underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities within
the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision
and performance of the group audit. We remain solely
responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other

matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant

audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal

control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we

have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding

independence, and to communicate with them all relationships

and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our

independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate

threats or safeguards applied.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

B BMEmERS

AUDITOR'S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
From the matters communicated with the directors, we determine
those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period and are
therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our
auditor's report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report
because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably
be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

BDO Limited

Certified Public Accountants
Tang Tak Wah

Practising Certificate no. P06262

Hong Kong, 31 March 2022
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS
SAERR

2021
B

RMB'000
AR¥Tx

2020
etk &
RMB'000
ARBT7

(Re-presented)
(KER)

CONTINUING OPERATION FEEEER
REVENUE WA 5 484,598 469116
Cost of sales THE RS (427,490) (417,849)
Gross profit EF] 57,108 51,267
Other income and gains EARA R Wz 5 5,252 6,027
Selling and distribution expenses HERDHEFEZ (25,806) (25,942)
Administrative expenses G (54,359) (48,647)
Other expenses, net Hith 2 B8 (100) (516)
Impairment of goodwill BERE 5 = (57,612)
(Impairment losses)/reversal of impairment THEE (HEHR) /
losses of financial assets, net _ BERERLERE (1,136) 71
Finance costs =% 7 (3,007) (2,926)
LOSS BEFORE TAX PR RSR 6 (22,048) (78,278)
Income tax expense PRSI 10 (281) (384)
Loss for the year from continuing operation REFELEEHMN
FEHE (22,329) (78,662)
DISCONTINUED OPERATION B
Profit/(loss) for the year from discontinued REERIEEEBH
operation EEEN,/ (B58) 1,329 (8,024)
LOSS FOR THE YEAR FERHE (21,000) (86,686)
(Loss)/profit attributable to: LUT & 7 FEfh (6518) /& F) -
Owners of the parent SYNSI PN
- From continuing operation —REFEEEXE (18,176) (75,027)
- From discontinued operation —REBERIERS T 1,329 (8,024)
(16,847) (83,051)
Non-controlling interests gD
- From continuing operation —REFEREE (4,153) (3,635)
(21,000) (86,686)
(Re-presented)
(KER)
(LOSS)/EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE 82 F%HB AEESHK
TO OWNERS OF THE PARENT (5518) /& 12

From continuing and discontinued operation
- Basic and diluted

REFERCRILEEET
—EARKE#E

(RMB21.03 cents)

(RMB109.18 cents)

(NE#21.0373) (AK109.18%)
From continuing operation REFBECEES

- Basic and diluted —HAKEE (RMB22.69 cents)  (RMB98.63 cents)
(AR 1522.6997) (AR 1£98.637)

From discontinued operation REBRIEEEEE
- Basic and diluted —EAREE RMB1.66 cents (RMB10.55 cents)
AR#1.66% (AE10.55%)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

FEEENmER

For the year ended 31 December 2021
BE T —F+_A=+—HUIFE

LOSS FOR THE YEAR

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME/(LOSS)

Other comprehensive income/(loss) that
may be reclassified to profit or loss
in subsequent periods:
Exchange differences on translation of
foreign operations
Recycle of exchange differences upon
disposal of foreign operations

Other comprehensive loss that

will not be reclassified to profit or loss

in subsequent periods:

Exchange differences on translation of
the Company's financial statements
into presentation currency

Changes in fair value of financial asset

at fair value through other comprehensive

income

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE LOSS
FOR THE YEAR

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE LOSS
FOR THE YEAR

Total comprehensive loss
attributable to:
Owners of the parent
Non-controlling interests

90 InvesTech Holdings Limited & :iZRR B R A F

FEBE

Hith2mukas ~ (5518)

AR ER RS D18
IBMAYE M2
Wz~ (B538) :

BB INHZEFE
PER AR

HH 5 SN B 25 755 e [ L B S22 BA

REZHB AP S D48

BBV E M2 E

[&518 :

MERAB M FHIRE
mEHNEEZ
PERAE%R

B BEEsT A EAM
E2EWEEREEN
RAEEEE

FEEMEEESE

FEEEEHERE

=Vl
EHEEBIEERE
[SYNCIEZZ= DN
JEFE SR

2021 2020
—E_—F BT I
RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTT AREFT
(21,000) (86,686)
26,064 21,848
(657) -
25,407 21,848
(27,083) (24,489)
(70,992) (271,491)
(98,075) (295,980)
(72,668) (274,132)
(93,668) (360,818)
(89,437) (356,994)
(4,231) (3,824)
(93,668) (360,818)




CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
SAMBIRRR

2021 2020
T —ETEHF
RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETT
NON-CURRENT ASSETS IEREBEE
Property, plant and equipment MZE-BEREE 13 1,995 1,044
Right-of-use assets FRESE 14 17,824 2,963
Goodwill 5t 15 134,952 134,952
Other intangible assets HthErEE 16 78,448 98,691
Deferred tax assets FIERIEE & 17 3,718 3,650
Financial asset at fair value through BARBEST AEM
other comprehensive income 2EWENEREE 18 40,086 111,078
Loan receivables W ER 19 - 1,749
Total non-current assets BB EMRE 277,023 354,127
CURRENT ASSETS RBEE
Inventories E& 20 17,320 12,648
Trade and bills receivables B 5 M ERE R 21 208,047 199,575
Loan receivables FERER 19 1,749 14,783
Interest receivables FEUWHI S - 149
Prepayments, other receivables and FAATRIE ~ HA UL
other assets MIARHEME E 22 55,195 42,916
Equity investment at fair value through BAnBE ABmD
profit or loss BAIEE 23 2,880 999
Debt investment at fair value through BARBES AB@m
profit or loss HNEHKRE 24 12,530 13,055
Pledged deposits [EEiiEEE 25 25,765 6,090
Cash and cash equivalents RERIREEEY 25 54,920 76,128
Total current assets MBIBEEEE 378,406 366,343

ANNUAL REPORT 2021 — & = —FF 3R 91



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
REMBRRE

For the year ended 31 December 2021
P —F ——Ff+_H=+—HIFE

2021 2020
& EZTEF
RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBETT AR®T T
CURRENT LIABILITIES mEafE
Trade payables B S RIE 26 174,832 161,709
Contract liabilities =1 =RE 27 25,833 23,284
Other payables and accruals HMENTIEREFTER 28 25,047 35,413
Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings 5t 8 R1T K& E A& 29 36,347 46,184
Tax payable e IE 14,877 13,196
Total current liabilities BB EAEEE 276,936 279,786
NET CURRENT ASSETS mENEEFE 101,470 86,557
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES B EAEREI&E 378,493 440,684
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES ERBEE
Contract liabilities aHEaE 27 2,831 3,344
Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings &t 8 $R17 & E ik 29 12,921 1,991
Convertible bond AIARES 35 21,672 -
Deferred tax liabilities EIERIEE B 17 11,768 14,805
Total non-current liabilities IERB B ([EAE%R 49,192 20,140
Net assets BEFE 329,301 420,544
EQUITY HEwm
Equity attributable to owners of the parent  BFA B A A FE(GE R
Issued capital BT 30 5,464 188,710
Reserves #E 32 317,286 182,389
322,750 371,099
Non-controlling interests JEPEH R 6,551 49,445
Total equity TR 4B EE 329,301 420,544
On behalf of the board REEEG
Chan Sek Keung, Ringo Liu Chun Fai
PR 758 BEEiE
Director Director
X EE
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
FEEmEHR

BE_F_—F+ _F=+—HIFE

Attributable to owners of the parent

BRAREAES

Foreign
Share Share Convertible  Statutory Fair  currency Non-
Issued Share  Contributed option Special award Other  bond equity surplus value  translation Accumulated controlling Total

capital  premium  surplus(e)  reserve reserve(a)  reserve reserve(b) reserve(d) reservelc)  reserve  reserve losses Total  interests equity

gA EBRE RIVER IRk EERR  AARE
BEfTRE RGER  BEE) ffE HRlEfE) i RtEEG) EEERG  BRECO B ERER  RdSE Bt FEHEE  RESR

RMBOO)  RMBOOO  RMBOOD  RMBOOO  RMBOOD  RMBOOD  RMBOOO  RMBOD  RMBOOO  RMBOOD  RMBOOO  RMBOOD  RMBOO  RMBOIO  RMBOI
ABRTT ARRTR ARRTr ARBTR ARETR ARETR ARETR ARMTR ARWTR ARRTr ARRTR ARRTR ARETR ARHTR ARRTR

A1 Janary 2071 = 108700 65012 SR 6 2B (147 S0 (Me2) (415 (6SE) AN AMS 05k
Loss for the year EEFR - - - - - - - - - - - (16,867)  (16,847) (6,153)  (21,000)
Other comprehensive incomel loss) for  EEEM2E

the year: W&/ (58

Exchange differences ontranslation  EESNEEH 2 EREE

of foreign operations o © © o o o © o o 2 26,162 o 26,142 (18) 26,064
Exchange differences on translation - EAATHHRRA

of the Company's financial B ERER

statementsinto presentation

currency - - - - - - o o c - () - (0m) - (1,0m3)
Recycleof exchange differences ~ HENEXBREMERZR

upon disposal of foreign

operations - - - - - - - - - - (657) - (657) - (657)
Change in fair value of

afinancial asset at i

fair value through other LAEEED NERE

comprehensive income,

net of tax - = = = = o = = = (10992) O O (10992) = (10992)
Total comprehensive loss ERREFREE

forthe year - - - - - - - - - (10,992) (1,59)  (16847)  (89,437) (6,231)  (93,668)
Cancellation of share premium - (650120 625012 = = = = = = = = =

Capitalreorganisation (note 30(a)) (184,152) - 18182 - - - - - - - - - - - -
Issue of share (note 30(b)) ( 908 13,569 - - - - - - - - - - 164,455 - 14,455
Share ssue expenses (note30(b)) ~ SIAE TR (H30(b)) - (419) - - - - - - - - - - (419) - (419)
Equity-settled share option NEGEE BRE - - - 218 - - - - - - - - 278 - 2743
Contribution from non-controlling REFERERRLE

interests o o o o o o o o o o o e o 1378 1318
Acquisition of non-controlling interest  WEEFE R R = - = = = = 14,256 10,113 = = = = 24369 (46061) (21,672
At31 December 2021 RIFZ-f&

5,464 13,070% 809, 164* 9,047 61,064* 2,073 6763*  0113*  31.062¢  (S9.904)  (11413)*  (S3763)* 322,750 6551 329301
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

REEmEFR

For the year ended 31 December 2021

AEE =S T - — /5 = S— o) rsim)e=s

Attributable to owners of the parent

BRAREE AE(
Foreign Retained
Share Share Statutory Fair  currency profits/ Non-
Issued Share option Special award Other surplus value translation (accumulated controlling Total
capital  premium reserve  reserve(a) reserve reserve(b)  reserve(c) reserve reserve losses) Total interests equity
fElE RS EERE  ARMEE REER/
BEfTRE  RAEE (O] R HtEE) ff(c) fE  EREE  (RHER & FEbEE  EEeE
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBBTR ARETT ARETRT ARETR ARETR AREBTT ARKTR ARMTR ARETT ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETR
At1January 2020 RZZ2Z2E-A-H 188,710 625,012 6,304 61,064 2,073 (7,473) 29,282 (217,431) (7,363) 47915 728,093 53,269 781,362
Loss for the year FEFR S = = = = = = = = (83,051) (83,051) (3,635) (86,686)
Other comprehensive income/  SFEEHMIZE
(loss) for the year. Wit/ (6518)
Exchange differenceson  BESNEIXBZERER
translation of foreign
operations = = = = = = = = 22,037 = 22,037 (189) 21,848
Exchange differences BRERRRRBRRS
ontranslation of the 2IERZERER
Company's financial
statementsinto
presentation currency = = o = o = = = (24,489) = (24,489) o (24,489)
Changeinfairvalueof — #ARAEESALM
afinancial asset at PERGNEREEN
fairvalue throughother  AR(BELE) MIHE
comprehensive income,
net of tax - - - - - - - (271,491) - - (211,491) - (211,491)
Total comprehensiveloss ~ FE2EFBEER
for the year - - - - - - - (271,491) (2,452) (83,051) (356,994) (3,824) (360,818)
Transfer from accumulated  ERREHHA
losses - - - - - - 1,780 - = (1,780) = = o
At31 December 2020 St . 2:3
+ZRA=+-H 188,710 625,012 6,304* 61,004* 2,073* (T.473)% 31,062 (488,922)* (9.815)*  (36916)* 371,099 49,445 420,544
& These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated reserves of  * ZERBREBVERAUBRRNRANGS
RMB317,286,000 (2020: RMB182,389,000) in the consolidated HBARK317,286,000c (ZEZZTF: ARK

statement of financial position.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHAngES___IN EQUITY

Notes:

(a)

(b)

(c)

(d)

(e)

Special reserve
The balances as at 31 December 2021 and 2020 mainly represent:

(i) the difference between the nominal amount of the shares issued
by the parent and the aggregate amount of paid-in capital of the
subsidiaries acquired pursuant to the group reorganisation of the
Company in 2008; and

(ii)  the excess, amounting to RMB13,330,000, of the consideration
paid by the parent for the acquisition of a subsidiary over the
consideration paid by Mr. Chi Shaolin, the then controlling
shareholder of the Company, for the acquisition of the subsidiary
from a third party.

Other reserve

Other reserve arose from acquisitions of non-controlling interests in
subsidiaries or disposals of interests in subsidiaries and represents the
difference between the amount by which the non-controlling interests
are adjusted and the fair value of the consideration paid or received on
transactions with equity owners in the capacity as equity holders that
result in changes in ownership interests while retaining control.

Statutory surplus reserve

As stipulated by the relevant laws and regulations for enterprises
in the People's Republic of China (the "PRC"), the Company's PRC
subsidiaries are required to maintain a statutory surplus reserve fund
which is non-distributable. The appropriations to such reserve are
made out of net profit after tax of the statutory financial statements
of the relevant PRC subsidiaries. The statutory surplus reserve fund
can be used to make up prior year losses, if any, and can be applied in
conversion into capital by means of capitalisation issue.

Convertible bond equity reserve
Convertible bond equity reserve represents amount of the equity
component of convertible bond issued by the Company.

Contributed surplus

The Company cancelled the entire amount standing to the credit
of the share premium and to transfer the credits arising from such
cancellation to an account designated as the contributed surplus
account of the Company before the change of domicile from the
Cayman Islands to Bermuda becoming effective, i.e. 7 July 2021.

Mt -

(a)

(b)

(c)

(d)

(e)

FEEDEHR

For the year ended 31 December 2021
BE_E - F=+—HIFFE

LN
B —ER-EEE+RA=+—HZE
BREE4E !

(i) BREMETRANEEEREEAQRRN
“ERN\FETERSEMEERB AR
BHENEZEANELR ; &

(i) BraxlE—TENBABMPRERE
NEERIIERRERBOMAEENRE=5
WENBARRAMTREZHZEEAR
#513,330,0007T ©

H 6

HithEE R BRI B A B IREREm SN
ENBAR KRG WISAREZ FEREm#ER
HDRERAEANS N RAREMAEETRZH
NENREWRABAREZBZEZ3 ZEX7
HEFr A DB R LRI

EEEERHEE

FREE ANRHEFE (THRE) EXAVRRERRIER
RIE > A B P EIM B A B AFRES A 2K A
EERFRERET - ZZ BB E FEE R
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FEESIARBREEFERE WA) > L
NERMEETHARBRAE R
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“—FtRAtH AiEHERMDEEZEMNERS
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AR BB RIR
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
HAELRERE

For the year ended 31 December 2021
BE T A =+—HIEE

2021 2020
B 5 —ETEF
RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBT T AREEFT
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES R B & & E BN IR & i 2
(Loss)/profit before tax: SRR (8518) m Al
From continuing operation REFBRSEER (22,048) (78,278)
From a discontinued operation RE BRI S KR 1,329 (8,016)
Adjustments for: hoIRIE A% .
Finance costs LS A A 7 3,007 2,926
Bank interest income SRITA S UL A 5 (239) (419)
Finance income on the net investment in HEREFEELDN
alease BBEWA 5 (225) (389)
Depreciation of property, plant and Mz~ B R R EITE
equipment 6 876 1,089
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FRESERE 6 5,775 5,285
Fair value (gain)/losses, net: @@%Tﬁ (Cs=0g 7
TPEE
Equity investment at fair value through AR EEs ABa
profit or loss Z A E 6 (1,948) 188
Debt investment at fair value through BARBES A
profit or loss _ BmEBRE 5 (1,364) (1,607)
Government grants released to the STABERZ
statement of profit or loss 2 S B ARG 5 - (3,295)
Amortisation of other intangible assets Hhm i & ey 6 20,243 20,245
Impairment loss/(reversal of impairment & 7 FEURIE BE
losses) of trade receivables, net E518 7 (RERS1E
(o)) =88 6 1,136 (71)
Impairment losses of other loan H W ERORE
receivables B398 34 = 9,367
Reversal of write-down of provision for MEELFEERESR
inventories to net realisable value B EIRE(E 6 (2,608) (1,360)
Impairment of goodwill P E R E 6 - 57,612
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HEM B AR 34 (1,296) -
Cumulative loss on foreign currency HERE QTR
translation reserve upon disposal of PE O 1 R 5t 1E
subsidiaries 34 657 =
Share based payments DB AR 75 BRI TR 31 925 =
4,220 3,271
(Increase)/decrease in inventories E5 0gm b (2,064) 1,593
(Increase)/decrease in trade and bills SR ES YU e
receivables ogm omb (9,608) 10,503
(Increase)/decrease in prepayments, other  FE{JFRIE ~ ELfthFEUL
receivables and other assets TRIE K H A S E
({gam R (10,469) 10,827
Decrease in loan receivables EWERL 2,497 5,939
(Increase)/decrease in interest receivables  FEUF] S (GE0) 8> (46) 194
Increase/(decrease) in trade payables B ENIE
120, GRi) 13,123 (9,206)
Increase/(decrease) in contract liabilities ~ S#YEEIE M, (F/L) 2,036 (600)
(Decrease)/increase in other payables and ~ ELfthfE(T =018 K fE 5+ &
accruals GR350 (3,675) 1,625
Increase in government grants AT Fe B 3 N - 3,295
Cash (used in)/generated from operations 4% (FrfB) /Fr8IR & (3,986) 27,447
Interest paid [EXREIS (3,007) (2,926)
Income taxes paid BENFTER (1,714) (4,604)
Net cash flows (used in)/from operating T (FTA) s
activities REME P (8,707) 19,917
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CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES KRB EEBIIRE NS

Interest received

Purchases of items of property, plant and
equipment

Proceeds from disposal of subsidiaries,
net of cash

Interest from debt investment at fair value
through profit or loss

(Increase)/decrease in pledged deposits

Net cash flows (used in)/from investing
activities

B WH S
ﬁ%ﬁ%% TR 5=

=

HE
HEMBAE (N A)

%ﬁc’&ﬁfﬁf@uﬂk}a 2By
BHRENFE
BiRiEER (21 /)

REEE FrA) /Fris
REMEFEE

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES KRBt E ;EENIIREHE

New bank and other borrowings

Repayments of bank and other borrowings

Repayments of lease payments

Proceeds from issue of shares

Share issue expenses

Capital contribution from non-controlling
interest

(Decrease)/increase in loans from a director

Net cash flows used in financing activities

NET (DECREASE)/INCREASE IN CASH AND

CASH EQUIVALENTS
Cash and cash equivalents at
beginning of year

Effect of foreign exchange rate changes, net

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT
END OF YEAR

ANALYSIS OF BALANCES OF CASH AND
CASH EQUIVALENTS

Cash and cash equivalents as stated
in the consolidated statement of
financial position

¥ﬁi‘fEﬁ)§’zHT&Taﬂ
BEIRTT M EME
BEEBENR
RRADHITPIIS IR

BRI ETRX
REIFEREDAIHE

RE—ZHEBEHNEM
GRiZb) /1810

B E A
Rehie 2

RERAS LAY
[CE T
EHS RRSEEY

SNEEREFR B PR

FRESRREEEY

R RIS LAY
iR iR \
REERBRRRSIR
BeRHSZEY

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

FERHERER

For the year ended 31 December 2021
BE_E - F=+—HIFFE

2021 2020
T % TEZTEF

Notes RMB'000 RMB'000
KitaE ARETT AREFT
239 419
(1,846) (648)

34 13,354 =
1,472 -

(19,675) 24,928

(6,456) 24,699

42,073 48,146
(53,975) (57,447)
(7,636) (7,341)

14,455 -

(479) =

7,378 -

(6,683) 789
(4,867) (15,853)

(20,030) 28,763

76,128 48,781
(1,178) (1,416)

54,920 76,128

25 54,920 76,128
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CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION

InvesTech Holdings Limited (the "Company”) was incorporated
in the Cayman Islands on 16 November 2007 as an exempted
company with limited liability and its shares are listed on the
Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(the “Stock Exchange”). The Company announced on 3 May
2021 that the Company proposed to change the domicile of
the Company from the Cayman Islands to Bermuda by way of
deregistration in the Cayman Islands and continuation as an
exempted company under the laws of Bermuda. The changes
become effective on 7 July 2021 (Bermuda time). The address
of the registered office of the Company has been changed from
P.0. Box 31119 Grand Pavilion, Hibiscus Way, 802 West Bay
Road, Grand Cayman, KY1-1205, Cayman Islands to Canon's
Court, 22 Victoria Street, Hamilton, HM 12, Bermuda after the
change of domicile. The Company's principal place of business
in Hong Kong is Room 1201, 12/F, C C Wu Building, 302-308
Hennessy Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong.

The Company is an investment holding company. The Company
and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”)
are principally engaged in the provision of network system
integration including the provision of network infrastructure
solutions, network professional services and smart office
software solutions, and the network equipment rental
business. During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group
had discontinued its money lending business.

InvesTech Holdings Limited &zl =8 B IR A E
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CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION (continued) 1.

Information about subsidiaries
Particulars of the Company's principal subsidiaries are as

follows:

Fortune Grace Management
Limited" (“Fortune Grace")
(Note)

Fortune Grace Management
Limited" (I Fortune Grace ] )

if=2

Wafer Systems Limited
BERRBRATE

Wafer Systems
(China) Limited
BERG (FE) BRAH

Beijing Wafer New Century
Information Technology Co.,
Ltd. **

("Beijing Wafer")

IR F AL B ARl
BRAR* (UREE )

Wafer Network Systems
(Shan hai) Co., Ltd. *"
EERBABRAFBRAT

Wafer (Xi'an) Software Co., Ltd.

**# ("Xi'an Wafer")
BEE (%) MERRAT
(TFAREEE )

Wafer Systems (Asia) Limited
BERG () BRAH

Wafer Systems
(Vietnam) Co., Ltd.
("Vietnam Wafer")
R (HE) BRAF
(T mE R 2 )

Chunlin Group Limited
BEREEBRAR

Place of incorporation/
registration and

Issued ordinary/
registered share

business capital
M BRTHE,/
K&z Q2N
Bv US$100
EEETRHS 10037
Hong Kong Hong Kong dollars
BB ("HKg") 67,269,905
67,269,9[]5:%77:

(F&7tl)

Hong Kong HK$30,000,000
= 30,000,000% 75
PRC/Mainland China US$15,000,000
FE,HEARE 15,000,000 7T
PRC/Mainland China RMB6,580,000
HE,FREIARE AEi6,580,0007T
PRC/Mainland China US$700,000
FRE R AR 700,000 75
Hong Kong HKS$10,000
55 10,0004 75
Vietnam USS$400,000
e 400,0005=75
Hong Kong HKS$1
BH 1787t

L2 N I T

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
PAFE 4R R MY 5E

31 December 2021

REKRERER @
fit 8 A B =¥ 15
ERBEEWBRAT ZFELT :

Percentage of equity
interest attributable to
the Company

FAREMGRET DL

Direct Indirect  Principal activities

HiZ i TEXEH

100 - Investment holding

KEERK

Investment holding

KREER

Investment holding
and network system
integration

KREZERRABE
RRES

Investment holding
and network system
integration

% BIERR K MBA&
RRES

Network system
integration
BERGRES

Research and
development
i

Network system
integration
BERMES

Network system
integration
PRAEGES

Investment holding
and provision of
administrative support

of the Group
REZERMERAERE
BTES IR
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CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION (continued)
Information about subsidiaries (continued)

business capital

SEfAR AL, AR BRTESE/

R Bz

Chunlin Technology Development  PRC/Mainland China RMB833,000,000®
(Shenzhen) Co., Ltd. ** FRE AR A RE AR
("Chunlin Technology 833,000,0007c®

Place of incorporation/
registration and

Development")
ERREEE (R BRAR
(TEHZRFEE)

Note:

Subsidiaries whose statutory financial statements were not
audited by BDO Limited or another member firm of the BDO
global network

Wholly-foreign-owned limited liability enterprises

The English name is for identification purpose only

The registered share capital of Chunlin Technology Development
amounted to RMB833,000,000, among which RMB594,732,000
was unpaid as at 31 December 2021.

On 23 September 2021, the Company and Smoothly Global
Holdings Limited ("Smoothly Global”) entered into a sales
and purchase agreement, pursuant to which Smoothly Global
was desirous of selling and transferring its 25% equity share
in Fortune Grace to the Company at the consideration of
HK$30,000,000 (“Acquisition”). The consideration shall be
settled by the issue of the convertible bond in the principal
amount of HK$30,000,000. Prior to the completion of the
Acquisition, the Company held 75% of equity interest in Fortune
Grace. Upon the completion of the Acquisition on 26 November
2021, Fortune Grace became a direct wholly-owned subsidiary
of the Company.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which,

in the opinion of the directors, principally affected the results

for the year or formed a substantial portion of the net assets

of the Group. To give details of other subsidiaries would, in

the opinion of the directors, result in particulars of excessive

length.

InvesTech Holdings Limited &zl =8 B IR A E

Issued ordinary/
registered share

RAKREBRER @
MEARFE @

Percentage of equity
interest attributable to

the Company

FAREMGRIET S

Direct

Miaz -

Hi% %

Indirect  Principal activities

TEEH

Technology Development

B3

HAEMBRRUIFHE B EERES
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B TBE R
N_E-—F+ZA=+—8 EHRHE
R MAR A% AR 833,000,000 &
1 A R #8594,732,0007T & AR A4 < o

R_E_—FNABZ+=H > E&2H
BSmoothly Global Holdings Limited
(TSmoothly Globall) 3] 1L E & % »
#IE> Smoothly GlobalE BEUREA
30,000,000 wMA LA E HEREEH
5 HAFortune Grace FY25%/GH#E( T BB =
151 ) o B BB 31T AR £ %87330,000,000
BTN MEESEE NINEEETAK
il » Z~AF)FE A Fortune GraceRy75%% # o
R_E - —F+—AZ+/"BRESFER
B > Fortune Gracefi B4R ABMNEES
= EVASIR

R EEIRETIEREFTERENR
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2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance
with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRSs")
(which include all International Financial Reporting
Standards, International Accounting Standards (“IASs")
and Interpretations) issued by the International Accounting
Standards Board (“IASB") and the disclosure requirements
of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. They have been
prepared under the historical cost convention, except for a
financial asset at fair value through other comprehensive
income, an equity investment at fair value through profit or loss
and a debt investment at fair value through profit or loss which
have been measured at fair value. These financial statements
are presented in Renminbi (“"RMB") and all values are rounded
to the nearest thousand except when otherwise indicated.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial
statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2021.
A subsidiary is an entity (including a structured entity), directly
or indirectly, controlled by the Company. Control is achieved
when the Group is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns
from its involvement with the investee and has the ability to
affect those returns through its power over the investee (i.e.,
existing rights that give the Group the current ability to direct
the relevant activities of the investee).

When the Company has, directly or indirectly, less than a
majority of the voting or similar rights of an investee, the Group
considers all relevant facts and circumstances in assessing

whether it has power over an investee, including:

(a) the contractual arrangement with the other vote holders
of the investee;

(b) rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and

(c) the Group's voting rights and potential voting rights.

2.1

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R R MIEE

31 December 2021
—FE_—Ff+_F=+—H
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(TEIFRE st EAZE S ) B 2 BRY
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EHBZNEMEE - RAANBES AR
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2.1

102

BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)

Basis of consolidation (continued)

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared
for the same reporting period as the Company, using
consistent accounting policies. The results of subsidiaries are
consolidated from the date on which the Group obtains control,
and continue to be consolidated until the date that such control
ceases.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the owners of the parent of the Group
and to the non-controlling interests, even if this results in the
non-controlling interests having a deficit balance. All intra-
group assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash
flows relating to transactions between members of the Group
are eliminated in full on consolidation.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if
facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one
or more of the three elements of control described above. A
change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a loss
of control, is accounted for as an equity transaction.

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises (i)
the assets (including goodwill) and liabilities of the subsidiary,
(i) the carrying amount of any non-controlling interest and
(iii) the cumulative translation differences recorded in equity;
and recognises (i) the fair value of the consideration received,
(ii) the fair value of any investment retained and (iii) any
resulting surplus or deficit in profit or loss. The Group's share
of components previously recognised in other comprehensive
income is reclassified to profit or loss or retained earnings,
as appropriate, on the same basis as would be required if the
Group had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities.
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2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND

DISCLOSURES
The Group has adopted the following new and revised IFRSs for
the first time for the current year's financial statements.

COVID-19-Related Rent
Concessions beyond
30 June 2021

Amendment to IFRS 16

Interest Rate Benchmark
Reform - Phase 2

Amendments to IFRS 9, IAS
39, IFRS 7, IFRS 4 and IFRS
16

The new and amended IFRSs that are effective from 1
January 2021 did not have significant financial effect on these
consolidated financial statements. Impact on the applications
of these amended IFRSs are summarised below.

31 December 2021
e e U

2.2 SEEEREPRIKE

FEBERFTFEZHHREERFAMU
TRTE] R ARME ST BRI 3R S 2R o

B P B 5 e 5 2 )
B165EHEST
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Az

FIERE E—F
PEES

B PR B 5 o 5 2 A
B95E
Bl S=fip 22l
55395% ~ BUFRRA 5
WEERETIR
B R B B R S 2 Bl
SBATE BB 75
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2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND 2.2 S BREHKRIBEE @

DISCLOSURES (continued)
Amendment to IFRS 16: COVID-19-Related Rent
Concessions beyond 30 June 2021

In April 2021, the IASB amended IFRS 16 Leases, extending
the practical expedient in order to permit lessees to apply it
to rent concessions for which reductions in lease payments
affect payments originally due on or before 30 June 2022.
This amendment is applicable for annual reporting periods
beginning on or after 1 April 2021, with early application
permitted, including in financial statements not authorised for
issue at 9 April 2021.

The Group has early adopted this amendment for its annual
reporting period beginning on 1 January 2021. The application
of the amendments did not have any significant impact on the
consolidated financial statements.
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2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND

DISCLOSURES (continued)
Amendments to IFRS 9, IAS 39, IFRS 7, IFRS 4 and IFRS
16 - Interest rate Benchmark Reform - Phase 2

The amendments address issues that might affect financial
reporting when a company replaces the old interest rate
benchmark with an alternative benchmark rate as a result
of the interest rate benchmark reform (the “Reform”). The
amendments complement those issued in November 2019
and relate to (a) changes to contractual cash flows in which
an entity will not have to derecognise or adjust the carrying
amount of financial instruments for changes required by the
Reform, but will instead update the effective interest rate to
reflect the change to the alternative benchmark rate; (b) hedge
accounting in which an entity will not have to discontinue its
hedge accounting solely because it makes changes required
by the Reform, if the hedge meets other hedge accounting
criteria; and (c) disclosures in which an entity will be required
to disclose information about new risks arising from the Reform
and how it manages the transition to alternative benchmark
rates.

The application of the amendments did not have a significant
impact on the consolidated financial statements.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
MR R

31 DecemberZUZl

EEBREBRINE @

EPRAA F5 3R 5 R SH955E - EIIR B 51 %

B 553955 ~ B PR A TSR S RIS T5R - B
MREA TSRS R A R E PR AT IR E
ZRFE16SRAET —FIREENE-F
ZPEER

ZEBRARFEREENE (TRE)) m
ERNEUBREENERAENXEE
RO SER BB R ENME ZE B =
“E-NF+—BEMIESTEEAER
PR EMNRSRED ERESTENE
FTERMNEFHMA BRI BAESHTE
NREEE > MEEMBREMN XU R ME
REERNXPES ; (b)E AT M
R A EAME R g R BEEBAR
AR EPMERNES MA IEEH P E S
% R()BEBEER BRARERMRNE
s sk AR E R U A AEEEE
BREENZXRBE o

EREBITIERGAMBRRERNEAT
%,

ANNUAL REPORT 2021 — & = —FF 3R 1 05




NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
PAFE 4R R M 5E

31 December 2021
TS = 5 —(g

2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE INTERNATIONAL
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
There are a number of standards, amendments to standards,
and interpretations which have been issued by the IASB that
are effective in future accounting periods that the group has
decided not to adopt early.

Amendments to IAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-current?
Amendments to IAS 1 and Disclosure of Accounting
IFRS Practice Statement 2 Policies?

Amendments to [AS 8 Definition of Accounting
Estimates?
Amendments to IAS 12 Deferred Tax related to Assets

and Liabilities arising from a
Single Transaction’

Amendments to IAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment
— Proceeds before Intended
Use’

Amendments to IAS 37 Onerous Contracts — Cost of
Fulfilling a Contract’

Amendments to IFRS 1, Annual Improvements to IFRS

IFRS 9, IFRS 16 and IAS 41 Standards 2018-2020"

Amendment to IFRS 3 Reference to the Conceptual
Framework’

Amendments to IFRS 4 Extension of the Temporary
Exemption from Applying
IFRS 93

Amendments to IFRS 10 Sale or Contribution of Assets

and IAS 28 between an Investor and its

Associate or Joint Venture’

IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts?

Amendments to IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts?

Amendment to IFRS 17 Initial Application of IFRS 17
and IFRS 9 - Comparative
Information?

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January

2022.

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2023.

S The amendments shall be applied prospectively to the sale or

contribution of assets occurring in annual periods beginning on
or after a date to be determined.
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2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE INTERNATIONAL

FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (continued)
Amendments to IAS 1 - Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-current

The amendments clarify that the classification of liabilities as
current or non-current is based on rights that are in existence
at the end of the reporting period, specify that classification
is unaffected by expectations about whether an entity will
exercise its right to defer settlement of a liability and explain
that rights are in existence if covenants are complied with at the
end of the reporting period. The amendments also introduce a
definition of 'settlement’ to make clear that settlement refers
to the transfer to the counterparty of cash, equity instruments,
other assets or services.

Amendments to IAS 1 and IFRS Practice Statement 2 -
Disclosure of Accounting Policies

The IASB amended IAS 1 to require entities to disclose their
material rather than their significant accounting policies.
The amendments define what is ‘material accounting policy
information' and explain how to identify when accounting policy
information is material. They further clarify that immaterial
accounting policy information does not need to be disclosed.
If it is disclosed, it should not obscure material accounting
information.

To support this amendment, the IASB also amended IFRS
Practice Statement 2 Making Materiality Judgements to
provide guidance on how to apply the concept of materiality to
accounting policy disclosures.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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31 December 2021
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2.3

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE INTERNATIONAL
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (continued)
Amendments to IAS 8 - Definition of Accounting
Estimates

The amendments to IAS 8 Accounting Policies, Changes in
Accounting Estimates and Errors clarify how companies should
distinguish changes in accounting policies from changes in
accounting estimates. The distinction is important, because
changes in accounting estimates are applied prospectively to
future transactions and other future events, but changes in
accounting policies are generally applied retrospectively to
past transactions and other past events as well as the current
period.

Amendments to IAS 12 - Deferred Tax related to Assets
and Liabilities arising from a Single Transaction

The amendments to IAS 12 Income Taxes require companies
to recognise deferred tax on transactions that, on initial
recognition, give rise to equal amounts of taxable and
deductible temporary differences. They will typically apply to
transactions such as leases of lessees and decommissioning
obligations and will require the recognition of additional
deferred tax assets and liabilities.

The amendment should be applied to transactions that occur
on or after the beginning of the earliest comparative period
presented. In addition, entities should recognise deferred tax
assets (to the extent that it is probable that they can be utilised)
and deferred tax liabilities at the beginning of the earliest
comparative period for all deductible and taxable temporary
differences associated with:

o right-of-use assets and lease liabilities, and
° decommissioning, restoration and similar liabilities, and

the corresponding amounts recognised as part of the cost
of the related assets.

1 08 InvesTech Holdings Limited &zl =8 B IR A E

ey

2.3 EEMERRERZERMBRS

28 @)
PR & 5T 2 I 8RS 5T — E 5t b5t
HEZR

BIR 5t R FE8R G TR Gt st &
ERIERNETZEEFADERNMNE D &5
HREHASSHEFEE - ARERDES

2> ARG AEE SRR ER
AR 5 REMAKRREM D SHER
SH—RENEANBERZ RAMBE
S U ERHRE -

EEPR st R 125898 T —BHE—32
SEEZEERAEHERAZIELERE
B gt R B12RABRINETERA
ANV RAREESENERR LT
NMAEREENRZRDIELEREB ZE
Bl —RERRABARAORERASEESE

R TEEERIBBEIINNVELERBE E
Raf&e

ZEEFITABRANREEBNRF LERIM
IR REERF o IL5h > BREZARN
RFPLLBABRRRMEAUTEEARN
Pt A R 0B B M ER AR B By = S B SR AR SE AR
BEE UHAHAERR RELERES

f&:

s ERAREERMEEER K

s R -ERREUEE HETRE
s AR E ERI R D A



2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE INTERNATIONAL

FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (continued)
Amendments to IAS 12 - Deferred Tax related to

Assets and Liabilities arising from a Single Transaction
(continued)

The cumulative effect of recognising these adjustments is
recognised in retained earnings, or another component of
equity, as appropriate.

IAS 12 did not previously address how to account for the tax
effects of on-balance sheet leases and similar transactions and
various approaches were considered acceptable. Some entities
may have already accounted for such transactions consistent
with the new requirements. These entities will not be affected
by the amendments.

Amendments to IAS 16 - Property, Plant and
Equipment: Proceeds before Intended Use

In May 2020, the IASB issued Property, Plant and Equipment
— Proceeds before Intended Use, which prohibits entities
deducting from the cost of an item of property, plant and
equipment, any proceeds from selling items produced while
bringing that asset to the location and condition necessary
for it to be capable of operating in the manner intended by
management. Instead, an entity recognises the proceeds from
selling such items, and the costs of producing those items, in
profit or loss.

Amendments to IAS 37 - Onerous Contracts

The amendments specify that the ‘cost of fulfilling' a contract
comprises the ‘costs that relate directly to the contract’. Costs
that relate directly to a contract can either be incremental costs
of fulfilling that contract (e.g. direct labour and materials)
or an allocation of other costs that relate directly to fulfilling
contracts (e.g. the allocation of the depreciation charge for
an item of property, plant and equipment used in fulfilling the
contract).
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
MR R
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2.3

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE INTERNATIONAL
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (continued)
Amendments to IFRS 3 - Reference to the Conceptual
Framework

The amendments update IFRS 3 so that it refers to the revised
Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting 2018 instead
of the version issued in 2010. The amendments add to IFRS
3 a requirement that, for obligations within the scope of IAS
37, an acquirer applies IAS 37 to determine whether at the
acquisition date a present obligation exists as a result of past
events. For a levy that would be within the scope of IFRIC-Int 21
Levies, the acquirer applies IFRIC-Int 21 to determine whether
the obligating event that gives rise to a liability to pay the levy
has occurred by the acquisition date. The amendments also
add an explicit statement that an acquirer does not recognise
contingent assets acquired in a business combination.

Amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28 - Contribution of
Assets between an Investor and its Associate or Joint
Venture

The amendments clarify with situations where there is a sale
or contribution of assets between an investor and its associate
or joint venture. When the transaction with an associate or
joint venture that is accounted for using the equity method, any
gains or losses resulting from the loss of control of a subsidiary
that does not contain a business are recognised in the profit
or loss only to the extent of the unrelated investors' interests
in that associate or joint venture. Similarly, any gains or losses
resulting from the remeasurement of retained interest in any
former subsidiary (that has become an associate or a joint
venture) to fair value are recognised in the profit or loss only
to the extent of the unrelated investors' interests in the new
associate or joint venture.
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2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE INTERNATIONAL

FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (continued)
IFRS 1 - First-time Adoption of International Financial
Reporting Standards

First-time Adoption of International Financial Reporting
Standards, which permit a subsidiary that applies paragraph
D16(a) of IFRS 1 to measure cumulative translation differences
using the amounts reported by its parent, based on the parent's
date of transition to IFRSs.

IFRS 9 - Financial Instruments

Financial Instruments, which clarify the fees included in the
‘10 per cent' test in paragraph B3.3.6 of IFRS 9 in assessing
whether to derecognise a financial liability, explaining that
only fees paid or received between the entity and the lender,
including fees paid or received by either the entity or the lender
on other's behalf are included.

IFRS 16 - Leases

Leases, which amend Illustrative Example 13 to remove the
illustration of reimbursement of leasehold improvements by
the lessor in order to resolve any potential confusion regarding
the treatment of lease incentives that might arise because of
how lease incentives are illustrated in that example.

IAS 41 - Agriculture

Agriculture, which remove the requirement to exclude taxation
cash flows when measuring the fair value of a biological asset
using a present value technique.

IFRS 17 - Insurance Contracts

The new standard establishes the principles for the
recognition, measurement, presentation and disclosure
of insurance contracts and supersedes IFRS 4, Insurance
Contracts. The standard outlines a ‘General Model’, which
is modified for insurance contracts with direct participation
features, described as the 'Variable Fee Approach’. The General
Model is simplified if certain criteria are met by measuring the
liability for remaining coverage using the Premium Allocation
Approach.

The directors of the Company do not anticipate that the
application of the amendments and revision in the future will
have an impact on the consolidated financial statements.
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2.4

112

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES

Business combinations and goodwill

Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition
method. The consideration transferred is measured at the
acquisition date fair value which is the sum of the acquisition
date fair values of assets transferred by the Group, liabilities
assumed by the Group to the former owners of the acquiree
and the equity interests issued by the Group in exchange for
control of the acquiree. For each business combination, the
Group elects whether to measure the non-controlling interests
in the acquiree that are present ownership interests and entitle
their holders to a proportionate share of net assets in the event
of liquidation at fair value or at the proportionate share of the
acquiree's identifiable net assets. All other components of non-
controlling interests are measured at fair value. Acquisition-
related costs are expensed as incurred.

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the financial
assets and liabilities assumed for appropriate classification
and designation in accordance with the contractual terms,
economic circumstances and pertinent conditions as at the
acquisition date. This includes the separation of embedded
derivatives in host contracts of the acquiree.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the
previously held equity interest is remeasured at its acquisition
date fair value and any resulting gain or loss is recognised in
profit or loss.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer
is recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. Contingent
consideration classified as an asset or liability is measured
at fair value with changes in fair value recognised in profit or
loss. Contingent consideration that is classified as equity is not
remeasured and subsequent settlement is accounted for within
equity.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Business combinations and goodwill (continued)
Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess of
the aggregate of the consideration transferred, the amount
recognised for non-controlling interests and any fair value of
the Group's previously held equity interests in the acquiree over
the identifiable net assets acquired and liabilities assumed. If
the sum of this consideration and other items is lower than the
fair value of the net assets acquired, the difference is, after
reassessment, recognised in profit or loss as a gain on bargain
purchase.

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less
any accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is tested for
impairment annually or more frequently if events or changes
in circumstances indicate that the carrying value may be
impaired. The Group performs its annual impairment test of
goodwill as at 31 December. For the purpose of impairment
testing, goodwill acquired in a business combination is, from
the acquisition date, allocated to each of the Group’s cash-
generating units, or groups of cash-generating units, that are
expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination,
irrespective of whether other assets or liabilities of the Group
are assigned to those units or groups of units.

Impairment is determined by assessing the recoverable
amount of the cash-generating unit (group of cash-generating
units) to which the goodwill relates. Where the recoverable
amount of the cash-generating unit (group of cash-generating
units) is less than the carrying amount, an impairment loss is
recognised. An impairment loss recognised for goodwill is not
reversed in a subsequent period.

Where goodwill has been allocated to a cash-generating unit
(or group of cash-generating units) and part of the operation
within that unit is disposed of, the goodwill associated with the
operation disposed of is included in the carrying amount of the
operation when determining the gain or loss on the disposal.
Goodwill disposed of in these circumstances is measured
based on the relative value of the operation disposed of and the
portion of the cash-generating unit retained.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Business combinations and goodwill (continued)
Changes in the Group's interests in a subsidiary that do not
result in a loss of control of the subsidiary are accounted for
as equity transactions. The carrying amount of the Group's
interests and the non-controlling interests are adjusted to
reflect the changes in their relative interests in the subsidiaries.
Any difference between the amount by which the non-
controlling interests are adjusted and the fair value of the
consideration paid or received is recognised directly in equity
and attributed to the owners of the Company.

Fair value measurement

The Group measures its equity investments and debt
investments at fair value at the end of each reporting period.
Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset
or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between
market participants at the measurement date. The fair value
measurement is based on the presumption that the transaction
to sell the asset or transfer the liability takes place either in
the principal market for the asset or liability, or in the absence
of a principal market, in the most advantageous market for
the asset or liability. The principal or the most advantageous
market must be accessible by the Group. The fair value of
an asset or a liability is measured using the assumptions
that market participants would use when pricing the asset
or liability, assuming that market participants act in their
economic best interest.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into
account a market participant's ability to generate economic
benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by
selling it to another market participant that would use the asset
in its highest and best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in
the circumstances and for which sufficient data are available to
measure fair value, maximising the use of relevant observable
inputs and minimising the use of unobservable inputs.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Fair value measurement (continued)

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or
disclosed in the financial statements are categorised within the
fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest
level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a

whole:

Level 1 - based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities

Level 2 - based on valuation techniques for which the
lowest level input that is significant to the
fair value measurement is observable, either
directly or indirectly

Level 3 - based on valuation techniques for which the

lowest level input that is significant to the fair
value measurement is unobservable

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial
statements on a recurring basis, the Group determines whether
transfers have occurred between levels in the hierarchy by
reassessing categorisation (based on the lowest level input
that is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole) at
the end of each reporting period.

Impairment of non-financial assets

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when annual
impairment testing for an asset is required (other than
inventories, financial assets, deferred tax assets and goodwill),
the asset's recoverable amount is estimated. An asset's
recoverable amount is the higher of the asset's or cash-
generating unit's value in use and its fair value less costs of
disposal, and is determined for an individual asset, unless
the asset does not generate cash inflows that are largely
independent of those from other assets or groups of assets, in
which case the recoverable amount is determined for the cash-
generating unit to which the asset belongs.
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116

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Impairment of non-financial assets (continued)

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying amount
of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount. In assessing
value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to
their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects
current market assessments of the time value of money and
the risks specific to the asset. An impairment loss is charged
to the statement of profit or loss in the period in which it arises
in those expense categories consistent with the function of the
impaired asset.

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting period as
to whether there is an indication that previously recognised
impairment losses may no longer exist or may have decreased.
If such an indication exists, the recoverable amount is
estimated. A previously recognised impairment loss of an
asset other than goodwill is reversed only if there has been
a change in the estimates used to determine the recoverable
amount of that asset, but not to an amount higher than the
carrying amount that would have been determined (net of
any depreciation/amortisation) had no impairment loss been
recognised for the asset in prior years. A reversal of such an
impairment loss is credited to the statement of profit or loss in
the period in which it arises.

Related parties

A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(a) the party is a person or a close member of that person's
family and that person
(i)  has control or joint control over the Group;

(i)  has significant influence over the Group; or

(iii) is a member of the key management personnel of
the Group or of a parent of the Group;

InvesTech Holdings Limited & :RiZR& A BRA F]

2.4 EXGHBEHRE @

IFERMBEERE (@
MEBRENEERMEBLHETRES
BRE T LURESR - I ST e BB ER - A5t R
RIBEMEL A RRFRHIH T EHEE
R EE R EER E BRI AR IR R
MERE - REBEDNELRB AR
mRANAEREEENE—RZRXIER
o

REREHRGETTEUBEESHR
Rz EERDNBAEBETBEEIR
Dof HIRZBR B A5t B U el &8R-
BERSBNEE (FERIN BEGEER
FA LA RE A TR A E P URB] 2 3R B9 i 5t o
Rt ERRIRNBEITSNIRRE
FEELEMNEERSREGREMERN
SRE(E GORRERITE HHR) - RES
BREOREEHRES ABRmR

RAZE7
ER—FWBLUTER IR EER
E

(@) BAAREMALTHEKERHRB M
g Mm&ZAL

(i) ZEFIHHBERFER

(i) HEAERBEEATE; 3

(i) REEBAAEEZF AT
TEEEBASNHEHF—ENE;



2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)
Related parties (continued)

or

(b)

the party is an entity where any of the following

conditions applies:

(iii)

(iv)

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

the entity and the Group are members of the same
group;

one entity is an associate or joint venture of the
other entity (or of a parent, subsidiary or fellow
subsidiary of the other entity);

the entity and the Group are joint ventures of the
same third party;

one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the
other entity is an associate of the third entity;

the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for
the benefit of employees of either the Group or an
entity related to the Group;

the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (a);

a person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of the key
management personnel of the entity (or of a parent
of the entity); and

the entity, or any member of a group of which it is a
part, provides key management personnel services
to the Group or to the parent of the Group.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation
Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less
accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses. The
cost of an item of property, plant and equipment comprises its
purchase price and any directly attributable costs of bringing
the asset to its working condition and location for its intended
use.

Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant and
equipment have been put into operation, such as repairs and
maintenance, is normally charged to the statement of profit or
loss in the period in which it is incurred. In situations where the
recognition criteria are satisfied, the expenditure for a major
inspection is capitalised in the carrying amount of the asset as
a replacement. Where significant parts of property, plant and
equipment are required to be replaced at intervals, the Group
recognises such parts as individual assets with specific useful
lives and depreciates them accordingly.

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to write
off the cost of each item of property, plant and equipment to
its residual value over its estimated useful life. The principal
annual rates used for this purpose are as follows:

shorter of 33.3% or
the lease term

Leasehold improvements

Equipment 33.3%
Motor vehicles 33.3%
Others 33.3%

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have
different useful lives, the cost of that item is allocated on a
reasonable basis among the parts and each part is depreciated
separately. Residual values, useful lives and the depreciation
method are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at least at
each financial year end.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation
(continued)

An item of property, plant and equipment, including any
significant part initially recognised is derecognised upon
disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected
from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss on disposal or
retirement recognised in the statement of profit or loss in the
year the asset is derecognised is the difference between the net
sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the relevant asset.

Intangible assets (other than goodwill)

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on initial
recognition at cost. The cost of intangible assets acquired in a
business combination is the fair value at the date of acquisition.
The useful lives of intangible assets are assessed to be either
finite or indefinite. Intangible assets with finite lives are
subsequently amortised over the useful economic life and
assessed for impairment whenever there is an indication that
the intangible asset may be impaired. The amortisation period
and the amortisation method for an intangible asset with a
finite useful life are reviewed at least at each financial year end.

Customer relationships

Contractual customer relationships are stated at cost less any
impairment losses and are amortised on the straight-line basis
over their estimated useful lives.

Technology know-how

Technology know-how is stated at cost less any impairment
losses and is amortised on the straight-line basis over its
estimated useful life of 10 years.
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120

A

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Intangible assets (other than goodwill) (continued)
Research and development costs

All research costs are charged to the statement of profit or loss
asincurred.

Expenditure incurred on projects to develop new products is
capitalised and deferred only when the Group can demonstrate
the technical feasibility of completing the intangible asset so
that it will be available for use or sale, its intention to complete
and its ability to use or sell the asset, how the asset will
generate future economic benefits, the availability of resources
to complete the project and the ability to measure reliably the
expenditure during the development. Product development
expenditure which does not meet these criteria is expensed
whenincurred.

Leases

The Group assesses at contract inception whether a contract
is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains, a lease if the
contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified
asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration.

Group as a lessee

The Group applies a single recognition and measurement
approach for all leases, except for short-term leases and leases
of low-value assets. The Group recognises lease liabilities to
make lease payments and right-of-use assets representing the
right to use the underlying assets.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2.4 EXEHBRME @

POLICIES (continued)

Leases (continued) HE ®@®

Group as a lessee (continued) FEFESDAFHN (B)

(a) Right-of-use assets (a) EHEEESZE
Right-of-use assets are recognised at the commencement EREEENREERM%GHEH (B8
date of the lease (that is the date the underlying asset BENMHERERD BIA - FHEE
is available for use). Right-of-use assets are measured B BN AN R A 1] R 5T 3T B R AR Al R B
at cost, less any accumulated depreciation and any BiEstE U Ea B2 EREHN
impairment losses, and adjusted for any remeasurement STEFHARE - FRAEEEZNAE
of lease liabilities. The cost of right-of-use assets includes EERDHEaESHE BELETE
the amount of lease liabilities recognised, initial direct EERARNEBBRS A
costs incurred, and lease payments made at or before the HEMTABE RNz EREEEE-
commencement date less any lease incentives received. FREEENREE 2B KM AIE
Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight- RFR UREE R %) AUBEGET
line basis over the shorter of the lease terms and the Eomh

estimated useful lives of the assets as follows:

Buildings 2to 3 years EES 2E34F
If ownership of the leased asset transfers to the Group by MR BRERNEEEENER ESE
the end of the lease term or the cost reflects the exercise PR R B O AR AR e B R BRI R Y
of a purchase option, depreciation is calculated using the T ERIRBEEN G I F 5
estimated useful life of the asset. FHAFtE o
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Leases (continued)

Group as a lessee (continued)

(b) Lease liabilities
Lease liabilities are recognised at the commencement
date of the lease at the present value of lease payments
to be made over the lease term. The lease payments
include fixed payments (including in-substance fixed
payments) less any lease incentives receivable, variable
lease payments that depend on an index or a rate, and
amounts expected to be paid under residual value
guarantees. The lease payments also include the exercise
price of a purchase option reasonably certain to be
exercised by the Group and payments of penalties for
termination of a lease, if the lease term reflects the Group
exercising the option to terminate. The variable lease
payments that do not depend on an index or a rate are
recognised as an expense in the period in which the event
or condition that triggers the payment occurs.

In calculating the present value of lease payments,
the Group uses its incremental borrowing rate at the
lease commencement date because the interest rate
implicit in the lease is not readily determinable. After the
commencement date, the amount of lease liabilities is
increased to reflect the accretion of interest and reduced
for the lease payments made. In addition, the carrying
amount of lease liabilities is remeasured if there is a
modification, a change in the lease term, a change in
lease payments (e.g., a change to future lease payments
resulting from a change in an index or rate) or a change
in assessment of an option to purchase the underlying
asset.

The Group's lease liabilities are included in interest-
bearing bank and other borrowings.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Leases (continued)

Group as a lessee (continued)

(c)  Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets
The Group applies the short-term lease recognition
exemption to its short-term leases of machinery and
equipment (that is those leases that have a lease term
of 12 months or less from the commencement date and
do not contain a purchase option). It also applies the
recognition exemption for leases of low-value assets to
leases of office equipment and laptop computers that
are considered to be of low value. Lease payments on
short-term leases and leases of low-value assets are
recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over the
lease term.

Investments and other financial assets

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as
subsequently measured at amortised cost, fair value through
other comprehensive income, and fair value through profit or
loss.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Investments and other financial assets (continued)

Initial recognition and measurement (continued)

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition
depends on the financial asset's contractual cash flow
characteristics and the Group's business model for managing
them. With the exception of trade receivables that do not
contain a significant financing component or for which the
Group has applied the practical expedient of not adjusting
the effect of a significant financing component, the Group
initially measures a financial asset at its fair value, plus in
the case of a financial asset not at fair value through profit or
loss, transaction costs. Trade receivables that do not contain
a significant financing component or for which the Group has
applied the practical expedient are measured at the transaction
price determined under IFRS 15 in accordance with the policies
set out for "Revenue recognition” below.

In order for a financial asset to be classified and measured
at amortised cost or fair value through other comprehensive
income, it needs to give rise to cash flows that are solely
payments of principal and interest (“SPPI") on the principal
amount outstanding. Financial assets with cash flows that
are not SPPI are classified and measured at fair value through
profit or loss, irrespective of the business model.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Investments and other financial assets (continued)
Initial recognition and measurement (continued)

The Group's business model for managing financial assets
refers to how it manages its financial assets in order to
generate cash flows. The business model determines whether
cash flows will result from collecting contractual cash flows,
selling the financial assets, or both. Financial assets classified
and measured at amortised cost are held within a business
model with the objective to hold financial assets in order to
collect contractual cash flows, while financial assets classified
and measured at fair value through other comprehensive
income are held within a business model with the objective
of both holding to collect contractual cash flows and selling.
Financial assets which are not held within the aforementioned
business models are classified and measured at fair value
through profit or loss.

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are
recognised on the trade date, that is, the date that the Group
commits to purchase or sell the asset. Regular way purchases
or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that require
delivery of assets within the period generally established by
regulation or convention in the marketplace.

Subsequent measurement
The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends on
their classification as follows:

Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments)
Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently
measured using the effective interest method and are
subject to impairment. Gains and losses are recognised in
the consolidated statement of profit or loss when the asset is
derecognised, modified or impaired.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Investments and other financial assets (continued)
Financial asset designated at fair value through other
comprehensive income (equity investment)

Upon initial recognition, the Group can elect to classify
irrevocably its equity investment as equity investment
designated at fair value through other comprehensive income
when they meet the definition of equity under IAS 32 Financial
Instruments: Presentation and are not held for trading. The
classification is determined on an instrument-by-instrument
basis.

Gains and losses on these financial assets are never recycled
to the statement of profit or loss. Dividends are recognised
as other income in the statement of profit or loss when the
right of payment has been established, it is probable that the
economic benefits associated with the dividend will flow to
the Group and the amount of the dividend can be measured
reliably, except when the Group benefits from such proceeds
as a recovery of part of the cost of the financial asset, in
which case, such gains are recorded in other comprehensive
income. Equity investments designated at fair value through
other comprehensive income are not subject to impairment
assessment.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are carried
in the consolidated statement of financial position at fair value
with net changes in fair value recognised in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss.

This category includes equity investments which the Group
had not irrevocably elected to classify at fair value through
other comprehensive income. Dividends on equity investments
classified as financial assets at fair value through profit or
loss are also recognised as other income in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss when the right of payment has
been established, it is probable that the economic benefits
associated with the dividend will flow to the Group and the
amount of the dividend can be measured reliably.

1 26 InvesTech Holdings Limited & :iZRR B R A F

2.4 EXGHBEHRE @

REREMEREE (@
IEERAANEEN AR M E K %
BE (RFKRE)

RTHERE  AEEDEERKREKRE
NHEEREstERE2RNEMIE : 27
BETITRANERALIFFEEER  §H
BRERESTHEMDBER/IBERAAE
Bt ARMEER@ERERE - DEREK
BRI TREEEE -

ZEETHEENKRGZ RBETSEELE
mk e EXEEEL  BREARINEE
MmABERALERBRER RFERE S
BRRENGEEDRANERSH K
AN EEFERRERBEEHEESD
RLASBYFT 1S AR IR TP m B RUBR SN - IR A R
BRT ARl @Rl e E s
ERAREBESFAHMEERGZNRER
BEXXBENEREE-

BARBEFARDIIZHEE
BRAREBEEFAEBGNEREERLAE
ERNGEMBRIRIR MAnEBEE
FFENFSEORAER -

ZEH BEAERT B HEtEER
ARBESAEMEERZETDENR
EREA - DEARBAABEFABZNE
MEENRARENRBIFES N HEERE
YR B EARINEEN @ ERAS
EEREFRFEREEERNIFESET
RAFEB R/ EAMUA o



2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Derecognition of financial assets

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial
asset or part of a group of similar financial assets) is primarily
derecognised (i.e., removed from the Group's consolidated
statement of financial position) when:

o the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have
expired; or

o the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows
from the asset or has assumed an obligation to pay the
received cash flows in full without material delay to a
third party under a "pass-through” arrangement; and
either (a) the Group has transferred substantially all
the risks and rewards of the asset, or (b) the Group has
neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks
and rewards of the asset, but has transferred control of
the asset.

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows
from an asset or has entered into a pass-through arrangement,
it evaluates if, and to what extent, it has retained the risk
and rewards of ownership of the asset. When it has neither
transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards
of the asset nor transferred control of the asset, the Group
continues to recognise the transferred asset to the extent of the
Group's continuing involvement. In that case, the Group also
recognises an associated liability. The transferred asset and
the associated liability are measured on a basis that reflects the
rights and obligations that the Group has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over
the transferred asset is measured at the lower of the original
carrying amount of the asset and the maximum amount of
consideration that the Group could be required to repay.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)
Impairment of financial assets
The Group recognises an allowance for expected credit losses
("ECLs") for all debt instruments not held at fair value through
profit or loss. ECLs are based on the difference between the
contractual cash flows due in accordance with the contract and
all the cash flows that the Group expects to receive, discounted
at an approximation of the original effective interest rate. The
expected cash flows will include cash flows from the sale of
collateral held or other credit enhancements that are integral to
the contractual terms.

General approach

ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit exposures for
which there has not been a significant increase in credit risk
since initial recognition, ECLs are provided for credit losses
that result from default events that are possible within the next
12 months (a 12-month ECL). For those credit exposures for
which there has been a significant increase in credit risk since
initial recognition, a loss allowance is required for credit losses
expected over the remaining life of the exposure, irrespective of
the timing of the default (a lifetime ECL).

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether the credit
risk on a financial instrument has increased significantly
since initial recognition. When making the assessment, the
Group compares the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the reporting date with the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument as at the date of initial
recognition and considers reasonable and supportable
information that is available without undue cost or effort,
including historical and forward-looking information.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

General approach (continued)

The Group considers a financial asset in default when
contractual payments are 90 days past due. However, in certain
cases, the Group may also consider a financial asset to be in
default when internal or external information indicates that
the Group is unlikely to receive the outstanding contractual
amounts in full before taking into account any credit
enhancements held by the Group. A financial asset is written
off when there is no reasonable expectation of recovering the
contractual cash flows.

Financial assets at amortised cost are subject to impairment
under the general approach and they are classified within the
following stages for measurement of ECLs except for trade
receivables which apply the simplified approach as detailed
below.

Stage 1 - Financial instruments for which credit risk
has not increased significantly since initial
recognition and for which the loss allowance
is measured at an amount equal to 12-month
ECLs

Stage 2 - Financial instruments for which credit risk has
increased significantly since initial recognition
but that are not credit-impaired financial assets
and for which the loss allowance is measured
at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs

Stage 3 - Financial assets that are credit-impaired at the
reporting date (but that are not purchased or
originated credit-impaired) and for which the
loss allowance is measured at an amount equal
to lifetime ECLs
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

Simplified approach

For trade receivables that do not contain a significant financing
component or when the Group applies the practical expedient
of not adjusting the effect of a significant financing component,
the Group applies the simplified approach in calculating ECLs.
Under the simplified approach, the Group does not track
changes in credit risk, but instead recognises a loss allowance
based on lifetime ECLs at each reporting date. The Group has
established a provision matrix that is based on its historical
credit loss experience, adjusted for forward-looking factors
specific to the debtors and the economic environment.

For trade receivables that contain a significant financing
component, the Group chooses as its accounting policy to adopt
the simplified approach in calculating ECLs with policies as
described above.

Financial liabilities
Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as loans
and borrowings, and payables.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value
and, in the case of loans and borrowings and payables, net of
directly attributable transaction costs.

The Group's financial liabilities include trade payables, financial
liabilities included in other payables and accruals, the debt
element of convertible bond issued by the Group and interest-
bearing bank and other borrowings.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Financial liabilities (continued)

Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial liabilities depends
on their classification as follows:

Financial liabilities at amortised cost (loans and borrowings)
After initial recognition, interest-bearing loans and borrowings
are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the
effective interest rate method unless the effect of discounting
would be immaterial, in which case they are stated at cost.
Gains and losses are recognised in the consolidated statement
of profit or loss when the liabilities are derecognised as well as
through the effective interest rate amortisation process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount
or premium on acquisition and fees or costs that are an integral
part of the effective interest rate. The effective interest rate
amortisation is included in finance costs in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss.

Derecognition of financial liabilities
A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under
the liability is discharged or cancelled, or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another
from the same lender on substantially different terms, or the
terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, such
an exchange or modification is treated as a derecognition of
the original liability and a recognition of a new liability, and
the difference between the respective carrying amounts is
recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net
amount is reported in the statement of financial position if there
is a currently enforceable legal right to offset the recognised
amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis, or to
realise the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Financial liabilities (continued)

Convertible bond

Convertible bond issued by the Group that contain both
the debt and conversion option components are classified
separately into their respective items on initial recognition.
Conversion option that will be settled by the exchange of a fixed
amount of cash or another financial asset for a fixed number of
the Company's own equity instruments is classified as an equity
instrument.

On initial recognition, the fair value of the debt component is
determined using the prevailing market interest rate of similar
non-convertible debts. The difference between the proceeds
of the issue of the convertible loan and the fair value assigned
to the debt component, representing the conversion option for
the holder to convert the bond into equity, is included in equity
(convertible bond equity reserve).

In subsequent periods, the debt component of the convertible
bond is carried at amortised cost using the effective interest
method. The equity component, represented by the option
to convert the debt component into ordinary shares of the
Company, will remain in convertible bond equity reserve until
the embedded option is exercised (in which case the balance
stated in convertible bond equity reserve will be transferred
to share capital and share premium. Where the option
remains unexercised at the expiry dates, the balance stated in
convertible bond equity reserve will be released to the retained
earnings. No gain or loss is recognised upon conversion or
expiration of the option.

Transaction costs that relate to the issue of the convertible
bond are allocated to the debt and equity components in
proportion to the allocation of the proceeds. Transaction costs
relating to the equity component are charged directly to equity.
Transaction costs relating to the debt component are included
in the carrying amount of the liability portion and amortised
over the period of the convertible bond using the effective
interest method.

InvesTech Holdings Limited &zl =8 B IR A E

24 EXG

STEEREEE ()

TRBRE (@

AR AR 1R %

AEBZTHESEFNEREZESD
NEMRESRITEIFERBHEER
TEREIR B o i LA ST B E 3R & wR R 5 LA [E]
EBEZERREBERETANEMYE
EEGENESREERIER/RAET R

RTHEDBE BB 2 ANBERA
BLUF M REFHIRER 2 HIHH RE] -
BT MRESMI/MIRE DB ERH
D2 ARBEEIHEABRESSREN
EIEER) T 2B ART (A BRRES

AR o

REERE JRRESZEHE DT

PO R S 45 R 0 P A B o %*ﬁ
(DSB8 RS 20 53 75 25 A B 2 B 0 1%

B REENIBRRESREARE BE
ZBMANEERETE WRBERT > FJ
RESREFBEATITHERSEEER
AR BRDEE) o fHEFRRERBBRIR
BT ARG SR A AT R B
B BERBET - NEZEBRE R
By o 7 S FE SR U SRS 48 ©

BETHBRRESHIR %Esz’ﬁ‘%?Fﬁ
MEDELEPDEEEEBRBEE N
RSN IR A EEN B ?D
K’?OE%@F?‘%%E’\J 2 At ABEE
D ZAREE > W AR RS 55 AR & ﬁﬁ*f
PRA RN o

B
5
B



2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)
Non-current assets held for sale and discontinued
operations
(i)  Non-current assets (or disposal groups) are classified as
held for sale when:

o they are available for immediate sale;
o management is committed to a plan to sell;

o it is unlikely that significant changes to the plan will
be made or that the plan will be withdrawn;

o an active programme to locate a buyer has been
initiated;

o the asset or disposal group is being marketed at
reasonable price in relation to its fair value; and

J a sale is expected to be completed within 12 months
from the date of classification
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Non-current assets held for sale and discontinued
operations (continued)

(i)  (continued)

Non-current assets (or disposal groups) classified as

held for sale are measured at the lower of:

o their carrying amount immediately prior to being
classified as held for sale in accordance with the

Group's accounting policy; and

° fair value less costs to sell.

Following their classification as held for sale, non-
current assets (including those in a disposal group) are

not depreciated.

The results of operations disposed of during the year are

included in profit or loss up to the date of disposal.

(ii)  Discontinued operations

A discontinued operation is a component of the Group's
business, the operations and cash flows of which can
be clearly distinguished from the rest of the Group and
which represents a separate major line of business or
geographical area of operations, or is a part of a single
co-ordinated plan to dispose of a separate major line
of business or geographical area of operations, or is a

subsidiary acquired exclusively with a view to resale.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Non-current assets held for sale and discontinued
operations (continued)

(ii) Discontinued operations (continued)

Classification as a discontinued operation occurs upon
disposal or when the operation meets the criteria to be
classified as held for sale, if earlier. It also occurs if the
operation is abandoned.

Where an operation is classified as discontinued, a single
amount is presented on the face of the consolidated
statement of profit or loss, which comprises the post-
tax profit or loss of the discontinued operation and post-
tax gain or loss recognised on the measurement to fair
value less costs to sell, or on the disposal, of the assets or
disposal group constituting the discontinued operation.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Cost is determined on the first-in, first-out basis and,
in the case of work in progress and finished goods, comprises
direct materials, direct labour and an appropriate proportion of
overheads. Net realisable value is based on estimated selling
prices less any estimated costs to be incurred to completion
and disposal.

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows,
cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and demand
deposits, and short term highly liquid investments that are
readily convertible into known amounts of cash, are subject
to an insignificant risk of changes in value, and have a short
maturity of generally within three months when acquired, less
bank overdrafts which are repayable on demand and form an
integral part of the Group's cash management.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of financial
position, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and
at banks, including term deposits and assets similar in nature to
cash, which are not restricted as to use.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Provisions

A provision is recognised when a present obligation (legal or
constructive) has arisen as a result of a past event and it is
probable that a future outflow of resources will be required to
settle the obligation, provided that a reliable estimate can be
made of the amount of the obligation.

When the effect of discounting is material, the amount
recognised for a provision is the present value at the end of
the reporting period of the future expenditures expected to be
required to settle the obligation. The increase in the discounted
present value amount arising from the passage of time is
included in finance costs in the statement of profit or loss.

The Group provides for warranties in relation to the sale of
certain products for general repairs of defects occurring during
the warranty period. Provisions for these assurance-type
warranties granted by the Group are recognised based on past
experience of the level of repairs and returns, discounted to
their present values as appropriate.

Income tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax
relating to items recognised outside profit or loss is recognised
outside profit or loss, either in other comprehensive income or
directly in equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at the amount
expected to be recovered from or paid to the taxation
authorities, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting
period, taking into consideration interpretations and practices
prevailing in the countries in which the Group operates.
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FINAN STATEMENTS

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)
Income tax (continued)
Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all
temporary differences at the end of the reporting period
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their
carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary
differences, except:

. when the deferred tax liability arises from the initial
recognition of goodwill or an asset or liability in a
transaction that is not a business combination and, at the
time of the transaction, affects neither the accounting
profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

o in respect of taxable temporary differences associated
with investments in subsidiaries, when the timing of the
reversal of the temporary differences can be controlled
and it is probable that the temporary differences will not
reverse in the foreseeable future.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Income tax (continued)

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary
differences, and the carryforward of unused tax credits and
any unused tax losses. Deferred tax assets are recognised to
the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available
against which the deductible temporary differences, the
carryforward of unused tax credits and unused tax losses can
be utilised, except:

U when the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible
temporary differences arises from the initial recognition
of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a
business combination and, at the time of the transaction,
affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or
loss; and

o in respect of deductible temporary differences
associated with investments in subsidiaries, deferred
tax assets are only recognised to the extent that it is
probable that the temporary differences will reverse in
the foreseeable future and taxable profit will be available
against which the temporary differences can be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the
end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that
it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be
available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be
utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax assets are reassessed at
the end of each reporting period and are recognised to the
extent that it has become probable that sufficient taxable profit
will be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to
be recovered.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Income tax (continued)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax
rates that are expected to apply to the period when the asset
is realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax
laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the
end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if
and only if the Group has a legally enforceable right to set off
current tax assets and current tax liabilities and the deferred
tax assets and deferred tax liabilities relate to income taxes
levied by the same taxation authority on either the same
taxable entity or different taxable entities which intend either
to settle current tax liabilities and assets on a net basis, or to
realise the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously, in
each future period in which significant amounts of deferred tax
liabilities or assets are expected to be settled or recovered.

Government grants

Government grants are recognised where there is reasonable
assurance that the grant will be received and all attaching
conditions will be complied with. When the grant relates to
an expense item, it is recognised as income on a systematic
basis over the periods that the costs, which it is intended to
compensate, are expensed.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Revenue recognition

Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised when
control of goods or services is transferred to the customers at
an amount that reflects the consideration to which the Group
expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or services.

When the consideration in a contract includes a variable
amount, the amount of consideration is estimated to which
the Group will be entitled in exchange for transferring the
goods or services to the customer. The variable consideration
is estimated at contract inception and constrained until it
is highly probable that significant revenue reversal in the
amount of cumulative revenue recognised will not occur when
the associated uncertainty with the variable consideration is
subsequently resolved.

When the contract contains a financing component which
provides the customer with a significant benefit of financing
the transfer of goods or services to the customer for more
than one year, revenue is measured at the present value of the
amount receivable, discounted using the discount rate that
would be reflected in a separate financing transaction between
the Group and the customer at contract inception. When the
contract contains a financing component which provides the
Group a significant financial benefit for more than one year,
revenue recognised under the contract includes the interest
expense accreted on the contract liability under the effective
interest method. For a contract where the period between the
payment by the customer and the transfer of the promised
goods or services is one year or less, the transaction price is not
adjusted for the effects of a significant financing component,
using the practical expedient in IFRS 15.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Revenue recognition (continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)

(a) Sale of goods
Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised at the
point in time when control of the asset is transferred
to the customer, generally on delivery of the goods by
customers. Invoices are usually payable within 7 to 30
days.

(b) Rendering of services
(i) Installation services
The Group provides installation services that are
either sold separately or bundled together with
the sale of goods to a customer. The installation
services can be obtained from other providers and
do not significantly customise or modify the goods.

Contracts for bundled sales of goods and
installation services are comprised of two
performance obligations because the promises to
transfer the goods and provide installation services
are capable of being distinct and separately
identifiable. Accordingly, the transaction price is
allocated based on the relative stand-alone selling
prices of the goods and installation services.
Invoices are usually payable within 7 to 30 days.

Revenue from installation services is recognised
over time, using an input method to measure
progress towards complete satisfaction of the
service, because the Group's performance creates
or enhances an asset that the customer controls as
the asset is created or enhanced. The input method
recognises revenue based on the proportion of the
actual costs incurred relative to the estimated total
costs for satisfaction of the installation services.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Revenue recognition (continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)

(b) Rendering of services (continued)

(ii)

(iii)

Maintenance services
Revenue from the provision of maintenance
services is recognised over the scheduled period
on a straight-line basis because the customer
simultaneously receives and consumes the benefits
provided by the Group.

Construction contracts for communication
network infrastructure

The Group also provides design and build data
network infrastructure services to customer. A
contract with a customer is classified by the Group
as a construction contract when the contract
relates to work on the infrastructure under the
control of the customer and therefore the Group's
construction activities create or enhance an asset
under the customer’s control. Invoices are usually
payable within 30 days.

The progress towards complete satisfaction of
a performance obligation is measured based on
output method, which is to recognise revenue on
the basis of direct measurements of the value of
the goods or services transferred to the customer
to date relative to the remaining goods or services
promised under the contract, that best depict the
Group's performance in transferring control of
goods or services.

Revenue from other sources

Interest income

142

Interest income is recognised on an accrual basis using the

effective interest method by applying the rate that exactly

discounts the estimated future cash receipts over the expected

life of the financial instrument or a shorter period, when

appropriate, to the net carrying amount of the financial asset.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Contract costs

The Group recognises an asset from the costs incurred to fulfil
a contract when those costs meet all of the following criteria:

(a) the costs relate directly to a contract or to an anticipated
contract that the entity can specifically identify;

(b) the costs generate or enhance resources of the entity
that will be used in satisfying (or in continuing to satisfy)
performance obligations in the future; and

(c) the costs are expected to be recovered.

The asset recognised is subsequently amortised to profit or
loss on a systematic basis that is consistent with the transfer to
the customer of the goods or services to which the cost relate.
The asset is subject to impairment review.

Incremental costs of obtaining a contract are those costs that
the Group incurs to obtain a contract with a customer that it
would not have incurred if the contract had not been obtained
e.g. an incremental sales commission. Incremental costs of
obtaining a contract are capitalised when incurred if the costs
relate to revenue which will be recognised in a future reporting
period and the costs are expected to be recovered. Other costs
of obtaining a contract are expensed when incurred.

The Group applies the practical expedient in IFRS 15 and
recognises the incremental costs of obtaining contracts
relating to the sales of goods and services as an expense when
incurred if the amortisation period of the assets that the Group
otherwise would have recognised is within the same reporting
period as the date of entering into the contract.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Contract assets and liabilities

A contract asset represents the Group's right to consideration
in exchange for services that the Group has transferred to a
customer that is not yet unconditional. In contrast, a receivable
represents the Group's unconditional right to consideration,
i.e. only the passage of time is required before payment of that
consideration is due.

A contract liability is recognised when a payment is received or
a payment is due (whichever is earlier) from a customer before
the Group transfers the related goods or services. Contract
liabilities are recognised as revenue when the Group performs
under the contract (i.e., transfers control of the related goods
or services to the customer).

Contract asset is recognised when the Group completes the
delivery under such services contracts but yet certified by
customers. Any amount previously recognised as a contract
asset is reclassified to trade receivables at the point at which
the delivery is certified by customer. If the considerations
(including advances received from customers) exceeds the
revenue recognised to date under the output method then the
Group recognises a contract liability for the difference.

Share-based payments

The Company operates a share option scheme for the purpose
of providing incentives and rewards to eligible participants
who contribute to the success of the Group's operations.
Employees (including directors) of the Group and the service
providers receive remuneration and fee in the form of share-
based payments, whereby employees and the service providers
render services as consideration for equity instruments
("equity-settled transactions").
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Share-based payments (continued)

The cost of equity-settled transactions is measured by
reference to the fair value at the date at which they are granted.
The fair value is determined by an external valuer using a
binomial model, further details of which are given in note 31 to
the financial statements.

The cost of equity-settled transactions to the employees and
service providers are recognised in employee benefit expense
and administrative expense, together with a corresponding
increase in equity, over the period in which the performance
and/or service conditions are fulfilled. The cumulative expense
recognised for equity-settled transactions at the end of each
reporting period until the vesting date reflects the extent
to which the vesting period has expired and the Group's
best estimate of the number of equity instruments that will
ultimately vest. The charge or credit to the statement of profit
or loss for a period represents the movement in the cumulative
expense recognised as at the beginning and end of that period.

Service and non-market performance conditions are not
taken into account when determining the grant date fair
value of awards, but the likelihood of the conditions being
met is assessed as part of the Group's best estimate of the
number of equity instruments that will ultimately vest. Market
performance conditions are reflected within the grant date fair
value. Any other conditions attached to an award, but without
an associated service requirement, are considered to be non-
vesting conditions. Non-vesting conditions are reflected in the
fair value of an award and lead to an immediate expensing of
an award unless there are also service and/or performance
conditions.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Share-based payments (continued)

For awards that do not ultimately vest because non-market
performance and/or service conditions have not been met,
no expense is recognised. Where awards include a market or
non-vesting condition, the transactions are treated as vesting
irrespective of whether the market or non-vesting condition is
satisfied, provided that all other performance and/or service
conditions are satisfied.

Where the terms of an equity-settled award are modified, as
a minimum an expense is recognised as if the terms had not
been modified, if the original terms of the award are met. In
addition, an expense is recognised for any modification that
increases the total fair value of the share-based payments, oris
otherwise beneficial to the employee as measured at the date
of modification.

Where an equity-settled award is cancelled, it is treated as
if it had vested on the date of cancellation, and any expense
not yet recognised for the award is recognised immediately.
This includes any award where non-vesting conditions within
the control of either the Group or the employee are not met.
However, if a new award is substituted for the cancelled award,
and is designated as a replacement award on the date that it is
granted, the cancelled and new awards are treated as if they
were a modification of the original award, as described in the
previous paragraph.

The dilutive effect of outstanding options is reflected as
additional share dilution in the computation of earnings per
share.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Other employee benefits

Pension scheme

The employees of the Group's subsidiaries which operate in
Mainland China are required to participate in a central pension
scheme operated by the local municipal government. These
subsidiaries are required to contribute a certain percentage
of their payroll costs to the central pension scheme. The
contributions are charged to the statement of profit or loss as
they become payable in accordance with the rules of the central
pension scheme.

The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory
Provident Fund retirement benefit scheme (the “MPF Scheme")
under the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance
for all of its employees. Contributions are made based on a
percentage of the employees' basic salaries and are charged
to the statement of profit or loss as they become payable in
accordance with the rules of the MPF Scheme. The assets of
the MPF Scheme are held separately from those of the Group
in an independently administered fund. The Group's employer
contributions vest fully with the employees when contributed
into the MPF Scheme.

For the defined contribution schemes of the Group, the
forfeited contributions (by employers on behalf of employees
who leave the scheme prior to vesting fully in such
contributions) would not be used by the employer to reduce the
existing level of contribution.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, i.e., assets that
necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for
their intended use or sale, are capitalised as part of the cost of
those assets. The capitalisation of such borrowing costs ceases
when the assets are substantially ready for their intended
use or sale. Investment income earned on the temporary
investment of specific borrowings pending their expenditure
on qualifying assets is deducted from the borrowing costs
capitalised. All other borrowing costs are expensed in the
period in which they are incurred. Borrowing costs consist of
interest and other costs that an entity incurs in connection with
the borrowing of funds.

Dividends
Final dividends are recognised as a liability when they are
approved by the shareholders in a general meeting. Proposed
final dividends are disclosed in the notes to the financial
statements.

Interim dividends are simultaneously proposed and declared,
because the Company's Memorandum and Articles of
Association grant the directors the authority to declare interim
dividends. Consequently, interim dividends are recognised
immediately as a liability when they are proposed and declared.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Foreign currencies

These financial statements are presented in RMB, which is
the Company's presentation currency. The Company, which
was incorporated in the Cayman Islands and continued in
Bermuda, determines the HK$ as its functional currency. As the
Group mainly operates in Mainland China, RMB is used as the
presentation currency of the Company. Each entity in the Group
determines its own functional currency and items included in
the financial statements of each entity are measured using that
functional currency. Foreign currency transactions recorded
by the entities in the Group are initially recorded using their
respective functional currency rates prevailing at the dates of
the transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated
in foreign currencies are translated at the functional currency
rates of exchange ruling at the end of the reporting period.
Differences arising on settlement or translation of monetary
items are recognised in the statement of profit or loss.

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical
cost in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange
rates at the dates of the initial transactions. Non-monetary
items measured at fair value in a foreign currency are
translated using the exchange rates at the date when the fair
value was measured. The gain or loss arising on translation of a
non-monetary item measured at fair value is treated in line with
the recognition of the gain or loss on change in fair value of the
item (i.e., translation difference on the item whose fair value
gain or loss is recognised in other comprehensive income or
profit or loss is also recognised in other comprehensive income
or profit or loss, respectively).
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Foreign currencies (continued)

In determining the exchange rate on initial recognition of the
related asset, expense or income on the derecognition of a
non-monetary asset or non-monetary liability relating to an
advance consideration, the date of initial transaction is the
date on which the Group initially recognises the non-monetary
asset or non-monetary liability arising from the advance
consideration. If there are multiple payments or receipts in
advance, the Group determines the transaction date for each
payment or receipt of the advance consideration.

The functional currencies of certain overseas subsidiaries
are currencies other than RMB. As at the end of the reporting
period, the assets and liabilities of these entities are translated
into RMB at the exchange rates prevailing at the end of the
reporting period and their statements of profit or loss are
translated into RMB at the weighted average exchange rates for
the year.

The resulting exchange differences are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in the foreign
currency translation reserve. On disposal of a foreign
operation, the component of other comprehensive income
relating to that particular foreign operation is recognised in the
statement of profit or loss.

Any goodwill arising on the acquisition of a foreign operation
and any fair value adjustments to the carrying amounts of
assets and liabilities arising on acquisition are treated as assets
and liabilities of the foreign operation and translated at the
closing rate.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES

The preparation of the Group's financial statements requires
management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions
that affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets
and liabilities, and their accompanying disclosures, and the
disclosure of contingent liabilities. Uncertainty about these
assumptions and estimates could result in outcomes that could
require a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of the
assets or liabilities affected in the future.

Judgements

In the process of applying the Group's accounting policies,
management has made the following judgements, apart from
those involving estimations, which have the most significant
effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements:

Recognition of deferred tax liabilities for withholding taxes
Deferred tax liabilities should be recognised for withholding
tax levied on dividends declared to foreign investors from the
foreign investment enterprises established in Mainland China.
Significant management judgement is required to determine
the amount of deferred tax liabilities that can be recognised,
based upon the probability that dividends would be declared.
The Group is of the view that it is able to fully control the
timing of the reversal of the temporary difference arising from
dividend distribution of these subsidiaries and it is not probable
that these subsidiaries will make such profit distribution in the
foreseeable future. Therefore, the Group has not recognised
any deferred tax liability for withholding taxes as at 31
December 2021.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES (continued)

Judgements (continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers

The Group applied the following judgements that affect the
determination of the amount of revenue from contracts with
customers:

Measurement of value of construction works for
communication networks infrastructure

The management measure the value of completed construction
work based on output method, which is to recognise revenue
on the basis of direct measurement of the value of construction
work transferred to the customer to date relative to the
remaining construction works promised to be completed
under the construction contract. The management's estimate
of revenue and the completion status of construction works
requires significant judgement and has a significant impact
on the amount and timing of revenue recognised. The Group
has the qualified surveyors to periodically measure the value
of the construction work completed for each construction
projects and issue the internal construction progress reports.
The construction works performed by the Group would also be
certified by the independent quantity surveyors periodically
according to the construction contracts. The Group regularly
reviews and revises the estimation of contract revenue
prepared for each construction contract as the contract
progresses based on the internal construction progress
reports and the certification issued by the independent quantity
surveyors.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES (continued)

Estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key
sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting
period, that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
within the next financial year, are described below.

Provision for expected credit losses on trade receivables

The Group uses a provision matrix to calculate ECLs for trade
receivables. The provision rates are based on days past due for
groupings of various customer categories that have similar loss
patterns (i.e., by geographical region, product type, customer
type and rating and coverage by letters of credit or other forms
of credit issuance).

The provision matrix is initially based on the Group's historical
payment profile of the trade receivables. The Group will
calibrate the matrix to adjust the historical credit loss
experience with forward-looking information. For instance, if
forecast economic conditions (i.e., gross domestic products)
are expected to deteriorate over the next year which can lead to
an increased number of defaults in the manufacturing sector,
the historical default rates are adjusted. At each reporting date,
the historical observed default rates are updated and changes
in the forward-looking estimates are analysed.

The assessment of the correlation among historical observed
default rates, forecast economic conditions and ECLs is
a significant estimate. The amount of ECLs is sensitive to
changes in circumstances and forecast economic conditions.
The Group's historical credit loss experience and forecast
of economic conditions may also not be representative of a
customer's actual default in the future. The information about
the ECLs on the Group's trade receivables is disclosed in note
21 to the consolidated financial statements.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES (continued)

Estimation uncertainty (continued)

Impairment of goodwill

The Group determines whether goodwill is impaired at least on
an annual basis. This requires an estimation of the value in use
of the cash-generating unit to which the goodwill is allocated.
Estimating the value in use requires the Group to make an
estimate of the expected future cash flows from the cash-
generating unit and also a suitable discount rate to calculate
the present value of those cash flows. The carrying amount of
goodwill at 31 December 2021 was RMB134,952,000 (2020:
134,952,000). Further details are set out in note 15 to the
consolidated financial statements.

Impairment of non-financial assets (other than goodwill)

The Group assesses whether there are any indicators of
impairment for all non-financial assets (including the right-of-
use assets) at the end of each reporting period. Non-financial
assets are tested for impairment when there are indicators that
the carrying amounts may not be recoverable. An impairment
exists when the carrying value of an asset or a cash-generating
unit exceeds its recoverable amount, which is the higher of its
fair value less costs of disposal and its value in use. The value-
in-use calculation requires the Group to estimate the future
cash flows expected to arise from the cash-generating unit and
a suitable discount rate in order to calculate the present value.
Where the actual future cash flows are less than expected, a
material impairment loss may arise.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES (continued)

Estimation uncertainty (continued)

Deferred tax assets

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary
differences and unused tax losses to the extent that it is
probable that taxable profit will be available against which the
deductible temporary differences and unused tax losses can
be utilised. Significant management's judgement is required
to determine the amount of deferred tax assets that can be
recognised, based upon the likely timing and level of future
taxable profits together with future tax planning strategies.
Further details are set out in note 17 to the consolidated
financial statements.

Fair value measurement of debt and equity investments
Where fair value of debt and equity investments cannot be
derived from active markets, they are determined using
valuation techniques. The inputs used in the valuation are taken
from observable markets where possible, but where this is not
feasible, a degree of judgement is required in establishing fair
values. This valuation requires the Group to make estimates
about expected factors which may have impact on the fair
value of the debt and equity investments and the discount for
lack of marketability, illiquidity and control and hence they
are subject to uncertainty. Changes in assumptions about
these factors could affect the reported fair value of debt and
equity investments. The Group's debt investment at fair value
through profit or loss at 31 December 2021 was approximately
RMB12,530,000 (2020: RMB13,055,000), equity investment
at fair value through profit or loss at 31 December 2021 was
approximately RMB2,880,000 (2020: RMB999,000) and the
Group's unlisted equity investment, which was accounted for
as a financial asset at fair value through other comprehensive
income as at 31 December 2021, was approximately
RMB40,086,000 (2020: RMB111,078,000). Further details are
included in notes 18, 23 and 24 to the consolidated financial
statements.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES (continued)

Estimation uncertainty (continued)

Leases - Estimating the incremental borrowing rate

The Group cannot readily determine the interest rate implicit
in a lease, and therefore, it uses an incremental borrowing
rate (“IBR") to measure lease liabilities. The IBR is the rate
of interest that the Group would have to pay to borrow over a
similar term, and with a similar security, the funds necessary to
obtain an asset of a similar value to the right-of-use asset in a
similar economic environment. The IBR therefore reflects what
the Group “would have to pay", which requires estimation when
no observable rates are available (such as for subsidiaries that
do not enter into financing transactions) or when it needs to be
adjusted to reflect the terms and conditions of the lease (for
example, when leases are not in the subsidiary’'s functional
currency). The Group estimates the IBR using observable
inputs (such as market interest rates) when available and is
required to make certain entity-specific estimates (such as the
subsidiary's stand-alone credit rating).

OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

In prior years, for management purposes, the Group was
organised into business units based on their products and
services and had two reportable operating segments as
follows:

(a) the communication system segment, which is engaged in
the provision of network system integration including the
provision of network infrastructure solutions, network
professional services, smart office software solutions,
and the network equipment rental business; and

(b) the money lending segment, which provides credit
financing to entities and individuals in Hong Kong.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group's money
lending segment was regarded as a discontinued operation
which details are set out in note 34 to the consolidated financial
statements.
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OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)
Management monitors the results of the Group's operating
segments separately for the purpose of making decisions about
resources allocation and performance assessment. Segment
performance is evaluated based on reportable segment profit/
loss, which is a measure of adjusted profit/loss before tax.
The adjusted profit/loss before tax is measured consistently
with the Group's loss before tax except that interest income,
unallocated income and gains, non-lease-related finance
costs, as well as corporate and other unallocated expenses are
excluded from such measurement.

Segment assets exclude deferred tax assets, pledged deposits,
cash and cash equivalents, equity investment at fair value
through profit or loss, debt investment at fair value through
profit or loss, and corporate and other unallocated assets as
these assets are managed on a group basis.

Segment liabilities exclude interest-bearing bank and other
borrowings (other than lease liabilities), convertible bond,
tax payable, deferred tax liabilities, loans from a director and
corporate and other unallocated liabilities as these liabilities
are managed on a group basis.

4,
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31 December 2021
TS = 5 —(g

4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 4 RENHEH @
Year ended 31 December 2021 HE_E-_—S+_-_HA=+—HLEE
Continuing Discontinued
operation operation
FBREEE CBRLECEER
Communication Money
system lending Total
BEARS i =1 #ast
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AREETFT ARBETT ARBETT
Segment revenue (note 5) FEbUREE (MT5E5)
Sales to external customers ERIS=E=E =S 484,598 48 484,646
Segment results DERELE (10,537) 1,329 (9,208)
Interest income FMEUA 259
Finance costs (other than MERAS FEEaR
interest on lease liabilities) B BRIN (2,018)
Corporate and other NEVREHMERDE
unallocated expenses X (9,752)
Loss before tax and FRIR RIS 18 R
discontinued operation EAR LR RS (20,719)
Segment assets DEEE 553,595 - 553,595
Corporate and other RNE R EMAR BT
unallocated assets BE 101,834
Total assets BEEHE 655,429
Segment liabilities DEEE 200,385 - 200,385
Corporate and other RNE R EMAKR BT
unallocated liabilities =L 125,743
Total liabilities B E4E%E 326,128
Other segment information: Hith 8 &k -
Impairment losses recognised in R4z & B &
the consolidated statement of SR REREE
profit or loss, net HRE 1,136 - 1,136
Depreciation and amortisation 728 K& ¥4 26,894 - 26,894
Capital expenditure* BARRE* 22,527 - 22,527
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B RMIE

31 December 2021

OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 4, EFIPERE @)
HE_ZE-_EF+-_A=+—HL=E

Year ended 31 December 2020

*

E
Continuing
operation
FBREER
Communication
system
BERHR
RMB'000
AEETT
Segment revenue (note 5) &Rk (FTEE5)
Sales to external customers AR R EHE 469,116
Segment results DEREAR (68,479)
Interest income MEUA
Finance costs (other than REMAS HEAE
interest on lease liabilities) FEFRIN
Corporate and other NE R E MR D
unallocated expenses 52
Loss before tax and PRI AT AT IR R
discontinued operation EARIE RS
Segment assets NEEE 607,538
Corporate and other NE R E MRS
unallocated assets BE
Total assets BEHE
Segment liabilities DEEE 215,735
Corporate and other REIREMAK DA
unallocated liabilities =L
Total liabilities BfR4E
Other segment information: Hith 3 EE# :
(Reversal of impairment loss)/ Riz&igmEN
impairment losses recognised OB CRifE &8
in the consolidated statement  #[0]) E{EESIE
of profit or loss, net HER (71)
Impairment of goodwill B E 57,612
Depreciation and amortisation 3T E5 K ## 85 26,619
Capital expenditure* B 648
Capital expenditure consists of additions to property, plant and &

equipment and right-of-use assets.

Discontinued

operation
BRIEREETR
Money
lending Total
W 4t
RMB'000 RMB'000
AR®TFT AR®TT
1,496 470,612
(8,016) (76,495)
419
(2,255)
(7,963)
(86,294)
12,777 620,315
100,155
720,470
243 215,978
83,948
299,926
9,367 9,296
- 57,612
- 26,619
- 648

EXAFABRERENFE BERRHEHEUR
fEREEE-
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
PAFE 4R R M 5E

31 December 2021
IE T —aEr DS = 5 —(g

REFEER @
FHERE RS S IR R

4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 4.
Geographical information for continuing operation

(a) Revenue from external customers (a) REIIEBERZKA
2021 2020
—E-—F —ETFHF
RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBETT ARBTIT
(Re-presented)
(BER)
Mainland China o B P9 #h 461,574 418,684
Vietnam iR 20,052 37,217
Hong Kong 55 2,379 6,138
United States of America ES{E 3 3,095
Other countries/regions HMBER, & 590 3,982
484,598 469,116

of the customers.

(b) Non-currentassets

The revenue information above is based on the locations

ERUABE BT A B PRTE RS 2 K

5 o

(b) FRBEE

2021 2020

—E-—F TETERF

RMB'000 RMB'000

ARET T ARHFTT

Mainland China R [ P 3t 269,636 350,474
Hong Kong 58 3,665 1
Vietnam feqE] 4 2
273,305 350,477

RS EEEN T UEERE
MR B A EERERESR
E-HFEAMIERBEESCEZEAR
BEFAEMEZEWGENEREEA
FR140,086,0007t (CTE 2 F | AR
# 1 111,078,0007T) °

The non-current asset information above is based on the
locations of the assets and excludes deferred tax assets.
The non-current assets in Mainland China comprise the
financial asset at fair value through other comprehensive
income of RMB40,086,000 (2020: RMB111,078,000).
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
PAFE 4R R MY 5E

31 December 2021
e e U

OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) L, RBEDIER @

Information about major customers FAREERRZER
No revenue from sales to a single external customer amounted BE_ZE_—GFRZZEZZEF+ZA
to over 10% of the total revenue of the Group for the year ended =t+—HEFE #EREIIIEXFF
31 December 2021 and 2020. AV E WA BB AEEBULAI0%
REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS 5. YA ~HMUA RS
An analysis of revenue is as follows: WADHAT :
2021 2020
—E-—f —EomE
RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETT
(Re-presented)
(RS ER)
Continuing operation FBREER
Revenue from contracts with customers ~ ZREZE&LHZIA 484,598 469,116
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PAFE 4R R M 5E

31 December 2021
IE T —aEr DS = 5 —(g

5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS (continued) 5. WA ~HthUgA RS @
Revenue from contracts with customers RKEEREHZIWMA
(i) Disaggregated revenue information (i) EKAEH
Communication system segment BISAFTE
2021 2020
“E-—fF —B_FHF
RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTT AREFIT
Type of goods or services A maEARFEERR
Continuing operation HEREXER
Sales of goods HE S M 337,878 296,144
Rendering of services RS 146,720 172,972
Total revenue from contracts with RKEEE AR Z WA
customers 484,598 469,116
Geographical markets hIB v i5
Continuing operation HEREER
Mainland China FR B A 3 461,574 418,684
Vietnam [24=) 20,052 37,217
Hong Kong 58 2,379 6,138
United States of America == 3 3,095
Other countries/regions HER, & 590 3,982
Total revenue from contracts with REBER G ZHBIA
customers 484,598 469,116
Timing of revenue recognition i N
Continuing operation F@BREER
Goods transferred at a point in time RE RS ES M 337,878 296,144
Services transferred over time FE I R B AR 75 146,720 172,972
Total revenue from contracts with REBER G ZHEUA
customers 484,598 469,116
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REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS (continued)
Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)

(i)

Disaggregated revenue information (continued)

The following table shows the amounts of revenue
recognised in the current reporting period that were
included in the contract liabilities at the beginning:

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
M |RRMEE

31 December 2021
e e U

WEA ~ Efth U A Be Wzt (48)

REERSHNZHA @

(i) ZHEBRAEH (&
TRITEFATREHRIEHNER
BB AEEE -

2021 2020
—s-—%  —s-=fk

RMB'000 RMB'000
AR®T T ARET T

Revenue recognised that was included in Bt ARSHVEHEE

contract liabilities at the beginning of HEmSUA

the reporting period:

Sales of goods HESMm
Rendering of services AR

14,945 13,422
8,339 11,510
23,284 24,932
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
MR R

31 December 2021
Tt /e = g —/5)

5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS (continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)
(i) Performance obligations

The amounts of transaction prices allocated to the
remaining performance obligations (unsatisfied or
partially unsatisfied) as at the end of each of the
reporting period are as follows:

5.

WEA ~ ELfth U A Be Wit (48)
REERSHNZIA @
(i) EAEE
REBRSHRDE TR TROEE
(REMNE D RER) X Z B
LI

2021 2020

2% “E2TEHF

RMB'000 RMB'000

ARBTT AREFIT

Amounts expected to be recognised TERAFESR A IR A BIRRIE

as revenue:

Within one year —FRN 248,011 160,557

After one year — & 554,899 21,810

802,910 182,367
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAﬂI;]_STATEMENTS

B RMIE

31 December 2021

REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS (continued) 5. WA ~HtUA RS @
Other income and gains Hihg A R Uz

Continuing operation HEREXER
Bank interest income RITH B WA

Fair value gain on an equity investmentat  322A REE ABm 2 B
fair value through profit or loss (note 23)  HRENAAEERE

(Fff5%23)
Fair value gain on a debt investment at fair Z2A DEE AEBT
value though profit or loss (note 24) BEBERENANEER T
(Bf5%24)
Finance income on the netinvestmentina SR & FEELENRE
lease A
Gain on collection of impaired trade WEIREFSHTSRY
receivables acquired in a business BEREE ZEWFIE
combination** Z W aa**
Government grants released* B 22 TR # A
Others HAth
* There are no unfulfilled conditions or contingencies relating to *
these grants.
**  The gain was generated by the cash collection of trade *x

receivables which were fully impaired when they were acquired
by the Group through a business combination in the year ended
31 December 2015.

2021 2020
—E-—&F ket =23

RMB'000 RMB'000
AR®T ARBF T

239 419
1,948 -
1,364 1,607
225 389

- 73
1,475 3,295
1 24t
5,252 6,027

5% 3R B 2 E R B BRI R BT IR AR 3L
HIAE Mo

W2k B B 5 R RUEFT IR EIRY IR & > H
ARRBE_Z—HF+_B=+—HILE
EARERBBERS HUWERERT M
BZEZEIRIR
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31 December 2021
TS = 5 —(g

6.

166

LOSS BEFORE TAX

| i

The Group's loss before tax is arrived at after charging/

(crediting):

Continuing operation

Cost of inventories sold*

Depreciation of property, plant and
equipment

Depreciation of right-of-use assets

Amortisation of other intangible assets**

Impairment of goodwill
Impairment losses/(reversal of
impairment losses) of trade
receivables, net
Lease payments not included in the
measurement of lease liabilities
- Short-term leases
Auditor's remuneration
Research and development costs
Foreign exchange differences, net
Employee benefit expenses (including
directors' and a chief executive's
remuneration)
- Wages and salaries
- Pension scheme contributions
- Share-based payments

*k*k

Reversal of write-down of inventories to

net realisable value*

Net fair value (gain)/loss on equity
investment at fair value
through profit or loss

realisable value.

*%*

or loss.

*k*k

statement of profit or loss.
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BEKEER
BEFEmE*
WD BB KR T ER

EREEERE

Hihmp & E i

B ER(E

B 7 BWGRIR R E
B8 (RfE
i) B R

Rt AHEERSE
BYTEE (IR
—JEHifEE

12 BB &=

BIT T K 5 35 B A=+ **

FERERFER

REENMx (B
EER—RITH
BHEAME)
—TEKRFE
—RIRE 5B

—LABRAD 73 BB (S 7K

M R
IEIRE

BARBESABDH

REREAR
BE W=
IR ER

Inclusive of reversal of write-down of inventories to net

Included in "Cost of sales” in the consolidated statement of profit

Included in "Administrative expenses” in the consolidated

PRIR ARS8

16
15

21

23

*%*

*k*k

AEBEBFRATBEENG GIA) UTE
=

2021 2020
25 —EBTEF
RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBET T ARETT
(Re-presented)
(RREHR)
405,739 394,724
876 1,089
5,775 5,285
20,243 20,245
- 57,612
1,136 (71)
1,202 1,655
1,556 1,566
17,944 13,373
100 319
56,259 48,348
11,956 6,080
626 -
68,841 54,428
(2,608) (1,360)
(1,948) 188
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
PAFE 4R R MY 5E

31 December 2021

FINANCE COSTS 7. RMEMRS
An analysis of finance costs is as follows: RERADAT
2021 2020
5 —ETEE
RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBT T AREBF T
Continuing operation FEREER
Interest on bank and other borrowings RIT R EMERF S 2,018 2,255
Interest on lease liabilities HEasH S 989 671
3,007 2,926
DIRECTORS' AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S 8. EERZRSITHAEHM
REMUNERATION
Directors’ and chief executive’s remuneration for the year, R EHARA S FA (R BMEGI) 55383(1)
disclosed pursuant to the Listing Rules, section 383(1)(a), (b), (@)~ (b) ~ () R(IMEU R AT ((REEEN
(c) and (f) of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and Part 2 mER) ROIE28 FURBEZFNESF R
of the Companies (Disclosure of Information about Benefits of EETBASHMAT

Directors) Regulation, are as follows:

2021 2020
T % —E_EHF
RMB'000 RMB'000
ARET T AR¥F T
Fees: HWE
Executive directors and a non-executive  H{TEE & —ZIEHIT
director ==t 500 534
Independent non-executive directors BIIJERITES 338 321
838 855
Other emoluments of executive directors ~ #{TEE K—ZIEHIT
and a non-executive director: SEMNEMEE :
Salaries, allowances and benefits e R REYEH
in kind 3,579 5,104
Pension scheme contributions RIREEHEHER 68 33
Share-based payments (note 31) DARRAD 2 BRI R
(Bf$5E31) 626 -
4,273 5,137
5111 5,992
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
PAFE 4R R M 5E

31 December 2021
IE T —aEr DS = 5 —(g

8. DIRECTORS' AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S 8. EFKAREITHASHM @

REMUNERATION (continued)

During the year ended 31 December 2021, four directors are BE_ZE_—F+_A=+—HLFE>
granted share options, in respect of the their services to the MEESRERAEBIREZRFZMEE
Group, under the share option scheme of the Company. During KRBz ERESEERERE - BEZ
the year ended 31 December 2016, two directors were granted Z—RE+B=1+—HILFE MEE
share options, in respect of their services to the Group, under EMEAAEREHRZIRBMIBERRE]
the share option scheme of the Company. Further details ZHERESEESERE - L E— P
of which are set out in note 31 to the consolidated financial HN R BERRNE3 - ZEEREL
statements. The fair value of such options, which had been rABEEREBEABEASEARPE
recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss over 00 W HHREETE ©

the vesting period, was determined as at the date of grant.

(a) Independent non-executive directors (a) BWIIERITES
The fees paid to independent non-executive directors of FANFTARABBIULIFNITEENE
the Company during the year were as follows: ST
2021 2020
—E_—F TERIRF
RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBFT ARET T
Mr. David Tsoi® BERMEITTES 101 =
Mr. Lu, Brian Yong Chen BIKERIEE 100 107
Mr. Yuen Shiu Wai' RIGRAE 73 -
Mr. Wong Chun Sek, Edmund? =BTESTE! 37 107
Mr. Huang Liangkuai? =RIRgE? 27 107
338 321
! This director was appointed as an independent non- 1 SEEN_S - —FNAt+tHEES
executive director of the Company on 7 April 2021. EARATIBIIIEHTES -
2 This director was resigned as an independent non- 2 DBEEN - —FNB+ [ T
executive director of the Company on 7 April 2021. AT IIIEHTES o
3 This director was appointed as an independent non- 3 P e e o = B =F 3
executive director of the Company on 14 May 2021. HSEARATIBILIERNTES
¢ This director was retired as an independent non-executive 4 DEEN_BE-_—FFF+MWAR
director of the Company on 14 May 2021. FEARATBIIIEHTES -
There were no other emoluments payable to the ERTEENNATEIIIERNTES
independent non-executive directors of the Company NEMES (CE_F4F &) o

during the year (2020: Nil).
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31 December 2021
— S A S =g

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S 8. EFRESTHAEHM @

REMUNERATION (continued)

(b) Executive directors, non-executive director and (b) HITEF -IFHITEERESITH
the chief executive AB

Salaries,
allowances Pension
and benefits scheme Share-based Total
Fees inkind contributions payments remuneration

EE AL BhE  URGA
g  REWEN  SHEIfRR BRAOR RGeS
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTT ARETR ARBTR ARETR ARET:

2021 —EC-fF
Executive directors; HTER:
Mr. Chan Sek Keung, BREAsRTE
Ringo 100 2,520 15 28 2,663
Mr. Lu Chengye e 100 - - - 100
Ms. Wang Fang FruL 100 1,059 53 28 1,240
Mr. Liu Chun Fai? BEELE? 100 - - 285 385
400 3,579 68 341 4,388
Non-executive director;  JFHI{TES !
Mr. Wong Tsu Wai, Derek ~ E{T4ESE4E
(with his former name (HERLA
of Mr. Wong Dak Wai) FEREES) 100 - - 285 385
500 3,579 68 626 4,773
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PAFE 4R R M 5E

31 December 2021
IE T —aEr DS = 5 —(g

8. DIRECTORS' AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S
REMUNERATION (continued)
(b) Executive directors, non-executive director and
the chief executive (continued)

EFERESITHRAEHM @

(b) ATEF -FATEFARSITH
AE @

Salaries,
allowances Pension
and benefits scheme Total
Fees inkind  contributions  remuneration
i R RIRE
wE  KBEYET SRR AR EE
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARBTT AREBETRT ARETx
2020 “E-TE
Executive directors: HITEE
Mr. Chan Sek Keung, Ringo ~ R#538 564 107 3,739 16 3,862
Mr. Lu Chengye e 107 = = 107
Ms. Wang Fang FrEZL 107 1,054 8 1,169
Mr. Ching Chau Wa'’ BERESLE 62 311 9 382
Mr. Liu Chun Fai? B &g E? A = = 44
427 5,104 33 5,564
Non-executive director: FERITES
Mr. Wong Tsu Wai, Derek FraERE
(with his former name (HEBH2A
of Mr. Wong Dak Wai) FERES) 107 = = 107
534 5,104 33 5,671
! This director was resigned as an executive director of the 1 REENRN_BEEF)\B—HEF
Company on 1 August 2020. AT HITES o
2 This director was appointed as an executive director of the 2 ZEER_E_FEFN\B—BHEZE
Company on 1 August 2020. ERERBNITES
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
PAFE 4R R MY 5E

31 December 2021

FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES 9. HlumE#HES

The five highest paid employees during the year included two FRAIRSHEECERARAMU(CE
(2020: two) executive directors of the Company, details of ZE2F M) BITES BRENFMER
whose remuneration are set out in note 8 above. Details of the S EXE8 FRHNEEGR = (ZZZ
remuneration for the year of the remaining three (2020: three) TE =) WIERARBEEHRSTEA
highest paid employees who are neither director nor chief BNREHEENFMFEUT !

executive of the Company are as follows:

2021 2020
—B_—fF —EITHF
RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETT
Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind ~ #7< \ EREE R EY)EF] 2,311 2,177
Pension scheme contributions BRREETEHR 124 30
2,435 2207
The number of non-director and non-chief executive highest FMEUTHENIFEZRIEFRSTEA
paid employees whose remuneration fell within the following BENEEmEEABUT !

bands is as follows:

Number of employees
BE AZ
2020
TEZTEF
Nil to HK$1,000,000 (equivalent to Z251,000,00058 T FHER
RMB830,000) AR #£830,0007T) 2 3
HK$1,000,001 (equivalent to RMB830,001) 1,000,001 7T (FHE R
to HK$2,000,000 (equivalent to AE#§830,0017T) =
RMB1,660,000) 2,000,000787t (FEER
AER#1,660,0007T) 1 0
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
PAFE 4R R M 5E

31 December 2021
TS = 5 —(g

10. INCOME TAX EXPENSE

| i

10.

The Group is subject to Hong Kong profits tax at the rate of
16.5% (2020: 16.5%) on the estimated assessable profits
arising in Hong Kong during the year, except for one subsidiary

of the Group which is a qualifying entity under the two-tiered

profits tax rates regime. The first HK$2,000,000 (equivalent
to RMB1,779,000) (2020: HKS$2,000,000 (equivalent to
RMB1,763,000)) of assessable profits of this subsidiary is
taxed at 8.25% and the remaining assessable profits are taxed

at 16.5%. Taxes on profits assessable elsewhere have been

calculated at the rates of tax prevailing in the jurisdictions in

which the Group operates.

Continuing operation
Current - Mainland China
Charge for the year
Current - Vietnam
Charge for the year
Deferred income tax (note 17)

Total tax charge for the year

BPER — R Py th
FRAXH

BNHR—tdEe
FAXH

ESEFRTSIR (EE17)

FRMIAT HABEE

Except for the following companies, the subsidiaries of the

Company established in Mainland China were subject to

corporate income tax (“CIT") at the statutory tax rate of 25% in

the following years:

FrigfiE
REBFERI65%RE(ZT _TF .
16.5%) S ERR BB Gt ERR &
FHREENSHREE HEEAEEN—KB
i BB A B BRSO R A ARG AR & F
BRMEFENERL -ZNBAEEE
2,000,000t (FEE R AE®1,779,0007T)
(ZZ " =4 12,000,000 T FHERAR
#1,763,0007z) ) BYFEER#R im A1 #%8.2 5%
TREENR > EERIERERIEFBIZ16.5%M70
KEi - HiththEWERNEFMMWRIER
BAREBREEBAER LB SRR
EEtHo

2021 2020
—E_—F —BTEF
RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBETTT
(Re-presented)
(RER)

ARBFT

3,386 3,026
- 1,042

(3,105) (3,684)
281 384

BRUT AR ARBRPEARMALILZ
MR B U N FEERR25%%EERTH
MM (MEEPREIR)

Beijing Wafer*
Xi'an Wafer**
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10.

11.

bl |

INCOME TAX EXPENSE (continued)

* The entity is qualified as High and New Technology Enterprises
and was entitled to a preferential CIT rate of 15% for the years
ended 31 December 2021 and 2020.

**  The entity is qualified as Small Low-Profit Enterprises and
entitled to a preferential CIT rate of 10% for the year ended 31
December 2021.

The subsidiary which operates in Vietnam was subject to CIT at
a rate of 14% (2020: 14%) on taxable income for the year ended
31 December 2021. This entity is entitled to enjoy 30% tax relief
based on the condition that its revenue was less than VND200
billion (equivalent to RMB59,781,000) for the years ended 31
December 2021 and 2020.

KB FEEEETH
PRI A &S 18

Loss before tax from continuing operation

Tax at the statutory tax rate of 16.5%
(2020: 16.5%)

Different tax rates enacted by local
authorities in Mainland China RERE

Different tax rates in different jurisdictions

Expenses not deductible for tax AENRNHES

Tax effect of tax losses not recognised 0 A HE 58 2 R A5 1R Y
MR

Income not subject to tax BIRERR Z WA

Tax expense at the Group's effective
rate

MIARSZ

DIVIDEND

No dividend has been paid or proposed by the Company during
the year ended 31 December 2021 and subsequent to the end of
the reporting period (2020: Nil).

10.

RE R B R AR

RAEBEBRERIEL

11.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
PAFE 4R R MY 5E

31 December 2021

FRSIERAX @

Y RERSABFRMEEER ANEE
SR ER-FCSE+-A=+—H
I EEEHEE L RAIERE%-

o ZBERETENEMAEESR BREBE
B+ _A=+—HLEFEZHE
B ERBREI0%-

FHRESHRBARERIL CEIE
F 1 14%) IRERBEEZZS - —F+4
=S+ HIEFERFRINABMRDERS
R-ENZEERNEE_ZE_—ER_T
ZTEFE+ZA=+—HBIEFENKRFEER
2,00028mE (HER AKT59,781,000
7o) MR HERZZ30%MIRIER T

116.5% (ZZE-F4F :16.5%)
AEREENRIE
FRE A S RSB B R

2021 2020

—E_—% —E =

RMB'000 RMB'000

AEETT ARHETFTT

(Re-presented)

(RRER)

(22,048) (78,278)

(3,638) (12,916)

(582) (816)

(176) 188

902 10,177

4,162 4,463

(387) (712)

281 384

iz s

BE_Z_—F+_A=+—HLEFER

R|BERE > X R BB EIRT NEFIK
TRE CETZE 1 H) -
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
PAFE 4R R M 5E

31 December 2021
IE T —aEr DS = 5 —(g

12. (LOSS)/EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLETO 12. B BB AELEE (B518) &

OWNERS OF THE PARENT )

The calculation of the basic (loss)/earnings per share amount SRER BB BAINBREREESR
is based on the (loss)/profit for the year attributable to owners BlHEE AW (B8) &7 URFANE
of the parent, and the weighted average number of ordinary BT E BN #E 19 %1080,090,2548% (=&
shares of 80,090,254 (2020: 76,065,912 (Re-presented)) in T 1 76,065,9120% (BEEWR)) stH o

issue during the year.

The calculation of diluted loss per share for the year ended 31 BE_Z_—F+"A=+—HILFE"
December 2021 had not taken into account the effect of the HRNBRERRERERERRLD Sk
potential ordinary shares on convertible bond as the assumed BEBEERA S R ARESNEBETER
conversion would result in a decrease in loss per share. R EMmEt & o

The calculations of basic and diluted (loss)/earnings per share SREAR (BB JaMZAEUTREIE
are based on: IR

2021 2020
—E-—4F BT ELE

_—— —= =

RMB'000 RMB'000

ARET T ARETT
(Re-presented)
(BER)

(Loss)/earnings (B518) im#)
(Loss)/profit attributable to owners of BAB%E NS
the parent, used in the basicand diluted ~ AR EERERK

(loss)/earnings per share calculation 4 (518) &'f
- From continuing operation —REFESE R (18,176) (75,027)
- From discontinued operation —REBR IR EETR 1,329 (8,024)

(16,847) (83,051)
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12. (LOSS)/EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO
OWNERS OF THE PARENT (continued)

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
PAFE 4R R MY 5E

31 December 2021

. BaTE
518 (@)

BiREDGE ARGEER

Number of shares
&8
2020
—ETEF
(Re-presented)
(B E3R)

Shares 5240
Weighted average number of ordinary BARstESRELR R

shares in issue during the year used in % (518 &min

the basic and diluted (loss)/earnings FARABETEBER

per share calculation NAEF 9K 80,090,254 76,065,912
(Loss)/earnings per share: s (B8 88

Basic and diluted BEAREE

- From continuing operation — REFREREER (RMB22.69 cents) (RMB98.63 cents)

) (AE#22.695) (AR¥98.6359)
- From discontinued operation — j& E E,,i\gﬂ: §§§ ¥§& RMB1.66 cents (RMB-I 0.55 cents)
ARE1L665 (AK¥510.559)

The weighted average number of ordinary shares for the
purpose of the calculation of basic (loss)/earnings per
share has been adjusted for the capital reorganisation of the
Company on 28 July 2021, and the bonus elements in the issue
of shares of the Company on 6 September 2021 and 11 March
2022 as if effective since 1 January 2020.

No adjustment has been made to the basic (loss)/earnings per
share amounts presented for the years ended 31 December
2021 and 2020 in respect of a dilution as the impact of share
options outstanding had an anti-dilutive effect on the basic
(loss)/earnings per share amounts presented.

BRstEERER (518 afmNEER
MEFHHERERERZEZ—F+A
_+AE$@ﬂ§¢§ AU AR RBIRZ
T FhBAREBRIZEZIZF=R+—
E%kﬁ%ﬁ%ﬂﬂ&@ﬁﬁﬁ%%@ﬂ
BZEZEF—HF—HEENK-

HRERTEZERESZRERER

(548)  HAeEARBERE Wi
ENEE S —FR-_B-SE+-A

ES+—BHLEEEERZERER (B8) /
A R FH AR

—s——=5% 175
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
PAFE 4R R M 5E

31 December 2021
IE T —aEr DS = 5 —(g

13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

31 December 2021 —E_—#§+°HA=t—H
At 1 January 2021 RZE-—F—H—H
Cost A
Accumulated depreciation Retins
Net carrying amount REFE
At 1 January 2021, net of RZE_—&—F—H’
accumulated depreciation MBRREHTE
Additions A
Depreciation provided during the year ERFHEZ I E
Exchange realignment ER A
At31 December 2021, net of RIB=—4F
accumulated depreciation +ZA=+—H>
MRRsHTE
At31 December 2021 RIEZ—F
+-B=1+—H
Cost B
Accumulated depreciation REHNE
Net carrying amount FREFE

1 76 InvesTech Holdings Limited &zl =8 B IR A E

Leasehold
improvements

TEMEEE
RMB'000
ARETFR

13. ME - -BERRE

Equipment
R
RMB'000
UNE S

Motor
vehicles
_E
RMB'000
ARBTT

Others
Hith
RMB'000
AREBTT

Total

it
RMB'000
ABETR

1,160 2,029 728 1,564 5,481
(916) (1,536) (635) (1,350) (4,437)
244 493 93 214 1,064
244 493 93 214 1,044
897 354 - 595 1,846
(52) (362) (93) (369) (876)
(14) = = (5) (19)
1,075 485 - 435 1,995
1,816 826 656 1,805 5,103
(741) (341) (656) (1,370) (3,108)
1,075 485 - 435 1,995




13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued)

31 December 2020

At 1 January 2020
Cost
Accumulated depreciation

Net carrying amount
At 1 January 2020, net of
accumulated depreciation
Additions
Depreciation provided during the year

Exchange realignment

At 31 December 2020, net of

accumulated depreciation

At 31 December 2020

Cost
Accumulated depreciation

Net carrying amount

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAﬂI;]_STATEMENTS

B RMIE

31 December 2021
— S A S =g

13. ME - -BERRE ®

Leasehold Motor
improvements Equipment vehicles Others Total
THEMEEE R AE Hth a5t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBFT ARBF ARBFTT ARBTT ARBF
Z2IZHE+ZA=1+—-H
RZE_25—H—H
A 1,159 1,527 728 1,419 4,833
REtE (724) (1,219) (488) (915) (3,346)
REFE 435 308 240 504 1,487
RIZZEE—F—H>
MBRREHTE 435 308 240 504 1,487
BB 1 502 = 145 648
FENstiRZITE (192) (315) (147) (435) (1,089)
ERAE = (2) - - (2)
RIBZZE
+ZB=+—8>
MBRRFHTE 244 493 93 214 1,044
REETEE
+ZRA=+—H
A 1,160 2,029 728 1,564 5,481
REINE (916) (1,536) (635) (1,350) (4,437)
AR B 244 493 93 214 1,044
R_E-——ER-_E-_BE+-A=+—

At 31 December 2021 and 2020, no property, plant and

equipment were pledged.

H> WHEYE-BRERRERER -
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R ME

31 December 2021
IE T —aEr DS = 5 —(g

14.

178

LEASES 14.
The Group as a lessee

The Group has lease contracts for various and buildings used

in its operations. Buildings in Mainland China generally have

lease terms between 2 and 3 years. Buildings in Hong Kong
generally have lease terms between 1 and 2 years. Certain
offices have lease terms of 12 months or less. There are no

lease contracts that include extension and termination options

and variable lease payments.

(a) Right-of-use assets
The carrying amounts of the Group's right-of-use assets

and the movements during the year are as follows:

HE

FEBEREEA
FEEAEANEXGEENZEZFTHMAE
EcW -hERMEBFHNEABEENF2E
3F-BEBBFHNEPEENFIE25 -5
FMAEMEIRB12E R T o i E
ESNEREEERKRIEESE R TEMA

Bffme

(a) REFEESE
AEBFNFEHAEESENREERE
B -

Buildings

BF

RMB'000

ARBF T

At 1 January 2020 N2 F—HF—H 8,248

Depreciation charge FER= (5,285)
At 31 December 2020 and 1 January 2021 A —E_EF+"H=+—H

2 —4%—HF—H 2,963

Additions RE 10,228

Lease modification HEEST 10,453

Depreciation charge TEMX (5,775)

Exchange realignment PE S EL (45)

At 31 December 2021 TR —FF+ZA=+—H 17,824
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14. LEASES (continued) 14.
The Group as a lessee (continued)
(b) Lease liabilities
The carrying amount of lease liabilities (included under
interest-bearing bank and other borrowings, note 29)

and the movements during the year are as follows:

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
PAFE 4R R MY 5E

31 December 2021

HE @

FEBEREEAN @

(b) FHEEE
FANHEERRE (BEFBRITREM
BAIE TR MizE29) BYBRE B K &
£

Carrying amount at 1 January R—A—HZIREE

New leases A

Lease modification HE’EST

Accretion of interest recognised during € E FEE3F S 1L 1E

the year

Payments (NES

Exchange realignment PR

Carrying amount at 31 December K+ZA=+—Hz
REE

Analysed into: PAR I

Within one year —FR

In the second to fifth years, inclusive E_FEFHEF
(BEEEWE)

The maturity analysis of lease liabilities is disclosed in
note 41 to the consolidated financial statements.

2021 2020
—®-—%  -3-3F
RMB'000 RMB'000
ARET T AR®TT
6,966 14,307
10,228 -
10,453 -
989 671
(8,625) (8,012)
(50) -

19,961 6,966
7,040 4,975
12,921 1,991
19,961 6,966

HEEENIBEESMERER S
TRERFRMIEELT ©
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31 December 2021
IE T —aEr DS = 5 —(g

14. LEASES (continued) 14. HE @
The Group as a lessee (continued) TEBEAEREAN @
(c) The amounts recognised in profit or loss in relation to (c) MNIBRPEZNBEERERIBUOT :

leases are as follows:

2021 2020
s it el V-
RMB'000 RMB'000
ARET T ARHETTT
Interest on lease liabilities HEaEHN S 989 671
Depreciation charge of right-of-use FRAREETERS
assets 5,775 5,285
Expense relating to short-term leases ~ BGHATEE A RAIMBIS 1,367 1,710
Total amount recognised in profit or loss 877k P HE SR RUIBARZE 8,131 7,666
(d) The total cash outflows for leases are disclosed in note (d) BEREEENBESARLEERENGS
36(c) to the consolidated financial statements. B IR R MIEE36(c) o
15. GOODWILL 15. BH&
2021 2020
e —=oT
RMB'000 RMB'000
ARET T ARETIT
Cost: RS
At 1 January and 31 December R—A—BkX&
F—E==[E 207,580 207,580
Accumulated impairment: KETHE !
At 1 January n—HB—H (72,628) (15,016)
Impairment during the year (note 6) FRRE (T5E6) - (57,612)
At 31 December R+=—B=+—H (72,628) (72,628)
Net carrying amount: REEE :
At 31 December R+=ZB=+—H 134,952 134,952
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15. GOODWILL (continued)

Impairment testing of goodwill

Network system integration cash-generating unit

Goodwill related to the network system integration cash-
generating unit arose from the acquisition of Fortune
Grace in 2015. Details of the acquisition are set out in the
announcements of the Company dated 6 and 13 November
2015. To support the management to determine the
recoverable amount of the network system integration cash-
generating unit (the "Recoverable Amount of CGU"), the Group
engaged an independent professional valuer, Jones Lane
LaSalle Corporate Appraisal and Advisory Limited, to perform a
valuation.

The Recoverable Amount of CGU has been determined based
on a value in use calculation using cash flow projections based
on financial budgets approved by senior management covering
a five-year period with budgeted revenue growth rate, the
budgeted gross margins, the discount rate and the terminal
growth rate applied in the cash flow projections. During the
year ended 31 December 2020, the Group recognised an
impairment loss of approximately RMB57,612,000 against
goodwill following a reduction in the future cash flow
projection of Fortune Grace Management Limited and its
subsidiaries (“Fortune Grace Group”). As at 31 December
2021, based on the goodwill impairment assessment results,
the Recoverable Amount of CGU and the carrying amount
of the network system integration cash-generating unit is
approximately RMB252,568,000 (2020: RMB302,249,000) and
RMB233,219,000 (2020: RMB282,635,000) respectively. No
impairment loss was recorded for the year ended 31 December
2021 as the recoverable amount of CGU exceeds its carrying
amount, which includes the net carrying amount of the
goodwill.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R R MIEE

31 December 2021
—FE_—Ff+_F=+—H

15. HE®

2 2 R E A

HIE RS R ELE N

B rREeReELBAEMANEE
A —FFEUHEFortune GraceFFE4LE o
WEFBEN A ABHBEAZE—AF
+—BAANEE+T=ZHZAL - AHHER
EBEEREAMESRESEEB MM
Cl£% ((ReEEEMNTWESEE]) o
rEBZEBUEXHEMPEHITHRE
R BHERA B ETHE

REEEBAMNTYE 5T, IR R MHE B
HEneRBAltENEREEEE M
IR &M = T8 R B WA = 4R B I FE Pt 8 R
ELFHBERAEBEXRNTEESE
BFEEME - NREEXKEANRRERER
B KABEXRARB RBEEZZTZ
SFE+_"_H=+—HIEFE »HEFortune
Grace Management Limited & EHi @A E]
(TFortune Gracef M) MR ZKIB &R
SERAARE  AEBEMEERDAES
B NR®ES57,612,000cc R B - —4F
+ZA=+—H REBSHENGE
RORSELAEMUNTREEENOS A
FE#252,568,000c (ZE_ZF . AR
302,249,0007T) > MR MESIREES
BAIMNEEmES ARK233,219,0005T (=
T _=F . ARK282,635,0007T) cEHEZ
Z_—F+A=t+—HIEFETERS
BEERE RARSEEBUNATKEE
EEBAHREEE SEmENEEREE
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15.

GOODWILL (continued)

Impairment testing of goodwill (continued)

Network system integration cash-generating unit (continued)
The cash flow projections have taken into account the
outbreak of COVID-19 pandemic (the “COVID-19") would
continuously affect the global economy but become stabilised
in coming years, the Group expects continuous growth for
its network infrastructure business by strengthening its
core competitiveness and the contribution from a sizeable
government contract for the provision of a smart library
system, and the Group foresees that the customers' awareness
of and demand for the Group's software solutions increase as
a result of the change of customers' demand and operating
practice due to the outbreak of COVID-19. The directors of
the Company considered that these reasons directly affected
the parameters applied in the assumptions used in the value-
in-use calculation for network system integration cash-
generating unit as at 31 December 2021 as mentioned below.

Assumptions were used in the value-in-use calculation for
network system integration cash-generating unit for 31
December 2021 and 2020. The following describes each key
assumption on which management has based its cash flow
projections to undertake impairment testing of goodwill:

Budgeted revenue growth rates - The budgeted revenue
growth rates are based on the historical revenue growth data
and market outlook perceived by management. The five-
year period with estimated revenue growth rate applied at 31
December 2021 is 1.00% to 23.28% per annum (2020: 4.36% to
17.69% per annum).

1 82 InvesTech Holdings Limited &zl =8 B IR A E

15. HE ®

BEZRENR @
HERARE T ELEMN (B)
RERERACH RMERERBESHRREE
(MFFEERFRSR) BESFEZERIX
KEESERKRBMEBINRE  A&ERA
stHAAMEREZERET R BBMNEEZD
RFNRKREREEEBEERMOAE
HRFEMNEMEUFEE R SEBTT
R AR EEREERBEERER
BERMEERASE  RRHEERRM
BARDENDHAMNBRBEE M RAF
EERARTREAEERZE T XREN =
T —F+_RB=1t—HRBRHKESH
TEEEUNEREBEAERMERANR
REBH-

Bt E S —FER"_T_FF+_H
—+—HRBARBSREELEUZE
BREEEARR TXHALEEEERH
RERBAETHERENSMKEZS
BEERR :

FEERAGEEXE -FAERAEREXTGRIE
BEFRWAEE#EREEBHMIZAS
PEE-ERAR_E_—&E&+_-_HA=1+—
B A FHRBESH WA EEXE LSS F1.00%
F23.28% (CE_ZTF . §FL36%F
17.69%) o



15. GOODWILL (continued)

Impairment testing of goodwill (continued)

Network system integration cash-generating unit (continued)
Budgeted gross margins - The basis used to determine the
value assigned to the budgeted gross margins is the average
gross margins achieved in the year immediately before the
budget year, increased for expected market development. The
gross margin applied in the cash flow projections ranges from
25.43% to 30.18% (2020: 24.15% to 33.28%).

Discount rate - The discount rates used are before tax and
reflect specific risks relating to the relevant unit. The discount
rate applied at 31 December 2021 is 26.67% (2020: 26.07%).

Long term growth rate - The long term growth rate is based
on market data and management's expectation on the future
development of the technology industry. The long term growth
rate applied at 31 December 2021 is 3.00% (2020: 3.00%).

The values assigned to the key assumptions on market
development and discount rate are consistent with external
information sources.

If the key assumptions on which the Group had based its
determination of the Recoverable Amount of CGU changed in an
unfavourable extent, the changes would cause an impairment
loss.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
MR R

31 DecemberZUZl

15 % IYE

HEZEENR @

HERARE R ELEMN (@)

EEEME-FEEEMNEXZEEDNRER
BEEEERZENBEINZ FHERNE
(MBHETBEEEMER) BEE -ERAR
&M IR ERZ AN F25.43%%30.18%
(ZEBZF4F : 24.15%%F33.28%) ©

MRE-FAMBXARKRANREE I
RBAERBMARZETE R - EAR
T+ ZB=1+—HHAREXS
26.67% (ZZZ"F4F 1 26.07%) °

RHEEE-RBEREDREDHK
BEREEBHEMITERKREENEE
BT -ERAR_E_—H+_A=+—
BN R ERA3.00% (2%
3.00%) ©

THERZTEZRREERITEREINE
BRHOR—

HAEEEEREELEEUR AR EEE
FIkENEEZRRHBEAFEE AZE
BRIES I BURERIR
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
PAFE 4R R M 5E

31 December 2021
TS = 5 —(g

16. OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS 16. HthEHEE
Technology
31 December 2021 know-how
- —F+"H=+—H HHERIM
RMB'000
AE®TT
Cost: B
At 1 January 2021 and 31 December 2021 B —F—HF—HFK
BT —H+"HA=+—H 202,446
Accumulated amortisation: RET#E
At 1 January 2021 R_E_—%—HF—H 103,755
Amortisation provided during the year FREHEE 20,243
At 31 December 2021 N2 —4+"F=+—H 123,998
Net carrying amount: IRMEHE
At 31 December 2021 N2 —F+ZA=+—H 78,448
Technology
31 December 2020 know-how
TERIEF+ZA=1+—H EE M
RMB'000
ARHETIT
Cost: %N
At 1 January 2020 and 31 December 2020 N2 EF—HF—Hk
“ECEF+ZA=1+—H 202,446
Accumulated amortisation Ret#EFORE ¢

and impairment:

At 1 January 2020 R_B_EF—H—H 83,510

Amortisation provided during the year FREHEE 20,245

At 31 December 2020 RIE-EE+"_HF=+—H 103,755
Net carrying amount: IRMEHE !

At 31 December 2020 N2 TERF+"/F=+—H 98,691
As at 31 December 2021 and 2020, the Group's other N _E_—FR_ECEFEFT_/=+—
intangible assets consist of technology know-how, which B &x&EEHN Hﬂﬂﬂﬂiﬂ/ EBEEAR
was arose from the acquisition of Fortune Grace in 2015. The il ZEBRMNR S —AF W HEFortune
Group has prepared impairment testing for other intangible GracelFE4A - AEEEMEMBEEEE
assets together with goodwill related to the network system FHEEEAMESREELEEMNEANE
integration cash generating unit, and no impairment loss has E2ETRENG BE_ZE_—F+°H4
been recognised for the year ended 31 December 2021 (2020: —+—BLEFE> mEREINBHEREE
nil). (CE2-2F |-
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17. DEFERRED TAX 17. EERIE
Deferred tax assets RIERIEEE

Impairment
loss of assets Others Total

BERBEBE Hith #8 5t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBET T ARETIT AREET T

At 1 January 2020 N2 -ZF—H—H 2,617 385 3,002
Credited to profit or loss during PR Em A (f5E10)
the year (note 10) 648 = 648
At 31 December 2020 and RIBTZE
1 January 2021 —f— ﬁ +—Hx
2 —4%—HF—H 3,265 385 3,650
Credited to profit or loss during R Bz A (FEE10)
the year (note 10) 68 = 68
At31 December 2021 RTEBET—F
+—-A=+—H 3,333 385 3,718
Deferred tax liabilities RERBEEE

Fair value
adjustment on
acquisition of
a subsidiary

WekE—
MiEB AT Z
NABEEAE
RMB'000
AREBFT
At 1 January 2020 A2 ZF—H—H 17,841
Credited to profit or loss during the year (note 10) FRREmETA (fF5E10) (3,036)
At 31 December 2020 and N TETEF
1 January 2021 +_)§_+ B
—%F—H—H 14,805
Credited to profit or loss during the year (note 10) EWEAE st (Mf5E10) (3,037)
At31 December 2021 RZB_—F
+—B=+—H 11,768
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17.

186

DEFERRED TAX (continued)

No deferred tax asset has been recognised in respect of
deductible temporary differences of RMB615,954,000 (2020:
RMB550,970,000) as the deductible temporary differences
have arisen in subsidiaries that have been loss-making for
years and it is not probable that taxable profits will be available
against which the deductible temporary differences can be
utilised. The unused tax losses of the PRC subsidiaries will
expire in five years.

Pursuant to the PRC Corporate Income Tax Law, a 10%
withholding tax is levied on dividends declared to foreign
investors from the foreign investment enterprises established
in Mainland China. The requirement is effective from 1 January
2008 and applies to earnings after 31 December 2007. A lower
withholding tax rate may be applied if there is a tax treaty
between Mainland China and the jurisdiction of the foreign
investors. The Group is therefore liable for withholding taxes
on dividends distributed by those subsidiaries established
in Mainland China in respect of earnings generated from 1
January 2008.

At 31 December 2021, no deferred tax has been recognised
for withholding taxes that would be payable on the unremitted
earnings of the Group's subsidiaries established in Mainland
China. In the opinion of the directors, it is not probable
that these subsidiaries will distribute such earnings in the
foreseeable future. The aggregate amount of temporary
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries in
Mainland China for which deferred tax liabilities have not been
recognised totalled RMB76,696,000 at 31 December 2021
(2020: RMB54,667,000).

InvesTech Holdings Limited &zl =8 B IR A E

17.

IRIERIE (@)

Bt el 3R R A 2 A R #615,954,000
T(CEZZE . ARM550,970,0007T) FE
SIRIERMIBEE ) RRAZS I IRE R
EEELFERNZERRESEHEENKEB R
B ALK ER R & A Al 4t 7] 30
BREREZEFERAERHE TEKFKEATHN
REBRBEESENAFARER-

RFE PR EFTSHE £ R EI A AR 1L
SINEEERIIEKEEERRE AR
R EABMI0%HIAINRER - ILRE B
“EEN\EF-HF—HRRERTERR
EZLFEFR=+—HZEBHNEN 4
EREAMEAZEINEREEPTE R A
5] AR E  IRNABRKRENE
FREAME - HIt » AEBA S EMETEAM
BMINZENBREE _EENE—F—
B E £ BRI & F P 0 Kk A 2 B8R O30 A0
o

AT —E+ - H=+—H LERE
EERTETFEAMBRINKBARZAE
IKBAEN Z RN ERIRIEIRIE
EEZRA 2EWBRABDFRAERATRER
KRRBEBBAN R_TE_—F+_H4
=+—B > HABBRIEREBESBEZRF
BB AR 2 BN G R E R
A ANRT6,696,000T (CBE-TE 1 A
R#54,667,0007T) ©



18.

bl |

FINANCIAL ASSET AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

On 17 February 2017, the Company entered into a capital
injection agreement (“Agreement”) with 5 AR AR
A8} (China Communication Technology Co., Ltd.* (“CCT"))
which was established in Shenzhen, Guangdong Province of
the PRC, and certain shareholders of CCT, pursuant to which
the Company would inject an amount of RMB600,000,000 in
CCT. The capital injection was completed on 25 July 2018 when
the Company became a non-substantial shareholder of CCT
and owned approximately 3.95% of the enlarged registered
capital of CCT. Upon completion of the capital injection into
CCT and other conditions as stipulated in the Agreement,
the Group has irrevocably designated this unlisted equity
investment at fair value through other comprehensive income
at initial recognition as the Group considers this investment
to be strategic in nature. As at 31 December 2019, resulting
from CCT's capital increase during the year, the Company's
shareholding percentage decreased to approximately 3.91% of
the enlarged registered capital of CCT. There was no change on
the shareholding percentage as at 31 December 2021 and 2020.

18.

Financial asset at fair value through BARBES AHEM
other comprehensive income SERENEMEE
Unlisted equity investment, at fairvalue A A EEFEH

FELETRAKLE
CcCcT ENH A

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
PAFE 4R R MY 5E

31 December 2021

BanBEAARMEZEARENSE
REE

RZE—+F B+t H> AQBEER
FRABEERAR (MFERA A > THIRHE
BRE RN RERS A TREE
DB ((ZpE) Bl AABEE
A A EEANERKE600,000,000c° FEE
R _E—N\EFELtB_t+HHZH &AT
ERAERAAANIEETERE THERE
HE AR IEAFMEAL3.95%  IFEE
AR RZpEAENEMEFETRE
HRAEERAZEEBREEE  Eit
FE L R ER I B IEERZA
ABEFAEMEERENIE EHEAE
Bk EBE—NE+-HA=+—8> HEHR
FRARERIZE  ARENFRKRE D LR
DEER S A SEAEMEARA3.91% &
EE - FRIZFEZIZEF+ZRA=1+—
B > R EE B b o

2021
&

2020
—EomE

RMB'000
ARBT T

RMB'000
AR®ET T

40,086 111,078
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18. FINANCIAL ASSET AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH 18. BARBEFAHMEZENRENE

188

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (continued)

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the fair value loss
net of the income tax effect in respect of the above unlisted
equity investment recognised in other comprehensive loss
amounted to RMB70,992,000 (2020: RMB271,491,000). The
fair value loss for the year ended 31 December 2021 was
primarily attributable to (i) the continuous poorer business
and economic environment in the industry of satellite
communication products as a result of the sanctions imposed
by the United States of America and the slowdown in the
global economy caused by the outbreak and the escalation of
COVID-19; (ii) the asset impairment for a major subsidiary of
CCT that undergoes bankruptcy reorganisation procedures;
(iii) the decrease in value of equity investments held by CCT;
and (iv) the unenforced amount under various litigations for
enforcement to CCT.

To support the management to determine the fair value of CCT,
the Group engaged an independent professional valuer, Jones
Lang LaSalle Corporate Appraisal and Advisory Limited, to
perform a valuation.

Details of the summary of significant unobservable inputs
to the valuation of financial investments together with a

InvesTech Holdings Limited &zl =8 B IR A E

MEE @
BE_TZ_—F#+_HB=+—HLlEE"
MEMEEBEEEIEN EAIE EmEA
CEMNRAABEBIEFE JRAER
FE) A ARKT0,992,000c (ZE-F
FBRERNAAEEBRBEA AR
271,491,0007%) cBEZZE-—H+°"H
=—t+—HIEFENAABEREZTERR
7 (i) 3= Bl 5 00 B9 1 2 A R # 2L T ik iR B 0
B IR 8 K FH AR S| RE B 2 B A =R B R
ERTMERTENEBRNREREBEFER
ES(NERAFAETERNBARETRES
BREFPNEERENRRD ; (IERNFAFE
B A B EE B 5 A (iv)HZER TS A
TS RN RFAITEEE

mHBEEEEEEMA AN ANEE
AERZREILSEXGEMPERITEE
M RABAERADETEHE

EREMEEHEZERTTHEZHAY
BHRENFS  EREEWMRE DN &

quantitation sensitivity analysis are set out in note 40 to the e MR RMIEEL0
consolidated financial statements.
* The English name is for identification purpose only.
19. LOAN RECEIVABLES 19. FEIRE®
2021 2020
e it Sl V-3
RMB'000 RMB'000
AR®TT AR®T T
Finance lease receivables R ETH & R RIE 1,749 3,913
Other loan receivables H e SRR - 21,722
Impairment BB = (9,103)
Other loan receivables, net HihEWERFE - 12,619
Total loan receivables, net HENETUREE 1,749 16,532
Portion classified as non-current assets: ~ 4EAIEMENEEZLD -
- Finance lease receivables — BB EREWRIE = (1,749)
Current portion EPRAEL 1,749 14,783
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
PAFE 4R R MY 5E

31 December 2021

EWER @
(A) REHEERWRIE

19. LOAN RECEIVABLES (continued)
(A) Finance lease receivables

19.

Present value of minimum lease

Minimum lease receivables

receivables

RIEFEERKZRE RIEHERKRERNIRE
31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December
2021 2020 2021 2020
—E-—F —TTEF el 3 “TTEF
+=ZB=+—H +ZB=+—H +=ZBA=+—H +ZA=+—H
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTT ARETT ARET ARET T
Within one year —FR 1,825 2,433 1,749 2,164
In the second to fifth years, BEFREF
inclusive (BEEEME) - 1,825 - 1,749
1,825 4,258 1,749 3,913
Less: Unearned finance income 8 : RERmE W (76) (345)
Present value of minimum lease R{EFAEFEUTIBHIRE
receivables 1,749 3,913

The Group's finance lease receivables are denominated in
RMB. The effective interest rate of the receivables is 8.9%
(2020: 8.9%) per annum. There are no unguaranteed
residual values of assets leased under finance leases
and no contingent rent arrangements that needed to be
recognised for the years ended 31 December 2021 and
2020.

AEENMERAEREKRBEUARES
B o FEURIEM B IR EF]ZX%8.9% (T2 =
TE89%) o HE_E_—E/K_T_F
F+ZHB=1+—H HETAREEAEE
ENEERFGREE  TEREMETRES
HAHELHE -
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19. EIRER @
(B) HithFEWRER

19. LOAN RECEIVABLES (continued)
(B) Other loan receivables

190

Other loan receivables represented outstanding
principals, which are denominated in HKS, arising from
the Group's money lending business in Hong Kong. Other
loan receivables had fixed terms of repayment, all of
which were within 1 year. The Group seeks to maintain
strict control over its other loan receivables in order to
minimise credit risk by reviewing the borrowers’ and their
guarantors' financial positions. As at 31 December 2021,
no other loan receivable arising from the Group's money
lending business as the Group discontinued its money
lending business during the year.

As at 31 December 2020, other loan receivables were
interest-bearing at rates mutually agreed between the
Group and the borrowers, ranging from 6% to 15% per
annum, and other loan receivables of RMB6,548,000 were
guaranteed by a property of a borrower.

For the year ended 31 December 2020, ECLs of other
loan receivables which measured at amortised cost
were estimated by applying a loss rate approach and
adjusted to reflect the current conditions and forecasts
of future economic conditions, as appropriate. The
gross loan balances of RMB15,155,000 were past due
and RMB6,567,000 were not past due at the end of the
reporting period. It was assessed that the ECL rate for the
above other loan receivables were ranging from 0.30% to
100%.

InvesTech Holdings Limited & :RiZR& A BRA F]

ey

HMMEKERIEEAEBEBEEEE
BEIEEZHMAREARSE HUBT
SHE-HMEWEREBEERA
2EHB—FRN o AEBE I RERFS
HEMBWER Z BEES WEB
BEBAAREERAZTBERRT
DEREBEERB N _E_—F+_
B=+—H HARAEERERER
IFEREXER  MAERE T ERARE
EBEENEMERER -

A _EFE+_H=+—H Hfth
BRERRAEERERAZEEE
BEZNFEECHE15% FIK5t
B M ARY6,548,0007TH) E fth FE U
ERMUIERAN B EEER

HE_Z-_ZEHF+-"HA=+—H1t
FE > UEHEHBAAGFTENEMEU
EXNEHGEEERAREEE
KA A M & R IR B
ARAE R 8 R SR AR IR BV TE R (W08
) cRBEHR > ERGERBEN
ANE#15,155,000c 28 AR
6,567,000 T R HA o A& 5T (> EaiE
HEKERNBEHREEEBEENTE
0.30%Z100% °



19. LOAN RECEIVABLES (continued)
(B) Other loan receivables (continued)

Movements in the loss allowance for impairment of other
loan receivables are as follows:

At beginning of year

R EEA])
Impairment losses, net (note 34)

Exchange realignment PE R EE
Disposal of subsidiaries HERBAE
At end of year RER

The maturity profile of other loan receivables of the
Group as at the end of the reporting period is as follows:

Overdue
Within 3 months

EIHA
=ERR

At 31 December 2021 and 2020, no amounts due from
related parties of the Group were included in other loan
receivables.

20. INVENTORIES

Merchandised goods

ERETH

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
PAFE 4R R MY 5E

31 December 2021

19. BRER @
(B) HfthiEUWERR @)
HMBWERREGEEEEZSHN

RERR R EE (5E34)

T
2021 2020
—E—F —ERTERF
RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETT
9,103 253
- 9,367
(78) (517)
(9,025) -
- 9,103

REESHARAERE B REMRBYE

20. 78

HRIERIE
2021 2020
—g-—% St Y2
RMB'000 RMB'000
AR¥BTT ARETT
- 6,071
- 6,548
- 12,619
N _EB-_—FR-_BEEFE+A

=+—H> rERTEFESBWR
IRt AE MR ERA

2021
—E-—f&

RMB'000
AR®ET T

17,320

2020
—s-E&
RMB'000
ARBF

12,648
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21.

TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES

Trade receivables B 5 EW A
Impairment Ve

Trade receivables, net B 5 RE WIS S5
Contract assets BHBE

Bills receivable SR FEWTR

Trade receivables of the Group represented proceeds
receivable from the sale of goods and rendering of services.
The Group's trading terms with its customers are mainly on
credit, except for new customers where payment in advance is
normally required. The credit term generally ranges from 30
to 90 days, and a longer credit term will be granted to certain
major customers. Each customer has a maximum credit limit.
The Group seeks to maintain strict control over its outstanding
receivables and has a credit control management system to
minimise credit risk. Overdue balances are reviewed regularly
by senior management. In view of the aforementioned, as
at 31 December 2021, except for the amounts due from one
(2020: one) customer exceeding 10% of the Group's total trade
and bills receivables, the remaining balances of the trade
receivables related to a large number of diversified customers.
There is no significant concentration of credit risk as at 31
December 2021. Trade receivables were interest-free and
unsecured as at 31 December 2021.

Contract assets arising from construction services for
communication network infrastructure. It primarily relate to the
Group's right to consideration for work completed but not billed
at the reporting date. The contract assets are transferred to
receivables when the rights become unconditional. The Group's
construction contracts include payment schedules which
require stage payments over the construction period once
milestones are reached. These payment schedules prevent
the build-up of significant contract assets. Additionally, 5% of
the contract sum is kept in contract assets until the end of the
retention period as the Group's entitlement to it is conditional
on the Group's work satisfactorily passing inspection.

1 92 InvesTech Holdings Limited & :iZRR B R A F

1. BB REHREUR

2021 2020
—E-—F TECTHF
RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBT T AREFT
204,207 194,481
(9,156) (8,189)
195,051 186,292
6,252 6,402
6,744 6,881
208,047 199,575

NEBEZERZIBERAREE S RRIEMR
IRISEWRZFISmE RIBEAERZESH
B REBERAZZEEEH ENE
EEEBHELAR EEEE—MRH30E90
BEAE METEIEZLRRERREZE
B -BARFPHEERSEEH AEE
NEBESEREERWRNIE LRBE
EEFHEEASA BREEERABAER
Beo-mHhEEAESSEHBTEIARNRE
BNERm\E R _E_—F+_H=+—
B> RERE—(CE_ZBFE . E—)BRAH
BHEBEANERE S REHRBWRAEEE10%
Sh BEREWRIENG NMERERZAE
MEEEBH RN_BE_—F+_A=+—
HEiEEAGEERMER R Z—
+ZB=+t—HZEZEKRZEARERK
LI o

GNEERABEERERREREEIRBF
EEMNGHNEE - TBINTEENRES
HEARLEZRMERFARE TR REER -
BNBEERZENRABHRGREREW
MIE AEBBRES AT ARG E
RE—BEINEARDHE AARREHR
DERNR - ZEMRAEAMERRE
REMEE I AEERREGHNEE
ZREMEBURNAE B TEESIEN BB R
B AN ENSNERGNEEEERE
HAfE R -



21.

TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES (continued) 21.

At beginning of year

Increase in contract assets as a result of
changing in measure of progress

Exchange realignment

At end of year

An ageing analysis of the trade receivables and contract assets
of the Group as at the end of the reporting period, based on the

transaction date and net of loss allowance, is as follows:

Within 3 months
3 to 6 months
6to 12 months
1to 2 years
Over 2 years

The movements in the loss allowance for impairment of trade

receivables are as follows:

At beginning of year

Provision for/(reversal of)
impairment losses, net (note 6)

Amounts written off as uncollectible

Exchange realignment

At end of year

S
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31 December 2021
— S A S =g

B REERIWE @

2021 2020

—E—F —ETEF

RMB'000 RMB'000

ARET T AR¥F T

REA] 6,402 -
EEEEHS|ENEL

EEEN - 6,402

FE R sREE (150) -

REER 6,252 6,402

TREJINKREPREERE 5 BWNIE
REHNEENREOT  BRBADNURS
HEfR S > W ENFRE IR R

2021 2020
—E-—f& —EoTE

RMB'000 RMB'000

ARETT ARETT

=EAMN 144,031 79,279
=EXEA 23,832 46,699
AE+EA 24,066 41,071
—ETE 9,374 25,042
BB M - 603
201,303 192,694

B RUGRRN R EBEREEZENT

2021 2020

B —ETEHE

RMB'000 RMB'000

AREFT NS

R 8,189 9,392
REEEEE S BE)

HEE (MIk6) 1,136 (71)
HiEE A A YR B =R IE (110) (1,405)
FE R A% (59) 273
RER 9,156 8,189
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21. TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES (continued) 21.

B 5 RFEEWR @

194

An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting date
using a provision matrix to measure expected credit losses.
The provision rates are based on days past due for groupings
of various customer categories with similar loss patterns. The
calculation reflects the probability-weighted outcome, the time
value of money and reasonable and supportable information
that is available at the reporting date about past events,
current conditions and forecasts of future economic conditions.
Generally, trade receivables are written off if uncollectible and
are not subject to enforcement activity.

To support the management to determine the ECLs of trade
receivables, the Group engaged an independent professional
valuer, Jones Lane LaSalle Corporate Appraisal and Advisory
Limited, to perform a valuation.

Set out below is the information about the credit risk exposure
on the Group's trade receivables and contract assets using a
provision matrix:

As at 31 December 2021

Current Within 1year

AEBNRSHRE D HEREBREEETR
ENMstERMAEEHRE -BBEXDHRE
BEBMUEREANZEERER DERN
BHARHETE StERMBEMELER S
BRERCRSAPHISERBEER
ERR R R ARG B IRETRANGER S
Bile—fRM = B 5 BWFIEN A A IKR[E
K BAZIRICERE AT BRI T LUMEE -

mmEEEEERBERNARESES
B AEEZE-—RBUEXEEMTE
BITEFRFEREAERADETHE

TR EBERBFEEESAENES
RERERENEEZFEERBRER !

RZE_—H+-HA=+—H

En#A
Expected credit loss rate BHREEHEX 0.26%
Gross carrying amount (RMB'000)  BRE#{E (NR T 1) 85,898
Expected credit losses (RMB'000) ~ FEHAfEEEE (NRHBT ) 226

As at 31 December 2020

Past due
1to2years Over2years
15R 1526 Bl
1.88% 16.55% 100% 4.35%
108,296 11,233 5,032 210,459
2,039 1,859 5,032 9,156

IZEZFF+ZA=+—H

Current

BNER

Expected credit loss rate HEEEHEX 0.54%
Gross carrying amount (RMB'000)  ERE4E(E (A\RET7T) 73,763
Expected credit losses (RMB'000)  TBHAfEE&#E (ARIETT) 397

InvesTech Holdings Limited &zl =8 B IR A E

Past due
81 HA
Within 1year  1to2years Over2years
1R 1E26F Bia2E
1.65% 12.78% 100% 4.07%
109,711 13,102 4,307 200,883
1,810 1,675 4,307 8,189



21.

22,

TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES (continued)

The maturity profile of the bills receivable of the Group as at the

end of the reporting period is as follows:

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
PAFE 4R R MY 5E

31 December 2021

21. B REBEEIKFH @
RSN A E B E NS ISR
mE

Within 3 months
3 to 6 months
6 to 12 months

2021 2020
—EF k-t 5
RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARBT T
—EAMA 4,845 2,486
=ZENEB 237 1,800
ANETEA 1,662 2,595
6,744 6,881

N —FR_FEIEFF_B=+—

At 31 December 2021 and 2020, no amounts due from related

parties of the Group were included in the trade and bills

receivables.

PREPAYMENTS, OTHER RECEIVABLES AND OTHER  22.
ASSETS

Advances to suppliers

Deposit and other receivables

Other tax recoverable

Impairment allowance

H> AEBETEFABESBIRIEST AEZS

R R R FE WP

FAfRIE s Htt B R IE R EthE

=
2021 2020
—E—F TETERE
RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT AEB®F T
mEE R 42,832 32,428
¥ K H fth FE W FUIE 11,377 9,027
HAh el 3R B # =0 1,206 1,681
55,415 43,136
B (220) (220)
55,195 42,916
N BT FERCECEEF " H=4—

At 31 December 2021 and 2020, no amounts due from related

parties of the Group were included in prepayments, other
receivables and other assets.

H > A& B I R E 5 B UWRUIEST A TR
IR HE WA R BB ERN -

ANNUAL REPORT 2021 — & = —FF 3R 1 95



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
PAFE 4R R M 5E

31 December 2021
IE T —aEr DS = 5 —(g

22,

196

PREPAYMENTS, OTHER RECEIVABLES AND OTHER
ASSETS (continued)

Where applicable, an impairment analysis is performed at
each reporting date by considering the probability of default
and expected credit losses are estimated by applying a loss
rate approach with reference to the historical loss record
of the Group. The loss rate is adjusted to reflect the current
conditions and forecasts of future economic conditions, as
appropriate. The financial assets included in the above balance
were categorised in stage 1 at the end of the reporting period.
In calculating the expected credit loss rate, the Group considers
the historical loss rate and adjusts for forward-looking
macroeconomic data. As at 31 December 2021 and 2020, the
Group assessed the expected loss rate for the deposits and
other receivables to be minimal.

The Group seeks to maintain strict control over its outstanding
receivables to minimise credit risk. Long ageing balances are
reviewed regularly by senior management. The Group does
not hold any collateral or other credit enhancements over its
deposits and other receivable balances. Movements in the
provision for impairment of deposits and other receivables are
as follows:

PRE R ER

At beginning of year and end of year

InvesTech Holdings Limited &zl =8 B IR A E

22,

T —

FAHIE - HthEWRIE R HEthE
= @®

EERBERT RERSEHBAETRE
AR REMEITRES T RERBEET A
AHEAGERE ER ST AEENAT
BER  BEEEEHARE MU R MIRR
AR5 e B 2R R A B AR R B9 TEORI (ANZE ) o
RIER LERANTREES D
BE—IEE ST ETHIAGEERBEERR A%
B = B 1 S 18 2 ke L AT M 7 R A X
BIEHAR R B _—FR_BE_ZF
+ZB=+—8 > ~"ERFHiRs Rk H i
FE Wk T8 B 78 A 5 18 i AR A o

A& B3 ] B AS R A H R B R FE WL RIS
?*%%EH%ﬁ%?EO% AR EINE

BRHEEREEEEHRER AEB L&
Hizs K EME R IB4E 8515 B K
mBEMEBIR - BEREMEWRIE
2 REEEEEHAT

2021
B —F

2020
B oEE

RMB'000
AREEF T

RMB'000
AR%T

220 220
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23. EQUITY INVESTMENT AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH

PROFIT OR LOSS

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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3. BRRARBESABRENRERE

2021 2020
&

Itk 2
RMB'000 RMB'000
ARET T ARIETF T

Listed equity investment,

at fair value LA KE
During the year ended 31 December 2017, the Group acquired
shares of a listed company in Hong Kong, the trading of which
has been suspended since October 2017. The equity investment
is classified as held for trading and measured at fair value
through profit or loss.

A fair value gain of RMB1,948,000 was recognised for changes
in fair value of equity investment at fair value through profit
or loss in "Other income and gains” (2020: "Other expenses,
net") in the consolidated statement of profit or loss for
the year ended 31 December 2021 (2020: fair value loss of
RMB188,000).

To support the management to determine the fair value
of equity investment, the Group engaged an independent
professional valuer, Jones Lane LaSalle Corporate Appraisal
and Advisory Limited, to perform a valuation.

Details of the summary of significant unobservable inputs
to the valuation of financial investments together with a
quantitation sensitivity analysis are set out in note 40 to the
consolidated financial statements.

Subsequent to the end of the reporting period, the trading of
the shares in the listed company was resumed on 22 March
2022.

BANBESEZ

2,880 999

HE_E—t+tH&+_HA=+—HILEE>
AREBKRBE—BEELTRABNKRMD H
B E—tE+AREERF - RAKE
DEARERZ WA BESAEBGE

BE_E_—F+-HA=+—HLEE"
M ARABEFABENRAZEQAALE
EBEEHNAABEWRT AKE,948,000
T(CE_EE  AABEEBEARKE
188,0007T) iz e iEmxM TEMURA K
W) (CEZRF  THMFEIFRE)) P

N
=7
Bt ©

mHHEEBEERETKRENAANEE:
AEBZR-2BIUEEGEEMMERTT
EEFERAABRABDETHEE.

ERETRMRELEZIERTIERAAY
BERENFR EREEHREDN &N
RE MR AN L0 -

RBEHERB 2 LT ATHNRMDER
TECCHE=RA+_HWERXRSZ
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24,

DEBT INVESTMENT AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH
PROFIT OR LOSS

Unlisted debt investment FELEHRRBIKE
On 20 March 2019, the Group subscribed an unlisted bond
issued by an independent third party with an aggregate
principal amount of HK$15,000,000 (equivalent to
RMB12,980,000), bearing interest at a rate of 12% per
annum. On 18 March 2020, 18 March 2021, 18 June 2021 and
12 October 2021, the Company entered into supplemental
subscription agreements, pursuant to which the maturity
dates of the debt investment were extended to 19 March
2021, 19 June 2021, 19 September 2021 and 19 January 2022
respectively. The interest rate of the debt investment was
revised to 9% per annum effective from 19 June 2021.

1 98 InvesTech Holdings Limited &zl =8 B IR A E

RARBESABDNERKRE

2021 2020
B —F

it St ¥2
RMB'000
ARETR

RMB'000
AR%T

12,530 13,055

RIE—HhAhFE=ZBZ+H AEBERE
— B UBIFE =L TASEES
15,000,000 7t (FHE R AR #12,980,000
7T) UEME12%t EMFELETES R
“EIEF=-A+NB-ZE=Z—%=H
+NEZZEZ—F~A+NBEZZ
T—E+B+ZH > AR MTBE
W Bt BHRKRENIHEHE D BIE
EEE”_—F=A+hB - ZTZ—F
NB+tABE-ZE-_—FhB+hABKRZ
= _F—A+NAH - BZEZ—FA8
+HhEE BERENFENXEBITA
9% o
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24. DEBTINVESTMENT AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH

25.

PROFIT OR LOSS (continued)

A fair value gain of RMB1,364,000 was recognised for changes
in fair value of debt investment at fair value through profit or
loss in “Other income and gains” in the consolidated statement
of profit or loss for the year ended 31 December 2021 (2020:
RMB1,607,000).

To support the management to determine the fair value of
unlisted debt investment, the Group engaged an independent
professional valuer, Jones Lane LaSalle Corporate Appraisal
and Advisory Limited, to perform a valuation.

Details of the summary of significant unobservable inputs
to the valuation of financial investments together with a
quantitation sensitivity analysis are set out in note 40 to the
consolidated financial statements.

Subsequent to the end of the reporting period, the bond issuer
failed to pay the principal and the interest due on 19 January
2022 pursuant to the fourth supplemental agreement and this
constituted an event of default. Up to the date of this report, the
bond issuer repaid the interest accrued up to 18 March 2022 of
approximately HK$593,000 (equivalent to RMB482,000).

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND PLEDGED
DEPOSITS

RE RIRE AR
BHEIRE™

Cash and bank balances
Pledged deposits

Less: Pledged deposits: B BIREER

Pledged for contract bidding g A EHE R
Pledged for contract execution AT IEHER
Cash and cash equivalents RERBEEEY

24,

25.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
PAFE 4R R MY 5E

31 December 2021
— S A S =g

BAREBEAABENERKRE
€=))
BE_ZT_—F+_HA=+—HLEE>
M AABEFABENERRENAR
BEEHNGESEIRN THMURA KIK
m  ARESR A A EE R AR K1,364,0007T
(ZEZZF : AE1,607,0007T) ©

mMEEBREEF LHEHFRENAR
BE AEEEE—RBUFX(GEMMA
EBMITEXTERABABRATDETH
Eo

EREHREMEZERTIRRAAHK
BEHRENFS EREERREDN &N
B IRARMEEL0

RIREHARB  BHETARERES T
hRERGEEINR _E-_—_F—8+AhH
AN A RAIE  BRENEH - BE
RREH BEHETABEEEE_T
——HF= B+ N\BHEFFIEA593,000%E
7t (FBER AR ¥482,0007T) ©

RERBREFBYRERBER

2021 2020
—E—F TETERF
RMB'000 RMB'000
AR¥TIT AE®FT
54,920 76,128
25,765 6,090
80,685 82,218
(6,265) (6,090)
(19,500) =
(25,765) (6,090)
54,920 76,128
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25.

26.

200

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND PLEDGED
DEPOSITS (continued)

At the end of the reporting period, the cash and bank balances
of the Group denominated in RMB amounted to RMB42,650,000
(2020: RMB61,673,000). The RMB is not freely convertible
into other currencies, however, under Mainland China's
Foreign Exchange Control Regulations and Administration
of Settlement, Sale and Payment of Foreign Exchange
Regulations, the Group is permitted to exchange RMB for
other currencies through banks authorised to conduct foreign
exchange business.

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on daily
bank deposit rates. The bank balances and pledged deposits
are deposited with creditworthy banks with no recent history of
default.

TRADE PAYABLES
An ageing analysis of the trade payables of the Group, based
on the invoice date, as at the end of the reporting period, is as

follows:

Within 3 months =EAR
3to 12 months =EZ+EA
1to 2 years —EWE
Over 2 years B8 M

The Group normally obtains credit terms ranging from 1 to 3
months from its suppliers. Trade payables are unsecured and
interest-free.

At 31 December 2021 and 2020, no amounts due to related
parties of the Group were included in the trade payables.

InvesTech Holdings Limited &zl =8 B IR A E

25.

26.

HERIREEBYREIEHER
(&)

RRSHR AEBUARESHEZRE
KiR1THEER A NETE42,650,0005T (ZEZ
TE: ARH61,673,0007T) c ARMESRA
BHEZBRAEMEN  JAT  REFE R
GIrEEBERA) R(EE - EBERNESE
BRE)  AERAEABKELEIMNESE
B2 RITRARERBMEEME

ROTRERERBRTERANBZFBH X
BRERA B - IRITA SR KR BB EREF RN
FERFAERTEERCHRIRT

857 B (dmIAE
RESPRAEEE 2R RBREER
HBIF I ARES ST T

2021 2020
T TEIERF
RMB'000 RMB'000
AR ARETIT
94,105 86,387
48,709 53,005
12,924 5,936
19,094 16,381
174,832 161,709

AEE-—REHEHETNIF—E=@A
NEEH -EZBRNRESERRREE

R_B_—FR_BE_EF+__B=+—
B AERTERBESEOREFAES
FEAIRRIBA



27. CONTRACT LIABILITIES

Details of contract liabilities are as follows:

Advances received from customers &R AN = E
Sales of goods HESm

Rendering of services R AR

Total contract liabilities BB EMERE

27.

Portion classified as non-current liabilities 484 IERE & EZLD

Current portion BOHAER >
Contract liabilities included advances received to deliver goods
and render services. The increase in contract liabilities in 2021
was mainly due to the increase in advances received from
customers in relation to sales of goods.

HIN

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
PAFE 4R R MY 5E

31 December 2021

alNan
GHERFFEUT

31 December

31 December

2021 2020
ZFI-F “TIEFE
+=-A=+—A +ZA=+—~H
RMB'000 RMB'000
ARMT T ARET T
22,862 14,945

5,802 11,683

28,664 26,628
(2,831) (3,344)

25,833 23,284

GHNEREEMRTE m AR HIRE W
WREWMRE — 2 —F5N8REMNE
ERNMBESYE TP WA TRRIA
YEANFrER °
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28. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS

28. HfttfE(IRIEREER

Loans from a director RE—BEEZENR

Accruals fEst &

Other taxes payable HAMFE(STRIE

Other payables HA TR

Total other payables and accruals HAFE(I IR
FEsT & FRAR%E

As at 31 December 2020, included in the Group's other payables
and accruals were loans payable to a director of the Company
at an aggregate amount of HK$7,937,000 (equivalent to
RMB6,683,000). The details of the terms of loans are set out
in note 38(b) to the consolidated financial statements. The
balances were settled during the year ended 31 December
2021.

As at 31 December 2021, included in the Group's other
payables and accruals was a loan amounting to HK$4,000,000
(equivalent to RMB3,260,000) (2020: HKS$4,000,000
(equivalent to RMB3,368,000)), payable to Smoothly Global,
which is owned by two directors of the Company. The maturity
of the loan payable has been extended to 6 December 2022
during the year ended 31 December 2021 and the loan payable
was unsecured and interest-free.

Save as disclosed above, the remaining other payables and
accruals are interest-free and have an average term of three
months.

202 InvesTech Holdings Limited & :iZRR B R A F

2021 2020
—E-—f BT
RMB'000 RMB'000
ARET T AE®TT
- 6,683

12,829 14,147
1,734 2,940
10,484 11,643
25,047 35,413

R_ZE_ZTE+_HA=+—RH F&EEH
thENRIERESEROERMERT—
RLEEMEN BEERRT,937,000% T (17
ERAR6,683,0007T) - BRAER Z IR
BN GRS B IREMEE38(b) - ARE
HEHRERNBE_E_—F+"_A=+—H
IEEFEEEE

A _E_—F+"HA=+—H'Fc&EH
HtECNRELESER D EEE N
Smoothly Global (HA QB MBESR
A) & 4,000,000 (FBEMRARK
3,260,0007t) (ZZZ=Z4F | 4,000,000 7T
(FBENARN3,368,000T))  HE_E
T+ HA=+—HIEEE ZENE
HEERE_ZE__F£+_B/HEH>
BZECERABRERER

bR £ X PR B8 & Sb > FIBRBY E Ath FE (S RRIE
RESERARE  RFHEFRRAS =
Ao



29.

INTEREST-BEARING BANKAND OTHER
BORROWINGS

29.

Effective
interest rate
(%) Maturity
VRS
(%) 35
Current -
Lease liabilities (note 14(b))  FAEEME (EE14(b)) 5.33-6.97 2022
Bank loans - unsecured RITER—RITE 3.59-4.80 2022
Other loans - unsecured HtEM—miEe 2.23-5.18 2022
Non-current FEBPER
Lease liabilities (note 14(b)) HESR (H:14(b) 5.33-6.97  2023-2025

Notes:

(a)

As at 31 December 2021, a director of the Company provided
guarantees to certain subsidiaries of the Group in respect of
revolving banking facilities in aggregate of RMB20,595,000
(2020: RMB25,946,000). As at 31 December 2021,
RMB14,421,000 (2020: RMB20,600,000) was outstanding under
these banking facilities. As at 31 December 2021, the director
also provided a guarantee to a subsidiary of the Company in
respect of a non-revolving bank loan of RMB10,000,000 (2020:
RMB10,000,000) and other loans of RMB4,886,000 (2020:

.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
PAFE 4R R MY 5E

31 December 2021

st BIR1T R H M &R

RMB'000

ARBTFT

@ BB

Effective
interest rate
(%)
iaES

(%)

Maturity

558

RMB'000

ARETT

7,000  533-6.97 2021 4975
421 3.65-4.85 2021 30,600
4886  3.80-5.17 2021 10,609
36,347 46,184
12921 533697  2022-2023 1,991
49,268 18,175
Hat -

F+-A=+—H ' ARFE

ERRTRIEME G ARK20,595,00070

(ZB 24 . AR25,946,0007T) (4
EEETHBARREEBR R —
F+ZHA=1+—H ZFRTREREES

EEA ANRME14,421,0007T (
AR20,600,0007T) ©

—EoEE:

A — 5

TET—F+T

A=+—H ZEF7TmIFERETERA

10,000,000t (Z2 22 F : AR

RMB10,609,000).

10,000,0005T) K HAMEFA R 14,886,000
T (CETEE  ARE¥10,609,00057T) B
AT BB AR MR
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29.

—fF+=H=+—H

INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND OTHER
BORROWINGS (continued)

Notes: (continued)

(b)

(c)

As at 31 December 2021, except for the unsecured bank loans
of US$700,000 (equivalent to RMB4,421,000) which were
denominated in USD, all borrowings were denominated in RMB.
As at 31 December 2020, except for the unsecured other loans
of HK$2,810,000 (equivalent to RMB2,366,000) which were
denominated in HKS and unsecured bank loans of US$857,000
(equivalent to RMB5,600,000) which were denominated in USD,
all borrowings were denominated in RMB.

As at 31 December 2021 and 2020, all the unsecured bank loans
and unsecured other loans were repayable within one year.

BERERAER AR

29.

S BIRIT R EMER ()

izt - (%)

(b)

(c)

RIEZ—F+ZHA=+—H BMUERT
sHEREIRIFIRITERT700,000%= 7T FEE
P AR®4,421,0007T) 4h > FRA EREUL
AREHBE R_B_EBEF+_H=+—
B BRUETHEN SRR EMBTER
2,810,0007 7T (FHE R AR 2,366,0007T)
K A=t sHE B IR IR ER1T & 70857,000%
7T FBE R AR 5,600,0007T) 98> FrA 1&
FHEIUARE T E

KRB —FR_F_FTF+_RB=+—
B FrARRRRTERRERIFAME
FMIDAR —FEAHEE



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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30. SHARE CAPITAL 30. fg7
Shares B

Issued and fully paid: BETREE :
84,240,000 ordinary shares of US$0.01 each 84,240,000/ 8 i EE0.01ETZ
(2020: 1,404,000,000 ordinary shares LZER CZ2ZF:
of US$0.02 each) 1,404,000,0001 5 R EE US$842,400 1US$28,080,000
0.02%T 2 EER) 842,400E 7T 28,080,000% 7%
Equivalentto 1BER RMBS, 464,000 RMB188,710,000
AK 5,464,000t AR 188,710,0007T
A summary of movements in the Company's share capital is as RABIRALSERENT !
follows:

Number of Share capital
shares in issue Equivalent to
B#1TR7

#E RAEER

US$000 RMB'000
TET AERETT

At1January 2020, 31 December RZZ2-_FF—-B—A-
2020 and 1 January 2021 ZZEFE+A=1+—HE
—¥”_—%—-B—H 1,404,000,000 28,080 188,710
Share consolidation (increase innominal B3 &H (BREER0.02ET

value from US$0.02 each HINZE0.40%7T)

to US$0.40 each) (note (a)(i)) (R (a) (i) (1,333,800,000) - -
Capital reduction (decrease in nominal value JR 2Bl (SRR EER0.40ETT

from USS$0.40 each to US$0.01 each WAE0.01E7T)

(note (a) (i) (B3 (a) (ii)) = (27,378) (184,152)
Issue of shares (nate (b)) TR (M (b)) 14,040,000 140 906
At 31 December 2021 AT

+-B=+—H 84,240,000 842 5,464
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30. SHARE CAPITAL (continued)

Shares (continued)
Note:

206

(a)

Pursuant to the extraordinary general meeting of the Company
held on 23 June 2021, the proposed capital reorganisation which
comprised the following (the “Capital Reorganisation”) had
become effective on 28 July 2021:

(i)  Every twenty (20) issued and unissued ordinary shares
of US$0.02 each in the share capital of the Company
are consolidated into one (1) ordinary share of HK$0.40
each in the share capital of the Company which became
effective on 28 July 2021 (the "Share Consolidation”).
As a result of the Share Consolidation, the number
of authorised ordinary shares was adjusted from
1,404,000,000 of US$0.02 each to 70,200,000 of US$0.40
each while the number of issued and fully paid ordinary
shares was adjusted from 1,404,000,000 of US$0.02 each
to 70,200,000 of US$0.40 each.

(i)  The capital reduction was implemented immediately upon
the Share Consolidation becoming effective, pursuant to
which the par value of each of the issued consolidated
shares was reduced from US$0.40 to US$0.01 by
cancelling the paid-up capital of the Company to the
extent of US$0.39 on each of the issued consolidated
shares. As such, the issued share capital was reduced
by US$27,378,000 (equivalent to RMB184,152,000), in
which the corresponding amount had been credited to
contributed surplus.

Details of the Capital Reorganisation are set out in the
announcements of the Company dated 3 May 2021, 26 May 2021,
23 June 2021, 8 July 2021 and 27 July 2021, and the circular of
the Company dated 31 May 2021.

On 6 September 2021, 14,040,000 new shares were issued at a
price of HK$1.24 per share to not less than six independent third
parties for an aggregate cash consideration, net of expenses,
of HK$16,833,000 (equivalent to RMB13,976,000). The related
transaction costs amounting to HK$577,000 (equivalent to
RMB479,000).

InvesTech Holdings Limited & :RiZR& A BRA F]

ey

30. g% @)

Hl{ﬁ (I\E

Met -

(a) MRENR-ZB-—FXA-T+=ZHETHE
ANERRFHIAG  QEUTRENEZ
RAZHE (RAEMH) ER-F-—F+
AZ+NB&EH:

() BEZTQIO)RARBRETEK

EE0.02% T2 BE8T MM AR ET
EEREHE—()RAATRAH
SREMELBITZ ZER TEZ
T —FtAZ+ N\HEEK (TR
BEH) - BRRDEH EEELE
R E H1,404,000,0000% (BR&EE
0.0237t) FEEZE70,200,0008% (&
EE0.40%7T) » ME&ETREBREZ
@R ER B AIA1,404,000,0008% (&
BEE{E0. 023 7T) sA%E % 70,200,0008%
(5 RREE0.40E7T) ©
(i) BEHBREERERHEHERERE
1T 3Rk BB H A AT 2 BRI
&~ (UEREETEHRM0.39%T
AR BEREZTEHRMH ZEE
FR0.403E 7o HI R Z0.0135 75 o (A UL »
E#TRAEHI%27,378,000% 7T
(HHER AR¥184,152,0007T) > 48
fEEEE st ABRRBERIR

BRAZEHANFEBEERNARBDHBEAZE
—Eﬁﬁ BE-ZEZ—FHAZ+X
H-» _E/\H +=B-Z%=—
Etﬁ/\El&_v_—EtH +tH®
/\iL/(&z{x@j HEEA-Z-_—HHA
=+—HWE\E
A= —FHH7<H 14,040,0008%37 8%
BEESR1 24BTHNERETTALRAS
LBUE=F > NERZRERERES
16,833,000 7% (1855 A R 413,976,000
7t) c ABRAR B A A577,00078 T (FBER
ANE#479,0007T) ©



SHARE OPTION SCHEME
(a) 2010 Share Option Scheme

The Company operates a share option scheme (the “2010
Share Option Scheme”) for the purpose of providing
incentives and rewards to eligible participants who
contribute to the success of the Group's operations and/
or to enable the Group to recruit and retain high calibre
employees and attract human resources that are valuable
to the Group and any invested entity. Eligible participants
of the Scheme include the Company's directors, including
executive director and independent non-executive
directors, other employees of the Group, the Company's
shareholders, any non-controlling shareholder in the
Company's subsidiaries, holders of any security issued or
proposed to be issued by any member of the Group or any
entity in which the Group holds any equity interest, and
any other person including any consultant, distributor,
contractor, supplier, agent, customer, business partner,
joint venture business partner, promoter or service
provider of any member of the Group whom the board of
directors considers, in its sole discretion, has contributed
or will contribute to the Group. The Scheme became
effective on 25 October 2010 and, unless otherwise
cancelled or amended, will remain in force for 10 years
from that date. As such, the scheme expired in October
2020.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAﬂI;]_STATEMENTS

BRI

31 December 2021
—E—HFf-/F=+—H

31. BBRRHESTE

(a)

—T-TFERERESE
FRB)REBRESE ((TT2-FF
BRESE))  EEOHAERER
LB FTERMZ G ER2E A LRM
RERRE K/ NEAEBRERERA
RBREFREEURKIIBEAERK
FRAREERABEEBENANER.
ZtEEERSEALEREEAT
EX (BREATESRBIIFNTE
B FEEHEHMES - FRAFRR
AN B AT ZIFERRE 5
EZEAREATSNAEEFTEEIM
RN B THRETHER
BERFAN UREFEMAL &
EER - DiEE K Em HER A
B -BE BEGFBH GELER
XEEBH HEANLEEEET
A2ERENHAERELEHFEE
HERBVEMRHREE - &5t 8/
- EF+B-+RBEM RIE
RECHRESR] SRR EZARBA N
10F-Hit» ZFBER T T F
+ R & e

ANNUAL REPORT 2021 — & = —FF 3R 207

O il B
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31 December 2021
IE T —aEr DS = 5 —(g

31. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued) 31. BBRESE @
(a) 2010 Share Option Scheme (continued) (a) —E—SFEBREE @
Share options do not confer rights on the holders to ERENE T ERE ARESE S50
dividends or to vote at shareholders’' meetings. RERAEREZ#ER o
The following share options were outstanding under the MUTFAEARE_ZE—ZFHBRES
2010 Share Option Scheme during the year: B ARITEZ FEIGHE ©
2021 2020
—B_—f “ETEF
Weighted Weighted
average average
exercise Number of exercise Number of
price options price options
sy T
17EE fERREHE 1T1EME FBicESE
HK$ ‘000 HKS ‘000
BT T3 BT F15
(Note)
(=T
At 1 January and R—B—Hk&
31 December +-B=+—H 34 396 1.7 7,920
Note: P 5E
Due to the Share Consolidation in 2021, the exercise price of the BHR 2 —FNRGME/H K27
share options granted on 25 October 2016 was adjusted from F+HAZ+HBARENERENITHEER
HKS$1.7 to HKS34.0. 1. 78R E34.0/8 7T 0
No share options under the 2010 Share Option Scheme BE_BE_—FR_EB_EFTR
were granted, exercised, cancelled, or lapsed during the =+t—HUEFE #BERE_ZE—F
years ended 31 December 2021 and 2020. FHEKRESESERE T FHEN

ESSPA Ly
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31 December 2021

31. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued) 31. BRESE @
(a) 2010 Share Option Scheme (continued) (a) —Z=E—ZTFRERIEHE &
Exercise
Number of price*  Grant date
share options pershare of share option  Exercise period
Name and category of R s Bk
participants SEEWS KR % fIfEE* BB Fyid
‘000 HKS$
T3 BT
Directors 5%
Wang Fang 5 144 34 25-10-2016 25-10-2016 to 25-10-2026
25-10-2016%25-10-2026
108 34 25-10-2016 25-10-2017 to 25-10-2026
25-10-2017225-10-2026
108 34 25-10-2016 25-10-2018 to 25-10-2026
25-10-2018%25-10-2026
360
Chan Sek Keung, Ringo [ #752 14 34 25-10-2016 25-10-2016 to 25-10-2026
25-10-2016%25-10-2026
1 34 25-10-2016 25-10-2017 to 25-10-2026
25-10-2017225-10-2026
11 34 25-10-2016 25-10-2018 to 25-10-2026
25-10-2018%25-10-2026
36
396
& The exercise price of the share options is subject to * BREZITEEENHARIEITA
adjustment in the case of rights or bonus issues, or other Be S TE AR B B A H IR SR LI By
similar changes in the Company's share capital. T AGHEE
No share option expense under the 2010 Share Option BHE_ZE_—HREZF+R
Scheme was recognised by the Group during the year =t+—HIEFE AEBHERERZ
ended 31 December 2021 and 2020. T FEREST SR T ZEAER

RS
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31. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

210

(a)

(b)

2010 Share Option Scheme (continued)

The fair value of equity-settled share options granted
during the year ended 31 December 2016 was estimated
as at the date of grant using a binomial model, taking into
account the terms and conditions upon which the options
were granted. The following table lists the inputs to the
model used:

Dividend yield (%) 0.00
Expected volatility (%) 59.63
Risk-free interest rate (%) 1.56
Expected life of options (year) 10
Exercise multiple 2.393

The expected life of the options is based on the historical
data over the past three years and is not necessarily
indicative of the exercise patterns that may occur. The
expected volatility reflects the assumption that the
historical volatility is indicative of future trends, which
may also not necessarily be the actual outcome.

2021 Share Option Scheme

On 23 June 2021, a new share option scheme (the
“2021 Share Option Scheme") was approved by the
shareholders of the Company and adopted by the
Company.

The purposes of the 2021 Share Option Scheme are,
through ownership of shares and/or the increase in value
of shares, to align the participants’ interests with those
of the Group, to incentivise and reward the participants
for their contribution to the long-term growth and
profits of the Group and any of the invested entity, and/
or to enable the Group to recruit and retain high-calibre
employees and attract human resources that are valuable
to the Group and any of the invested entity, with a view
to achieving the objective of increasing the value of the
Group.

InvesTech Holdings Limited & :RiZR& A BRA F]

| R

(a)

(b)

FERESTE @

“E-TFRERESE (@
HE-T—AE+-A=+—HLE
B BER RS EEREZ AR
f{E > 75 R S B ABHR A A
figh > 3% 8 T 4200 PR B R
A o T RIS R BB
HH

% B R 2 (%) 0.00
TERA R 1R (%) 59.63
= B R = (%) 1.56
B TERAEIR (B) 10
TERE 2.393

BREZARFERUBE=F2HE
mEE BRMRMRAFERE EMTTRE
B - FRAK IR R BB R BT R
REBERER  FRRYRRE RS
Ho

—E_—FRERESE
RTE-FRA+T=0FER
st (T2 —FBKREtE)

E%K@EJ&%?&/& > 3 A A B R

—E-FhERESEHEEEBERD
BEER,/SIRHIGE F2EES
) i B A B 2 M mn R AT — B DU
B2 RENAERMEMAKRE
BERZEPHERERGSFEHER K
SREAEEERERIREESES
WkARAEBRENREBRES
BEZANER MEBERREAEE
EEENER-



SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)
(b) 2021 Share Option Scheme (continued)

Eligible participants include the directors of the
Company, any employee (whether full-time or part-time)
of the Company, any supplier of goods or services to, any
customer of, and any advisors, consultants, agents and
distributors of any member of the Group.

The maximum number of share options permitted to
be granted under the 2021 Share Option Scheme is an
amount equivalent, upon their exercise, to 10% of the
shares of the Company in issue on the adoption date.
The maximum number of shares issuable under share
options to each eligible participant in the Scheme within
any 12-month period is limited to 1% of the shares of the
Company in issue at any time. Any further grant of share
options in excess of this limit is subject to shareholders'
approvalin a general meeting.

Share options granted to a director, chief executive or
substantial shareholder of the Company, or to any of their
associates, are subject to approval in advance by the
independent non-executive directors. In addition, any
share options granted to a substantial shareholder or an
independent non-executive director of the Company, or
to any of their associates, in excess of 0.1% of the shares
of the Company in issue at any time or with an aggregate
value (based on the closing price of the Company's
shares at the date of grant) in excess of HKS5 million,
within any 12-month period, are subject to shareholders'
approval in advance in a general meeting.
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31.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

(b) 2021 Share Option Scheme (continued)
Participants of the 2021 Share Option Scheme are
required to pay the Company HK$1.00 upon acceptance
of the grant on the offer date. The exercise price of the
options is determined by the board of directors in its
absolute discretion and shall not be less than whichever
is the highest of:

(a) the closing price of the shares as stated in the Stock
Exchange's daily quotation sheet on the date of the
grant, which must be a trading day;

(b) the average closing price of the shares as stated in
the Stock Exchange's daily quotation sheet for the
five (5) trading days immediately preceding the
date of the grant; and

(c) the par value of a Share on the date of grant. The
2021 Share Option Scheme shall be valid and
effective for a period of 10 years from 23 June 2021
after which no further options will be granted or
offered.

Share options do not confer rights on the holders to
dividends or to vote at shareholders’ meetings.

2sTech Holdings Limited 53 iZR B IR A F
e

31. BREE @
“E-FERESTS @
TR EEREHENSEALE
REH BIMERERAAAT L
1.008 T BRENTEEHESS

(b)

ERNBEEE EFAFERTIRS

=

(b)

REBREERD WAAXS
H) B2 PRg B RERPTYIHIAR
M E;

EERRHBREZ B A(5)E
R BB EHEREXRR
BIBR 1D TR E 5 &

REHABRZERMAEE - —F
TFRRESER T —
FRAZT=—HES+FHE
BUMKREN BRI BBERE
YR TR E

BRETERTRAEAZTEREXRN
RERGRERIREF]



31. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)
(b) 2021 Share Option Scheme (continued)
The following share options were outstanding under the
2021 Share Option Scheme during the year:

At 1 January n—HA—H
Granted during the year FREWL
At 31 December R+ZBA=+—~

No share options under the 2021 Share Option Scheme
were exercised, cancelled, or lapsed during the year
ended 31 December 2021.

On 13 September 2021, the Company offered to
grant share options of the Company to grantees (the
“Grantees"), which are subject to the acceptance of the
Grantees and the payment of HK$1.00 by each of the
Grantees upon acceptance of the options, which carry
the rights to subscribe for a total of 6,528,600 ordinary
shares, pursuant to the 2021 Share Option Scheme.

N
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31. BIR¥ESTE @
(b) —Z_—FREBIHESTE @

NTRERNRBE_ZE_—FERES
Bl ARITREZ BB

2021
—B_—F
Weighted

average Number of

exercise price
n#EEa
1T1EME 28

HKS$ ‘000

AT TF1n

options
fBRRtE

1.486 6,529

6,529

BHE_ZE_—F+_B=1+—HIL%=E
E>rfiEmRE =S —FERREE
BT RO R R 2 BE AR A o

A ZE—FHAA+T=BH>EAREE
REZS-—FEBERETI B AR
ANTEBAN) REBEARTER
B ABABMRSEAEA
RIZEE IR R 11.008 5 > K
RAB A REEHE 6,528,600 fRZE

Ao
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31.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

(b) 2021 Share Option Scheme (continued)

214

Number of
share options

2EANLHE/

Name of category of

participants a5 R EHE

Directors £ 772,200
772,200

Other participants Htt28 AL 2,492,100
2,492,100

6,528,600

The share option expense under the 2021 Share Option
Scheme recognised by the Group is approximately
RMB925,000 during the year ended 31 December 2021.

The fair value of equity-settled share options granted
during the year ended 31 December 2021 was estimated
as at the date of grant using a binomial model, taking into
account the terms and conditions upon which the options
were granted. The following table lists the inputs to the
model used:

Dividend yield (%) 0.00
Expected volatility (%) 81.95
Risk-free interest rate (%) 0.52

Expected life of options (year) 4
Exercise multiple 0-3.34

The expected life of options is based on the historical data
over the past three years and is not necessarily indicative
of the exercise patterns that may occur. The expected
volatility reflects the assumption that the historical
volatility is indicative of future trends, which may also not
necessarily be the actual outcome.

InvesTech Holdings Limited &zl =8 B IR A E

Exercise
price
per share

BRITEE

HKS
T

1.486

1.486

1.486

1.486

(b)

FERESTE @

— T —FRRIESE (@

Grant date

of share option

BRERHBEN

Exercise period

1T1EHA

13/9/2021 13/9/2021-12/9/2025
—EI—F& T -—FEAB+=HE
hB+=H T HEABRTZH
13/9/2021 13/9/2022-12/9/2025
—T_—F “E__EAB+=HE
AB+=H “ERFENABTZH
13/9/2021 13/9/2021-12/9/2025
—T_—F “E_—FABt+=HE
AB+=H “ERFENABTZH
13/9/2021 13/9/2022-12/9/2025
B B _FABR+=HE
NLB+=H “ETRFEAB+TCH
BHE_Z_— S+ -_B=+—HI

FE - AEERI _ZE_—FBR
A ETZERERAIOARSE
925,0007z °

BE_T_—SF+"A=+—HLF
EERUUREGEERREZ ANE
B BRREERERAZENREG
5t I E 8RR S R A B AR AR R A%
o FPRINHER A AER

P& B W5 2 (%) 0.00
FEHAR 8 (%) 81.95
HEF) 2 R B2 (%) 0.52
B ETERAER (5F) 4
1TEEE 0E3.34

BREZFRAFERLVBE=F2F%
BIEAEE BRBAHPEELETRE
RILBI SRR o TRHA K 18 S BR R 2R T8
BTARARBENRR AEROAHE
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31.

32.

33.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

At the end of the year, the Company had 6,924,600 share
options outstanding under the 2010 Share Option Scheme
and 2021 Share Option Scheme. The exercise in full of the
outstanding share options would, under the present capital
structure of the Company, result in the issue of 6,924,600
additional ordinary shares of the Company and additional share
capital of US$69,246 (equivalent to RMB437,375) (before issue
expenses).

At the date of approval of these financial statements, the
Company had 6,924,600 share options outstanding under
these schemes, which represented approximately 5.9% of the
Company's shares in issue as at that date.

RESERVES

The amounts of the Group's reserves and the movements
therein for the current and prior years are presented in the
consolidated statement of changes in equity on pages 93 to 95
of the consolidated financial statements.

PARTLY-OWNED SUBSIDIARIES WITH MATERIAL
NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS

Details of the Group's subsidiaries that have material non-
controlling interests are set out below:

31.

32.

33.
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fRRgtEETE @
RAER AT HER6,924,60017 B BG 7 15
REE_ S SEERESE R T —
FERERESETE REBERAATRRNR
g BEITE R RTHEERER A
GENEAINEETT6,924,60008 A T L@
PE RN RRA69,2465% T (FBER AR
437,3757%) (RIDBREITHD) ©

R EZSEMBREEA ~A%A
6,924,600 BRR B H KRR FZF 5817
& HERZ AR AT ERITRNAS.9%-

o

FEERFEERBEFE HESER
HEBRREUBRREBEEIEZR
BREEHRET

HEH BAIEE Em 2 83 HE A M
BaE

BMEAEAFEHRE AEEEAQ
R ERAMT :

Percentage of equity interest held
by non-controlling interests
Fortune Grace Fortune Grace

Wafer iMusic Joint Venture *

* The Group established an unincorporated joint venture with an
independent third party in proportion to the contribution of 70%
and 30% respectively

Wafer iMusic Joint Venture*

FEEERI TR R E B 2L

= 25%
30% =

* FEBRE-—RBUE=T 7 5IRT0%K%
30%MHE LA IL—FEIFEATE R
%O
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33. PARTLY-OWNED SUBSIDIARIES WITH MATERIAL  33. %ﬁik;ﬁ“%ﬂf““zﬁm%ﬁm

NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS (continued) BT @)

Loss for the year allocated to non-

2021
—E—F

RMB'000
ARBTT

DECTIFERIEm

2020
It X
RMB'000
ARMT 7T

controlling interests FEEE
Fortune Grace Fortune Grace (3,310) (3,635)
Wafer iMusic Joint Venture Wafer iMusic Joint Venture (843) =

(4,153) (3,635)

Accumulated balances of non-controlling P ¥R B HD AL IEE

interests at the reporting date Wt 2 R TR ER
Fortune Grace Fortune Grace = 49,445
Wafer iMusic Joint Venture Wafer iMusic Joint Venture 6,551 =

The following table illustrates the summarised financial
information of Wafer iMusic Joint Venture. The amounts

T &5 RWafer iMusic Joint Venturef98475
BErEE N ESREL AR BIKHEI &

disclosed are before any inter-company eliminations: L

2021

RMB'000

AREFTT

Revenue WA -
Total expenses AR (2,809)
Loss for the year FEFE (2,809)
Total comprehensive loss for the year FELEEBERE (2,758)

Current assets MENEE 21,783

Non-current assets ERHEE 3,440
Current liabilities ViEII=RE (3,386)

Non-current liabilities SEREaE -
Net cash flows used in operating activities REEBPTRARTRE PR (3,632)
Net cash flows used in investing activities REEEFMARE REFE (19,499)

Net cash flows from financing activities RMBEARBPMSIRESRE R4 23,490

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents Be RIRSEEBYIEN35E 359
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33. PARTLY-OWNED SUBSIDIARY WITH MATERIAL 33. EAERIFEFREZHOERM

NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS (continued) BATE @
The following table illustrates the summarised financial TRIR EMNEABNTHEEREE o
information of the above subsidiary. The amounts disclosed Pk R 887 A Bl MR EE Al 2 &8

were before any inter-company eliminations:

2020

=

RMB'000

ARETT

Revenue ON 469,116
Total expenses MR (483,655)
Loss for the year FERE (14,539)
Total comprehensive loss for the year FELHREEREE (15,293)
Current assets TMENE E 372,064
Non-current assets ERENEE 108,098
Current liabilities ViEII=NE (262,242)
Non-current liabilities FERBEE (20,138)
Net cash flows used in operating activities K REPTAREME R (4,645)
Net cash flows from investing activities KREGEMERE 2R 24,697
Net cash flows used in financing activities MEEFFFARERE R (15,853)
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents RERREZBYIEINFEEE 4,199

ANNUAL REPORT 2021 — & = —FF 3R 2 1 7



NOTE

S TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR R M 5E

31 December 2021
—E—F+-A=+—H

34.

218

DISCONTINUED OPERATION

On 25 March 2021, the Company entered into a sale and
purchase agreement, pursuant to which the Company has
conditionally agreed to sell all issued share of InvesTech
Finance (International) Limited (which directly owned 100%
of InvesTech Finance Limited, and collectively “"Disposal
Group") for a cash consideration of HK$16,000,000 (equivalent
to approximately RMB13,355,000) (the "Disposal”). The
Disposal Group is principally engaged in money lending
business in Hong Kong. Details of the Disposal have been
set out in the announcement of the Company dated 25 March
2021. The Disposal has been completed on 30 March 2021,
and the Disposal Group ceases to be the subsidiaries of the
Company and was regarded as a discontinued operation in
accordance with IFRS 5 “Non-current Assets Held for Sale
and Discontinued Operations”. Accordingly, the results of the
money lending business was not included in the continuing
operations and its comparative information was also
reclassified to conform with the current period's presentation.

InvesTech Holdings Limited & :RiZR& A BRA F]
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34.

EARLEEERE
AZBC—#ZA-+AA KRBT

BEHzE B A BB RERRLEE
InvesTech Finance (International) Limited
(EEEAEEEUHEARAEI00%E
wETHEER)) 2B TRMD RE
R1E7%16,000,0008 0 (HBERN AR
13,355,0007t) (THESIE) - HEEREE
ENEBNREREEF HEFZEZFFEH
RARBHBER 2 _-_—F=B_-+48
BERAGS HEFEER _-_Z-_—F=H4
=t+HER BHEERRBARREW
BB R EIRERMRY RS ZER FE55
S EHEFERBEERBA LK E X£7)
WRIFEAR IS XTI MEEBH
XBURAAFBRSEEBRALBRER
MEEMDEURESRANER



34. DISCONTINUED OPERATION (continued)

The results from the discontinued operation for the period
from 1 January 2021 to 30 March 2021 and the year ended
31 December 2020 are presented below:

Revenue WA

Other income HAA
Administrative expenses THMAZ
Impairment of financial assets TR B AERE
Income tax expense PSR

34.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
PAFE 4R R MY 5E

31 December 2021
— S A S =g

BRIEEERR @
B-f-—f—F—HAE-F-—£=
A=+EBMEBEE-_2-2&+=8
S+—BLEE REERILEEEEY
$ELBNT :

Gain on disposal of subsidiaries

Profit/(loss) for the period/year from
discontinued operation

HEWB AT m

RECKRILEEEBEN
FREF, (F58)

Period from
1 January 2021 Year ended
to 31 December
30 March 2021 2020
R-E_—fF
—HA—H=E HE
—g_—F “EBTE2F
=A=+H +ZA=+—H
LEHARS LFEE
RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBT T ARETT
48 1,496
= 9
(15) (154)
= (9,367)
= (8)
33 (8,024)
1,296 =
1,329 (8,024)
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34. DISCONTINUED OPERATION (continued) 34 BRILEEER @
The assets and liabilities of the discontinued operation as at 30 B —F=FB=1+THEKILKEEERS
March 2021 are stated as follows: NEERBEZIWT :
RMB'000
AREEFTT
Loan receivables FEWE R 12,511
Interest receivables FEUWF] 2 195
Prepayments, other receivables and other assets ~ FE{IRUIE - EftEWNEIE R HhE & 8
Tax recoverable B EGRE 9
Cash and cash equivalents HERREEEY 1
Other payables and accruals H AR IE K e 5+ B (8)
Net assets disposed of BEHENEETFE 12,716
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HERE AR S 1,296
Reclassification of foreign currency translation HEREMDIEINER B FHE
reserve upon disposal (657)
Total consideration HRE 13,355
The net cash flow incurred by the discontinued operation for BE_—F—HA—HEEZZ-—F=
the period from 1 January 2021 to 30 March 2021 and the year B=tHIEERBEE_Z-_SF+_"4
ended 31 December 2020 are stated as follows: =+ —HIEFEEERIEKEEBELENIR
EMEFEZIMT !
Period from
1 January 2021 Year ended
to 31 December
30 March 2021 2020
RZE_—%F
—A—BZ%E Bz
B 5 —ETEF
=A=+HB +ZBA=+—H
LEHARS IFFE
RMB'000 RMB'000
AE®TT AREFTT
Operating activities K EE 183 4,690
Investing activities S EIEE) - -
Financing activities REEH (245) (4,707)
Net cash outflow REMAFEE (62) (17)

220
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35.

CONVERTIBLE BOND

On 23 September 2021, the Group entered into the sales and
purchase agreement to acquire 25% equity interest of Fortune
Grace from Smoothly Global Holdings Limited which was
settled by the issue of the convertible bond in the principal
amount of HK$30,000,000. Details of the convertible bond are
set out as follows:

The Company issued coupon rate 1.5% per annum convertible
bond with a principal amount of HK$30,000,000 on 26
November 2021. The convertible bond is denominated in
Hong Kong dollars. The bond will mature in three years from
the issue date at their principal amount or can be converted
into ordinary shares of the Company at the holder's option
at the initial fixed rate of 20,000,000 shares per HK$1.5
of the outstanding principal. The maturity date of the
convertible bond is 25 November 2024 (the “Maturity Date").
The conversion period start from 26 November 2021 to 19
November 2024. The Company may at its sole and absolute
discretion redeem the principal amount of the convertible
bond at any time prior to the Maturity Date (“Early Redemption
Option"). The Early Redemption Option held by the Company is
closely related to the host debt component.

The fair value of the debt component was determined at the
issuance of the convertible bond. The fair value of the debt
component, classified as non-current financial liabilities,
was calculated using a market interest rate for an equivalent
non-convertible bonds. The residual amount, representing
the value of the equity conversion component, is included in
shareholders' equity.

35.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R R MIEE

31 December 2021
—FE_—Ff+_F=+—H

Al R (A%

R ZEZ—FNAZ+=H > &AEES]
I BB % ESmoothly Global Holdings
Limited52#Fortune Grace 25%&# » H %
DL 359725 %830,000,00078 7T A9 A] H#2 AR &
FHNER - BERATBRRERMNEERT
Wwr:

RABIRZEZ—F+—HBZ+HE
7245 %87530,000,00078 7T B =1.5%H8
AR ES - R ESUB T E %
LEEBBBTHPE=FRNEH B
FEAEEZEREIASEE HEERRIR
#20,000,0008% =A% 1.578 TR D I4T &
litt?@%akf%%ﬁ’\ ER AR RAT

BRo-AMRESIEHA S _NE
+—ﬁ +H B (TR#EH)) -BiREEC

_—Ft+t—B_t+AAHEBE_Z_WNF
—I— BtAB - ZxATREZHDIERE
FIHAE (T{2piiEEl S )) RI(E I BB aJ

BRIPMRESEET -ARATFAEZIREA
AE o)A B X RS E0 D B DAERE

BRI INRABENRBEITIRRESE
BE -BHHONAREE (DERIFRE
TREE) ERFRIFTTMRESFNTHA
KR H-FgFT iR BMEDERE HHEB)
ST AR R o
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35.

222

CONVERTIBLE BOND (continued) 35. AARES @
The convertible bond recognised in the consolidated statement LR E MR R RS AT B 55t
of financial position is calculated as follows: CRe(I

RMB'000
ARBT T

Nominal value of convertible bond issued FRABZRTOUMKESAEE
during the year 31,785
Less: Amount of equity component B REm I ERE (10,113)

Debt component on initial recognition RYTHEBFRN _E_—F
and at 31 December 2021 +_BA=+—HANEHID 21,672

Interest expense on the convertible bond is calculated using AR EENH BEEZE A BRI R LS
the effective interest method by applying the effective interest BEZDIRAL5.75%0 B RH X E T

rate of approximately 5.75% to the debt component. No interest o NS RE AT A MU R EFE DA
expense is recognised for the year as the amount is immaterial. BR%o
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36. NOTE TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF . FERERERME

CASH FLOWS

(a) Major non-cash transactions () EXERERS
During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group BE_T_—F+_A=1+—HL®E
had non-cash additions/lease modification to right- E -AEEMEEMHEEZHEEH
of-use assets and lease liabilities of RMB20,681,000 REEREESBZIFREAE
and RMB20,681,000, respectively, in respect of lease ET@%‘I%EU%/\E“&%ZO&M,00071:73’2
arrangements for buildings. ANE 120,681,000 °
There is no major non-cash transactions during the year BHE_ZZHFE+"HA=+—HIF
ended 31 December 2020. rjfﬂﬁiitiFfﬁA*

(b) Changes in liabilities arising from financing (b) MEEEFIEEZARED
activities
2021 —E-—F

Interest-

bearing
Lease Loansfrom  bankand other Convertible
liabilities a director borrowings bond

RE—% stERTR
iV EE AL 4 E AR
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AR®TT AR®TT ARBTR ARBTR

At1January 2021 KB —%-A-H 6,966 6,683 41,209 -
Changes from financing cash flows: ~ REEREHEELZ£8)
New bank and other borrowings BT REMER = = 42,073 =
Repayments of bank and other BRBTREMER

borrowings - - (53,975) -
Decrease in loans from a director RE—LEENETRD = (6,683) - -
Lease payments REMT (7,636) - - -
Total changes from financing HEREREELZ

cash flows HEaL (7,636) (6,683) (11,902) =
Other changes: Hitngd) . -
Debt component of convertiblebond  EJEREHHNERLH = = - 21,6712
New leases/lease modification HHE/HEET 20,681 - - -
Interest expense ISz 989 - 2,018 -
Interest paid classified as PEANEREREY

operating cash flows BAIFIE (989) - (2,018) =
Foreign exchange movements &R 2E (50) - - =
At 31 December 2021 RZBZ—F

+ZA=+-A 19,961 - 29,307 2412
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36. NOTE TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF . IZEBRERERME @
CASH FLOWS (continued)
(b) Changes in liabilities arising from financing (b) METEFIEEZEERES @

activities (continued)

2020 —E_FF

Interest-

bearing

Lease Loans from bank and other
liabilities a director borrowings

RE—% stERITR

HEAE ESZZEW EfEwR
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETT ARETT

At 1 January 2020 AZE-FTE—H—H 14,307 6,258 50,323
Changes from financing cash flows: ~ BEERESREELEZEF) .
New bank and other borrowings FTIGERIT R EM AT - - 48,146
Repayments of bank and other BERITREMER

borrowings = = (57,447)
Increase in loans from a director RE—LEENEFEM = 789 -
Lease payments HEMT (7,341) = =
Total changes from financing MEREREELY

cash flows EE)ie (7,341) 789 (9,301)
Other changes: Higg)
Interest expense HISHEZ 671 = =
Interest paid classified as NEAKERTREZ

operating cash flows BRHE (671) - -
Foreign exchange movements ERES) - (364) 186
At 31 December 2020 A TETRE

+-B=+-A1 6,966 6,663 41208
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36. NOTETO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF
CASH FLOWS (continued)
(c) Total cash outflows for leases
The total cash outflows for leases included in the

consolidated statement of cash flows is as follows:

36.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
M |RRMEE

31 December 2021
e e U

mERERERME @

(c) MEZRERHLMEEE
FNEaREREXRMNAEZEREER

Within operating activities REEHA
Within financing activities RMEEEIN

37. PLEDGE OF ASSETS
Details of the Group's assets pledged for the Group's contract
bidding and contract execution are included in note 25 to the
consolidated financial statements.

37.

HABREWT -

2021 2020
—E-—F TECEE
RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBF T ARBFT
2,357 2,381

7,636 7,341

9,993 9,722

BERHT
UAEEEEFRRZFEARRENK
SHRTHBRN RS BRRM 25
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38. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND
CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

In addition to the transactions disclosed elsewhere in the
consolidated financial statements, the Group had the following

226

transactions with its related parties during the years ended 31
December 2021 and 2020:

(a)

On 6 December 2017, the Group entered into a loan
agreement with Smoothly Global for an unsecured,
interest-free loan of HKS$4,000,000. As at 31 December
2021, the outstanding loan balance under this loan
agreement amounted to HK$4,000,000 (equivalent to
RMB3,260,000) (2020: HK$4,000,000 (equivalent to
RMB3,368,000)), and was unsecured and interest-free.
During the year ended 31 December 2021, the maturity of
the loan has been extended from 6 December 2021 to 6
December 2022.

Smoothly Global is 70% and 20% owned by Mr. Chan Sek
Keung, Ringo and Ms. Wang Fang respectively, they are
also the directors of the Company.

On 13 August 2018, the Group entered into a facility
agreement of HK$100,000,000 (equivalent to
RMB87,716,000) with a director of Company. As at
31 December 2020, the principal of HK$7,000,000
(equivalent to RMB5,894,000) and interest payable
of HK$137,000 (equivalent to RMB115,000) were
outstanding under this facility. The outstanding
balances under this facility as at 31 December 2020 were
unsecured, bearing interest of 5% and repayable within
one year. During the year ended 31 December 2020,
interest of HK$137,000 (equivalent to RMB115,000) was
payable to a director of the Company, and was included in
“Finance costs"” in the consolidated statement of profit or
loss. The loan and interest payable balances are settled
during the year ended 31 December 2021.
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38. FAE

AR ZKREAERS

R BRREMBOMKENR S
S RBE_E_—ER-EFEFTZ
A=t+—HLEFEAEEEHRESET
TIRS

(a)

RIE—tE+ZBAH ~EEH
Smoothly GlobalftEIKIF R EENR
4,000,0008 T L BRI HE - N
T—H+ZA=+—8 ZEXH=E
EHTIHREREMRERR74,000,000
Bt FBER ARES,260,0005T) (&
T T4 14,000,000 T FEERA
K #3,368,0007T)) ° MAEIEIF R R
B REHEE_E-_—F+_A=+—
BIEFE EXERER_T_—F
+_BABERE_ZT__£+_81
7NHe

Smoothly Globalf R #5758 S 4 ke £ 75
LD RIERT0%R20%EH » HE

R ZE—N\NENB+=B &x&EH
BANE —REFITIMEBEE
7 :100,000,00038 7 (ABE R A
E#87,716,00075) cR_-_E - =
E+"A=+—H ZBEBEET
A~47,000,0008 7t (FHER AR
5,894,0007T) K E(TH]E137,0007%8
7T (FBEMR AR115,0007T) &R E
B-RZEZHF+"_A=+—H"
ZRBREE T RERERS®BITE
5%t B R AR —FANEEZE -HEZ
T EBE+_BA=+—HIEFEE
AR AE]—REEFE23137,0007%8 7T
(FHER AR®115,0007T) @ %5 2
Bt AGGEERRN MRERA A
ENERRFEBEGFREREEZS
T E+"A=+—HILEEEE-



38. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND
CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (continued)

(b)

(continued)

On 24 December 2020, the Group entered into a loan
facility agreement of HK$10,000,000 (equivalent to
RMB8,420,000) with a director of the Company. As
at 31 December 2020, HK$800,000 (equivalent to
RMB674,000) was outstanding under this loan facility.
The outstanding balance under this loan facility as at
31 December 2020 was unsecured, interest-free and
repayable within one year. The balance is settled during
the year ended 31 December 2021.

During the year ended 31 December 2018, the Group
entered into a purchase agency agreement with a
related company. The commission fee paid to this related
company was charged based on 5% of the purchase
amount. The charges are substantially in line with
comparable transaction in the market. No commission
fee incurred by the Group during the year ended 31
December 2021 (2020: RMB6,000).

Outstanding balances with related parties

Details of the Group's outstanding balances with its
related parties as at the end of the reporting period are
disclosed in notes 28 and 29 to the consolidated financial
statements.

Compensation of key management personnel of the
Group

During the year, the Company did not identify any
personnel as key management other than the directors of
the Company. Further details of directors’ and the chief
executive's emoluments are included in note 8 to the
consolidated financial statements.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R R MIEE

31 December 2021
—FE_—Ff+_F=+—H

N_E_TE+_B-_+WMHE > K&
BHRKAE—RER] LSRR ELE
FE1%7:%10,000,0007%8 7t GHE R AR
8,420,0007T) R _E_=F+_H
=+—H ZEmRE%E 800,000
Bt HER ARK674,0007T) B &
EL RZE_EFE+__F=+—
H> ZEAMEEE T RERERS
EIRFE - RERBER—FEREE 4
BRERgE—_Z_—F+_-_H=+—
Eﬂ:ig/ﬁfﬁ°

(c) #E—E—NF+_HA=+—HIE&E
B AEEA—EEEE AR ILIFE
REHZ T FZEAEATNES
BRI B S TER5%UE - B R E T
B ENTELERRGAR—H -BE
2 F+ZHA=1+—HIEE>
AEBBEBELTEAAE (CEZZ
£ AE6,0007T) °

BRER

F“fa

(d) ZEEREHZZAKEE

il

REBRBEHAREABES 2 KEER
3 ilaﬁéﬁéﬁ?ﬁﬂ%ﬁ%ﬁﬁuﬂs&n

\

K
Sg%l D)?r}

(e) HAEETEZEEASFM

FRBFREARIFERIN ARFALE
HAERALTREIEZEEE -EF R
RSITHABSHMNZE—TFBHR
e MR RIS
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39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY 39. REBHAISERTA
The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial REARZ AN M T ENKREEBEWNT !
instruments as at the end of the reporting period were as
follows:
2021 —E—fF
Financial assets THEE

Financial asset

Financial at fair value

Financial assetsatfair  through other
assetsat  value through comprehensive
amortised cost profit or loss income

BAnBE  BRAAEE

BEENE  GHAREN  SHAHMZE
MRz SREE TMEE KWnMNEMRE st
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AREBTT  AREFR  ARBTR  ARETR

Trade and bills receivables EE eSS AlE 201,795 - - 201,795
Financial assets included in SEATRIIE S EftFELR

prepayments, other HERHMEEN

receivables and other assets THEE 11,157 - - 11,157
Loan receivables EUWER 1,749 - - 1,749
Equity investment at fair value BARBESABRZ

through profit or loss A E - 2,880 - 2,880
Debt investment at fair value through /A AEEst A& Z

profit or loss BERE - 12,530 - 12,530
Financial asset at fair value BRREE ARM

through other comprehensive PENGENEHMEE

income = = 40,086 40,086
Pledged deposits BIfRER 25,765 - - 25,765
Cash and cash equivalents RERFEEEY 54,920 - - 54,920

295,386 15,410 40,086 350,882
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39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY 39. KREHSDEMTHE @
(continued)
2021 (continued) —E—F®
Financial liabilities ZHER
Financial
liabilities at
amortised cost
B R s
SRRz ERLAE
RMB'000
ARBFT
Trade payables B I IE 174,832
Financial liabilities included in other payables STAEMENRIE R EST
and accruals ERzEMEE 10,484
Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings st RIRTT REMER 49,268
Convertible bond AR IESS 21,672
256,256
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39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY 39. KREHSDEMTAE ®
(continued)
2020 ZETEF
Financial assets THEE

Financial asset

Financial at fair value

Financial assetsatfair ~ through other
assetsat  valuethrough  comprehensive
amortised cost profit or loss income

Ban@EE BAnERE

g SIS stARmE  AHMEE
ik SHEE THEE WnlEmMEE by
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARBTT ARBTT AREBTT

Trade and bills receivables E e AlE 193,173 - - 193,173
Financial assets included in AR TIE EftFEUR

prepayments, other HIRKREMEER

receivables and other assets TREE 8,807 - - 8,807
Loan receivables EWER 16,532 - - 16,532
Interest receivables FEUH S 149 - - 149
Equity investment at fair value BARBES ABRZ

through profit or loss BAKE = 999 = 999
Debt investment at fair value through %A A(EEF A& Z

profit or loss BERE = 13,055 = 13,055
Financial asset at fair value BAREESAHM

through other comprehensive LABENEHEE

income = = 111,078 111,078
Pledged deposits BIEEER 6,090 - - 6,090
Cash and cash equivalents ReMReEEY 76,128 - - 76,128

300,879 14,054 111,078 426,011
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39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY 39. KREHSDEMTHE @
(continued)
2020 (continued) “ECTFE®
Financial liabilities ZHER
Financial
liabilities at
amortised cost
R E AL AN
FEEC SRAaE
RMB'000
ARETFT
Trade payables B S I IE 161,709
Financial liabilities included in other payables STAEMENRIE R EST
and accruals ERzEMA%E 18,326
Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings st RIRTT REMER 48,175
228210
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40. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF 40. TMTAZARBERIAEBES
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS Y
The carrying amounts and fair values of the Group's financial rEBEEMTHE CGREBERANEESIEE
instruments, other than those with carrying amounts that EERN ZERABRASBENT !

reasonably approximate to fair values, are as follows:

Carrying amounts Fair values
fREfE RREE
2021 2020 2021 2020

B "ZTFE BT _"BFTF
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETRT ARETT AR¥TR ARETR

Financial assets ERIEE
Equity investment at fairvalue AR BEABRZ

through profit or loss RALE 2,880 999 2,880 999
Debtinvestment at fairvalue ~ ZAABEABRY

through profit or loss BHKRE 12,530 13,055 12,530 13,055

Financial asset at fair value A nEES AHAM
through other comprehensive ~ ZEWHENSREE

income 40,086 111,078 40,086 111,078
55,496 125,132 55,496 125,132
The Group's corporate finance team is responsible for AEEB THTEEMBHEENTMIA
determining the policies and procedures for the fair value HNARBESE6HEBRRZR 2R
measurement of financial instruments. The corporate finance HHEERASER NSREAH b
team reports directly to the chief executive officer. At each MHESI MM I AEEBESLS REANE
reporting date, the corporate finance team analyses the T EEMEMETZEHENEERHABE
movements in the values of financial instruments and the BAB) o HEE BB B R o

major inputs applied in the valuation which performed by
an independent professional valuer, if any. The valuation is
reviewed and approved by the chief executive officer.
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40. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Management has assessed that the fair values of cash and
cash equivalents, trade and bills receivables, current financial
assets included in prepayments, other receivables and
other assets, pledged deposits, loans receivables, interest
receivables, trade payables, interest-bearing bank and other
borrowings and the current financial liabilities included in other
payables and accruals approximate to their carrying amounts
largely due to the short term maturities of these instruments.

As at 31 December 2021, the fair value of equity investment at
fair value through profit or loss, representing an investment
in shares of a listed company in Hong Kong that the trading of
which has been suspended since October 2017, was measured
by valuation techniques of the guideline public company
method. The guideline public company method requires the
research of comparable companies' benchmark multiples and
selection of an appropriate multiple. In order to reflect the
latest financial performance of the listed company which the
Group invested in, the management have adopted the price to
sales ("P/S") ratio of the comparable companies.

40.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
MR R

31 December 2021
—E—HFf-/F=+—H

EMITAZARBERAREES
R (&)

REEENGER RekREFEY BS
R ERB WK ~ 5T A TR IR ~ ELfth FE UG
ERAEMEENRBTMEE CHRRE
MoBWRER - BWHE EBEARIE
5t R ERIT R EL M & TR LUK 5t A B AR A 7R
BRESAEANADEHREENAREE
BHREERE TEARZETANE
HAHAPREE

AT —FE+_HA=1+—H BRARB

Bt ABRZRAKRE (B—EREB LT
NBAZRHEE HB_T—tE+ARE
UEEE) 2 ANBERIESIARATEZ
EHEAEHE IS ARATAEBEMR
OELERAFZEELE WEASEZ
HoARMAERREN EHARZRIA
BRI BEEEERM I ELLRAE
ZBISLEEHE (TP/S)) EE=Ro
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40.

234

FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

The fair value of the unlisted equity investment designated
as financial asset at fair value through other comprehensive
income has been estimated using a summation method
with majority of component assets are valued by market-
based valuation technique based on assumptions that are
not supported by observable market prices or rates. The
valuation requires the directors to determine comparable
public companies (peers) based on industry, size, leverage
and strategy, and to calculate an appropriate price multiple,
such as price to book (“P/B") multiple, price to earnings
("P/E") multiple, price to earnings before interest and taxes
("P/EBIT") multiple and enterprise value to sales ("EV/S")
multiple, for each comparable company identified. The multiple
is calculated by dividing the enterprise value of the comparable
company by an earnings measure. The trading multiple is
then discounted for considerations such as illiquidity and size
differences between the comparable companies based on
company-specific facts and circumstances. The discounted
multiple is applied to the corresponding earnings measure of
the unlisted equity investment to measure the fair value. The
directors believe that the estimated fair values resulting from
the valuation technique, which are recorded in the consolidated
statement of financial position, and the related changes in fair
values, which are recorded in other comprehensive income, are
reasonable, and that they were the most appropriate values at
the end of the reporting period.

The fair values of unlisted debt investment are measured
by valuation techniques of binomial model using significant
unobservable market inputs including the credit spread and
short rate volatility.
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40.

EMTAZARBERAABES
iR @)
EEARAABESAHMEERENS
MEBEEMNFE LI TRALENLAABEEIR
B FROUTRRHISERTIANEIFHR
REAFEEANBIEEUATEAEEM
BERAETHENGHAEH A o BE
REESREBTE RE BEEKRKIEE
EABELERARAR (A% UHEEE
BRI ELERATGTEBERABERSEE W
B ELEEEEME (TP/B)) E80 BREEF

(TP/EL) E8 BB ERATRA (TP/
EBIT)) EEA X EBELLIHE (TEV/S)) &
HoBHMUTELRATNEEBERU
B EAE REEHEREABRHEE
EERBERMARE WERBESRAEL
RABZBENREEZR) TR MR EHIE
BRI LETRAKRENERERF 2 MUt
ENABE EFEFHE THRNGESHER
MERNGEE A RES A A BERDER
REMEZEKENAABEERESN DB
B BARSHARBENEE.
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40. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF 40. TMTAZARBERIAEBES
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) i @
Fair value hierarchy RAEEEZER
Below is a summary of significant unobservable inputs to the T%#ﬁﬁ@mﬁ&ﬁﬁ%Z%kT\_ﬁéﬁ%@ﬁ
valuation of financial investments together with a quantitation ABBUERRZZEZ—FRZIZZERF
sensitivity analysis at 31 December 2021 and 2020: +ZA=t—HZEEBRKEDN :
Valuation Unobservable Amount of Sensitivity of fair
Description technique input unobservable input value to the input
' \ ARBEHHABE
Er:pu faER* FABRHHE FABRBAYE ZHRE
Equity investment at fair value  Guideline public company method Valuation multiple:
through profit or loss (Market approach)
BARBES AR BEIARRANE (H155) HEEH
ZRAEHE
- Price to sales 0.49 (2020: 0.33) 1% (2020: 1%) increase/
decrease in multiple
would result in increase/
decrease in fair value by
0.45% (2020:0.42%)
—ERILHE 049 (C2ZZF1033) fﬁ%li"ﬂ[]/ﬂ’“%
(C2ZE %) ¥
KZ’V‘M“@"?]D/
HL0.45% (ZBZE
1 0.42%)
Discount for lack of 21.72% (2020: 24.74%) 1% (2020: 1%) increase/
marketability decrease in discount

would resultin
decrease/increase in
fair value by 0.58%
(2020:0.55%)

BZHSMEETE 21.72% C2ITEE 1 24.74%) 380/ 8 01%
CE_ZF:1%)
BERANEERL
18100.58% (Z2ZF
£ 10.55%)

Debt investment at fairvalue ~ Binomial method (Income approach) Credit spread (%) 8.11% (2020: 6.56%) 10% (2020: 10%)
through profit or loss increase/decrease in
spread would resultin
decrease/increase in fair
value by 0.90%/0.00%
0.45%/0.04%
(2020: 0.09%/0.00%)
BANEES A BT ZIEA A (AR EEEE(%) 8.11% (ZZZZEF  6.56%) E%HJD/ B 10%
ZEERE == ?E 10%) ot
SR BERD,/
1110.90%/0. 00%
0.45%,/0.04% (ZZF—
T 1 0.09%,70.00%)

Short rate volatility ~ 0.82% (2020: 0.30%) 10% (2020: 10%) increase/
(%) decrease in ratio would

resultin decrease/
increase in fair value by
0.00% (2020:0.00%)

FEHBR KK 3(%) 0.82% (ZZZZ5 1 0.30%) ttTi‘ﬂD/ B 10%
(C2_ZF 1 10%)
REAREE R
/EM0.00% (CEZE
£ :0.00%)
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40. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

—fF+=F=+—F

Fair value hierarchy (continued)

236

Description
fiid

Financial asset at fair value

through other comprehensive

income
RANEES AHMEE
Wiz EHMEE

Valuation
technique

hERH

Summation method (With majority of the
component assets valued by market

L2 proach)
= /i (FEERBNEE
Mg AEThE)

InvesTech Holdings Limited & :RiZR& A BRA F]
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40.

Unobservable
input

FARRBHE

Valuation multiple:
(EIEE

- Price to book
-BRILEREER
- Price to sales

-BRLLHE

- Price to earnings
before interest and
tax

-«%gtm%mm

EMITRAZARBERAREES

& @
AREBEEFHK @

Amount of
unobservable input

ARABRBARE

0.46t01.26
(2020:0.69 t0 1.69)

0.46%1.26
(CZZZE 1 0.69%1.69)

1.15
(2020:1.23t03.98)

1.15
(CZTTTH11.23%3.98)

36.08
(2020:19.89)

36.08
(CZ2F:19.89)

Sensitivity of fair
value to the input

’é‘ﬁ%fﬁiﬁﬁ)\%ﬁ%

-2

10% (2020: 10%) increase/
decrease in multiple
would result in increase/
decrease in fair value by
0.18% (2020: 009%)

EHEI,/B10% (C
— T 1 10%) H%%x&lﬁ
BIEEm,/H00.18%

(CEZEF10.09%)

10% (2020: 10%) increase/
decrease in multiple
would result in increase/
decrease in fair value by
0.02% (2020: 0.06%)

R,/ H10%

( 7—7& 100/0) HZ}
ERAREREM/ R
00.02% (CE-ZE
0.06%)

10% (2020: 10%) increase/
decrease in multiple
would result in increase/
decrease in fair value by
0.02% (2020: 0. 00%)

RIS,/ HANM0% (2
TTE 1 10%) H1§1 A
SEEEM,F10.02%

(ZZZZE10.00%)
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40. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF 40. THMTAZARBERAAEBES
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 3¢
/-\jtl1E{Eﬂ'll g

Fair value hierarchy (continued)

Description

fiid

Valuation
technique

hER

Unobservable
input

FARRBHE

- Enterprise value to
sales

-REBELHE

Discount for lack of
marketability (%)

Bz HimmEtE

(%)

Discount for lack of
control (%)

RZ IR TR (%)

Amount of
unobservable input

AEABRBAUE

1.52
(2020: 1.40)

1.52
(CZZZF11.40)

26.80%
(2020: 22.57%)

26.80%
(CZZ2F 1 2257%)

20.40%
(2020:16.60%)

20.40%
(ZEBZZF 1 16.60%)

ANNUAL REPORT 2021

Sensitivity of fair
value to the input

ARBEHBARE
ZBREE

10% (2020: 10%) increase/
decrease in multiple
would result in increase/
decrease in fair value by
17.09%/0.00% (2020:
9.83%/9.83%)

(2 1‘7Ju/ H10% (
TOTE 0%) BB
HARBEEM, AL
17.09%/0.00% (ZZ =
T 1 9.83%/9.83%)

10% (2020: 10%)
increase/decrease in
discount would result in
decrease/increase in fair
value by 13.66% (2020:
12.91%)

%ﬁ;%t*nu/ 0% (2
S2ZE 1 10%) H%%
:&Z’/}mﬁﬁﬂ yg: i
13.66% (CZ & :
12.91%)

10% (2020: 10%)
increase/decrease in
discount would result in
decrease/increase in fair
value by 12.20% (2020:
8.77%)

%ﬁ;%t*nu/ BL10% (—

10%) 8
:&Z’/}mﬁﬁﬂ b /18
1220% (CEZZE:
8.77%)
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40. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
Fair value hierarchy (continued)
The discount for lack of marketability represents the discounts
determined by the Group that market participants would take
into account when pricing the investments.

The valuation multiples represent the market multiples derived
from the comparable companies (peers) and were applied to
the financials of the financial assets to arrive the fair value.

The discount for lack of control represents the amount by which
the pro rata value of a non-controlling interest is less than the
pro rata value of a controlling interest over which a business
enterprise reflects lack of a control.

ngs Limited ﬁﬂi?‘ﬂﬁﬁl‘ﬁ’ |
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AR (&)
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40. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF 40. THMTAZARBERAAEBES

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
Fair value hierarchy (continued)
The following table illustrates the fair value measurement

hierarchy of the Group's financial instruments:

Assets measured at fair value:

& @
DAEBEFER @

TRIITFEEERTIANAAEBEFE

FR

BAREEFENEE:

Fair values measurement using

ARBEEAERR
Significant Significant
Quoted pricesin observable  unobservable
active markets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)
EX EX
HE FaJHE
ERMIARE BARE BARE
(F14R) (%24R) (%34R) st
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AR®EFT AREBTT AREBFT ARBTT
As at 31 December 2021 R_E_—F
+-B=+—-H
Equity investment at fair value BANBES ABGN
through profit or loss REARE = = 2,880 2,880
Debt investment at fair value BANBES ABGD
through profit or loss BHRE - - 12,530 12,530
Financial asset at fair value ‘A NBES AHM
through other comprehensive SEBENTHEE
income = = 40,086 40,086
= = 55,496 55,496
As at 31 December 2020 RZF-TE
+-B=+—-H
Equity investment at fair value BANBES ABGN
through profit or loss RAKE = = 999 999
Debt investment at fair value BANBES ABGN
through profit or loss BHRE - - 13,055 13,055
Financial asset at fair value BANBES AHM
through other comprehensive SEBENTREE
income = = 111,078 111,078
- - 125,132 125,132
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40. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF 40.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Fair value hierarchy

During the years ended 31 December 2021 and 2020, there
were no transfers amongst Level 1, Level 2 and Level 3 in the
fair value hierarchy.

The movements in fair value measurements within Level 3
during the year are as follows:

Equity investment at fair value through profit or loss

EMTRAZAABERAREBES
AR (=)

ARBEER (@)
RBEE-_E_—GR-_F-_FTF+_A
S+—HLEFE AABESRNE IR
BB R EIRZ R HEES o

FABIRLAAEEFENEFUT :

BRARBEFABZHRETRE

At 1 January nw—A—

Total unrealised losses recognised inthe W4z 518 ?\zlﬁqﬁﬁ B
consolidated statement of profit or loss 5E BIREIEARRE

Exchange realignment PER

At 31 December R+=-B=+—H

Debt investment at fair value through profit or loss

2021 2020
=25 “EBIEHF
RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBT T AREEFT
999 1,249
1,948 (188)
(67) (62)

2,880 999

RAABEFABRHENEHRE

At 1 January n—A—H

Interest FE

Total unrealised gain recognised in the AR EEmR AR
consolidated statement of profit or loss 5E IR AR RE

Exchange realignment PE 2 S

At 31 December w+—A=+—H

240 InvesTech Holdings Limited &zl =8 B IR A E

2021 2020
ol St -3 B
RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETFT
13,055 13,856
(1,472) (1,601)
1,364 1,607

(417) (807)
12,530 13,055




40. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Equity investment at fair value through other
comprehensive income

41.

At 1 January n—A—H

L2 N I T

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
PAFE 4R R MY 5E

31 December 2021

ERMTAZARBERRAAEES
& &)
BRAoSBEESARMEE B mRIRE
"’E

Total unrealised losses recognised in other 2 Efth2 E U 7= PO FESRRY

comprehensive income REFEIRAREE

At31 December R+=ZR=+—H
FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES

The Group's principal financial instruments comprise interest-
bearing bank and other borrowings, debt component of
convertible bond and cash and cash equivalents. The main
purpose of these financial instruments is to finance the Group's
operations. The Group has various other financial assets and
liabilities such as trade and bills receivables, trade and bills
payables, which arise directly from its operations.

It is, and has been throughout the year under review, the
Group's policy that trading in financial instruments shall be
undertaken with due care.

The main risks arising from the Group's financial instruments
are interest rate risk, foreign currency risk, credit risk and
liquidity risk. The board reviews and agrees policies for
managing each of these risks and they are summarised below.

2021 2020
—B_—fF —EITHF
RMB'000 RMB'000
AR®TTT AR®BTTT
111,078 382,569
(70,992) (271,491)
40,086 111,078

. BHERABEERRREE

FEENTESHITROESBRTRA
fthER - AR ESFNEFB I URRE
REEEBEY ZFEMIANTIEZEAN
DRAEENEREEET A5EAS
BHEMEREENAER HUEBZRER
BESR B ARREBERNOT IEREEE
BEBEE-

REELBEFEN 2EB-—EBHRAE
BETEMIARS

REAEESRMTANTIZRARATIRE
B NSRS EE RN RE AR -
EFCERANMEEE AR ER BRI
R ARBERBIZ T -
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41.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES (continued)

Interest rate risk

The Group's exposure to the risk of changes in interest rates
relates primarily to the Group's debt obligations in US$, RMB
and VND with floating interest rates.

The Group's policy is to manage its interest costs using a mix
of fixed and floating rate debts with respect to the prevailing
interest rate environment. The Group mitigates the risk by
monitoring closely the movements in interest rates and
reviewing its banking facilities regularly. The Group has not
used any interest rate swap to hedge its exposure to interest
rate risk.

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity of the Group's

loss before tax and equity in response to changes in interest
rates of the Group's floating rate debts in US$ and RMB (with all
other variables held constant).

41.

MHEREEEBRKRER @

BN
AEBFEYNMNEESEER TR IR
FAEENET  ARBREREFSES-

AEBBERDZBETMNERIRE  FAE
BMTEEBNASEEMNBMA K&
BFEZVERNERES KR EPRFIRTE
EUEARARER - A& B I EEREM
)2 J=2 B LU S P T 3 B9 0 SR LB o

TREJIFEBSFRAIBEENEa Y AE
BTk AR ZEEHFNNERES FIE
HMB SR T ) NBRE -

[ E
(decrease) in (Increase)/ (Decrease)/
interest rate decrease in increase in
basis points  loss before tax equity*
MZEERE FR% A E5 18 B
EF(FRO) o8 s GRid) /g
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARET T ARTIT ARETT
2021 BT
USS debts ELEH 100 (44) -
RMB debts ARBR 100 (200) -
USS debts EILER (100) bt -
RMB debts ARBE (100) 200 =
3 Excluding accumulated losses * etk RetiE1E

242
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVESAND 41. MR RESIEEEREE @
POLICIES (continued)
Interest rate risk (continued) FIZEEE (&)

Increase/
(decrease) in (Increase)/ (Decrease)/
interest rate decrease in increase in
basis points  loss before tax equity*

FIRER FRIRRIE R i
(PR g L Gad) /1gm*

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

ARBTIT ARBT T ARBTIT

2020 —EIEHF
USS debts EILER 100 (56) -
RMB debts AREEEH 100 (250) -
USS debts ELE (100) 56 S
RMB debts ARBES (100) 250 -
3 Excluding retained profits/accumulated losses * et iR @A, RetE1E
Foreign currency risk BE == [& g
The Group's companies operated in different locations with FEBNATNRTRAMEZE > KD
most of the transactions settled in local currency and did not 5 DUE G M 45 5 > 3 4 ) ER S BE BE R
have significant exposure to risk resulting from changes in FERNEARR-

foreign currency exchange rates.

Credit risk FEEER

The Group trades only with recognised and creditworthy AEEEARBINEEEENE=HE&
third parties. It is the Group's policy that all customers who TRZ - AEBNBRABEHMEERU
wish to trade on credit terms are subject to credit verification REARZNERETEESEZER It
procedures. In addition, receivable balances are monitored on S FERAE BRI B2 BR 2R > T AN EE AV IR
an ongoing basis and the Group's exposure to impairment is not BERRBILAER HRLIFUBAKLEE
significant. For transactions that are not denominated in the UMDBEEBHENRZ > ZEBERN
functional currency of the relevant operating unit, the Group BEEEZESTERHHET T ERMH
does not offer credit terms without the specific approval of the BRARHEA -

head of credit control.
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41. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVESAND 41. BiEEMEIEEEREE @

POLICIES (continued)

Credit risk (continued) EERR (@

Maximum exposure and year-end staging REEERIERFRIGETLE

The tables below show the credit quality and the maximum TREFNERAEEAGERENEERE
exposure to credit risk based on the Group's credit policy, kEesEEREEAE  HFZLUGHER
which is mainly based on past due information unless other REE RIETRBAMERTBLERI AL
information is available without undue cost or effort, and year- BHRFEMER - URR+ZA=1+—
end staging classification as at 31 December. The amounts BHNERBERDE 2INHBERETREE
presented are gross carrying amounts for financial assets. RARBRE{E ©

As at 31 December 2021 KRIE_—F+"HA=+—H

12-month ECLs Lifetime ECLs
128 A 781
=818 BRI fE AR TARE SR8

Simplified

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach Total
1% H2R ERE 163 a5t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AEBTt ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETR

Trade and bills receivables* BERERERG = - - 217,203 217,203
Finance lease receivable** B SR E 1,749 - - - 1,749
Financial assets included in st ATEFIE EffE R

prepayments, other FERHMEEN

receivables and other assets SHEE

- Normal** o 1,377 - - - 1317
Pledged deposits BIRER

- Not yet past due — R 25,765 - - - 25,765
Cash and cash equivalents ReRFEEEY

- Not yet past due — R 54,920 - - - 54,920

93,811 - - 217,203 311,014
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41. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVESAND 41. BiEEMEIEBEREE @

POLICIES (continued)

Credit risk (continued) EEERE @

Maximum exposure and year-end staging (continued) RERGEARIERFEXRIELR T (B)
As at 31 December 2020 RZE-ZEF+—F=+—H

12-month ECLs Lifetime ECLs
12
ErERBARBHEERR

Simplified

Stage 2 Stage 3 approach Total

E20R F3MR EEA Bt

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTT AREBTT ARETR ARETR  ARETR

Trade and bills receivables* B A RERER* = = = 207,764 207,764
Loan receivables &R

- Doubtful*** B - 14,293 - - 14,293
Loan receivables R ER

- In default**** s - - 7,578 - 7,578
Finance lease receivable** MBS EIIE 3,913 - - - 3,913
Financial assets included in SAFEMRE EfER

prepayments, other TEREHMEERN

receivables and other assets EHEE

- Normal** —IER** 9,027 = = = 9,027
Pledged deposits BIRER

- Not yet past due — R REH 6,090 - - - 6,090
Cash and cash equivalents RERREEEY

- Not yet past due —H AR 76,128 - - - 76,128

95,158 14293 7578 207,764 324,793
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41. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVESAND 41. BRI EEEEREE @

POLICIES (continued)

Credit risk (continued) EERE (@

Maximum exposure and year-end staging (continued) REBERIERFELEESIE (&

& For trade and bills receivables and contract assets to which 3 MAEEEARERLCEINE S RERE
the Group applies the simplified approach for impairment, WHRMENEEMS  REEEHEERNSE
information based on the provision matrix is disclosed in note 21 EHR BB AR & M SRR R M5E21 ©

to the consolidated financial statements.

**  The credit quality of the loan receivables, finance lease ** o RIRER - MEEERURIE S EIF R
receivables, interest receivables, financial assets included in SFATEMRIE HtEWHRER EMEE
prepayments, other receivables and other assets is considered NE/EEMNEE mE I EEHA R I &
to be “normal” when they are not past due and there is no BrlRATMEEB VI RILEERR
information indicating that the financial assets had a significant BERNNEHAERTES] cMAEREWRE
increase in credit risk since initial recognition. While the credit MNEERBREEEM WEEERER
quality of the loan receivables is considered to be “doubtful” R EIRE ©

since it had a significant increase in credit risk.

***  There have been significant increases in credit risk since initial Rk HBAESSNERE EFTISERIREETR ) BA)
recognition through information developed internally or external FHERUR  EE R ARG
resources.

**** There is evidence indicating the asset is credit-impaired. ik BRiRRAZEEEHRESRE

ings Limited B :HIZR B RA R

4 B



41.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND  41.

POLICIES (continued)
Credit risk (continued)

bl |

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAﬂI;J_STATEMENTS

PA TS5 R

B RMIE

31 December 2021

REREBRKRER @

EERR (@

A

Changes in the gross carrying amount of loan receivables that RWERERECHEH TR BEEE
contributed to changes in loss allowances were as follows: BEIAT -

Lifetime ECL, Lifetime ECL,
non-credit impaired credit-impaired
ETT@%HH MR B RIERAR
RAAEERRE
(EERE) Wt
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AR®BTT ARBFT AR#BFT
Balance as at 1 January N—B—HZ&Ek 14,293 7,578 21,871
Origination of new loan REHMEBER
receivables 48 - 48
Decrease due to disposal of R & BB A Bl R
subsidiaries (14,219) (7,512) (21,731)
Exchange realignment AR (122) (66) (188)
Balance as at 31 December R+ZA=+—H
Z KR = = =

Further quantitative data in respect of the Group's exposure to
credit risk arising from trade receivables are set out in note 21
to the consolidated financial statements.

Having considered the increase in the risk of default by certain
borrowers in respect of the repayments of loan receivables
of the Group and the decrease in the chance for the Group to
recover such loan receivables due to further deterioration in
the global economy, the Group identified that the credit risk
of loan receivables have increased significantly. As the result,
the Group had recognised impairment of loan receivables of
RMB14,293,000 as at 31 December 2020 which was measured
atan amount equal to lifetime ECLs.

In December 2020, a loan receivable of RMB7,578,000 was fully
impaired due to the debtor was not able to settled the debts.
The Group considered to start the arbitration proceedings. The

BREAEEFESREE S EWSIEmESE
NEERBNE— TP EEHE  HRGE
IR IR M EE21 ©

REBEETERAREBERAEBEKRER
B8 4V B B 38 A0 0 DA e FH S 2 TR AR 7 o —
TRE AEEKRDZEBRERNE S
B AEREREBRERNEERRED
BE FF A AEER S 2Z2F+Z
B=+—HHREREREIDREARKE
14,293,00070 > R ETHZEEN B R E B
AR TERAE B/ EN ST 2o

RIZZZF+"F REBABELZSE
B7% RIREM AR7,578,0007t B 1EE
FRE - *EEEBRBHPREF TR F

directors of the Company were of the opinion that this debt was EER/ R 2EBEHFEBEEREEREER
credit-impaired and the outstanding amount was fully paired. BERBURE
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41. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVESAND 41. MiFRAMEIEBEREE @
POLICIES (continued)
Liquidity risk T En 4 = B
The Group monitors its risk to a shortage of funds using a AEBFMBALEM RS EERE TAREE
recurring liquidity planning tool. This tool considers the BN EAR - LLETAEZREEMTA

maturity of both its financial instruments and financial assets

ENG
operations.

trade receivables) and projected cash flows from

Ultimate responsibility for liquidity risk rests with the board
of directors of the Company, which has built an appropriate
liquidity risk management framework for the management
of the Group's short, medium and long-term funding and
liquidity management requirements. Having considered the
forthcoming business plan, the Group manages liquidity risk
by maintaining adequate banking facilities and continuously
monitoring working capital forecast and actual cash flows.
Should there be any significant change in banking facilities
available, the Group will adjust the working capital forecast and
business plan accordingly to maintain its liquidity.

MEREE (FIWE 5 EWRIR) BIEIHH
MR FEAREER TR

MBERBNERREEREARNEFTTXK
B-ARAEFTER/AEENER PR
BETBRUBENRIMEREEERUK
MBMEERE - KEBHRBRZEERSE
AEREFTERTREATEEESE
ETHARERFEERE BUEERDY
MR- WA HERRITMEHIREEM
EXEFH rEEREABRMAREESS
AR R ASE TR MR ERE M o

The following table details the Group's remaining contractual TRAMBBEGEERRER 2 AEEIF
maturity for its non-derivative financial liabilities based on the MEEMAaB B TEMNEHEIH -

agreed repayment terms.

Less than
On demand 3months 3 to 12 months Over 1 year Total
REREER EAUT 3Z12{88 1E0E st
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETR ARETT ARETT AR¥ETT
Trade payables BaEf7E 142,484 11,276 13,552 7,520 174,832
Financial liabilities included in SAEMERNRIER
other payables and accruals A ERZSRER 9,960 2,626 - - 12,586
Lease liabilities HEaRE - 2,057 5,891 13,817 21,765
Interest-bearing bank and s BRI REMAER
other borrowings (FHEEERIN
(excluding lease liabilities) - 4,039 25,385 - 29,424
Debt component of convertiblebond AR ESHIEH S = - 367 25,183 25,550
152,444 19,998 45,195 46,520 264,157
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES (continued)

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
PAFE 4R R MY 5E

31 December 2021

MHEREBEEBRKRER @

Liquidity risk (continued) TREN I R BE ()
Less than
On demand 3months 3 to 12 months Over 1year
REREER EALUT 3E12EH TEMNE
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AE®TFTT NS AERETTT ARETFT AEETFT
Trade payables BAEf7E 36,967 60,531 64,186 25 161,709
Financial liabilities included in STARMEARIER
other payables and accruals A ERZSHERE 17,048 1,278 = - 18,326
Lease liabilities nEBE - 1077 4,183 2,055 7315
Interest-bearing bank and s ERTREMAER
other borrowings (FEEERMN
(excluding lease liabilities) = 11,810 29,624 = 41,434
54,015 74,696 97993 2,080 228,784
Capital management EREE

The primary objectives of the Group's capital management are
to safeguard the Group's ability to continue as a going concern
and to maintain healthy capital ratios in order to support its
businesses and maximise shareholders’ value.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes
adjustments to it in light of changes in economic conditions and
the risk characteristics of the underlying assets. To maintain or
adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the dividend
payment to shareholders, return capital to shareholders or
issue new shares. The Group is not subject to any externally
imposed capital requirements. No changes were made in the
objectives, policies or processes for managing capital during
the years ended 31 December 2021 and 2020.

FEREFAEENTEERERESTEER
UE@Ean A dEee B0 RREN
BARLER UXFHEFNERKRREE
RAIGe

FAEERBCERINBEENEREEN
EERfSHEREEEAGEE TN EFL S
B DEFNABRENER AEE D HE
MRFRIKENRE -BRREERSTE
TR AR ) o 25 52 B 3 48 52 B AE {77 Sh SR B 0
WEXRERMRR- RBEE_T_—FK
TECERE+R=+—HLEE UE
HEBEEANER BRABRFIFLEM
DR
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41.

42,

43.

250

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES (continued)

Capital management (continued)

The Group monitors capital using a gearing ratio, which is
the total of interest-bearing bank and other borrowings and
convertible bond divided by the total assets. The gearing ratios
as at the end of the reporting periods were as follows:

Interest-bearing bank and

41.

stRIRTT R EAMERR

other borrowings (note 29) (FM$5%29)
Convertible bond (note 35) IR ES (95E35)
Total assets HmEE
Gearing ratio [ PN=REfa

EVENT AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

On 22 November 2021, a placing agent and the Company
entered into a conditional placing agreement pursuant to which
the Company has conditionally agreed to place through the
placing agent, on a best effort basis, a maximum of 33,000,000
ordinary shares of the par value of US$0.01 each in the share
capital of the Company (“Placing Share(s)") at the placing
price of HK$1.5 per Placing Share (the “Placing”). Details of
the Placing are set out in the announcements of the Company
dated 22 November 2021, 23 December 2021, 13 January 2022,
27 January 2022 and 11 March 2022, and the circular of the
Company dated 24 December 2021. Completion of the Placing
took place on 11 March 2022.

COMPARATIVE AMOUNTS

The comparative consolidated statement of profit or loss has
been re-presented as if the operation discontinued during the
current year had been discontinued at the beginning of the
comparative period (note 34).

InvesTech Holdings Limited &zl =8 B IR A E

42,

43.

MHEREEEBRKRER @

BARER @

AEERAERGELEX B BRTR
HinfEm kAT R E 5 2 BRI UBE E
AEZLER) BEHEA - REPRNELE
fREERWMT :

31 December
2020
—ECFE
+—HA=+—H
RMB'000
ARETFT

31 December
2021
—EC—F

+=ZB=+—H
RMB'000
AR®T T

49,268 48,175

21,672 -

70,940 48,175

655,429 720,470

10.8% 6.7%
HREHESEIE

N2 —F+—HBZ+H> —%&kE
RIBEAKXA RG] LB RARE HE Kt
KRB BERRGRRBEBREE (IEKIEH
FRsE B EMUFLEBEREE KRM1.58 Tk
EARAT RAFH%33,000,0000%  SRE
BH0.01E= N E®BE (MBEERMD)) (&
FIE)) - EFENFEBHNARE B
AR_EBE_—F+—HBZ+ZH-ZE=—
F+-B+=H - ZEB__F—H+=
B2 -F—ABAZ+tHKRZZEZZ
FZB+t—HNALEURSATHEAE—
T —F+ A+ HHNEBR -EEEE
BERE_F=A+—H=Em-

ot 3% o 1

EERGEERmREEME2Y MNAFEE
ERIEEEEFZNLERAEA L (M5
34) 0



COMPANY

Information about the statement of financial position of the

NON-CURRENT ASSET
Investments in subsidiaries

Total non-current asset

CURRENT ASSETS

Prepayments, other receivables and
other assets

Equity investment at fair value
through profit or loss

Debt investment at fair value
through profit or loss

Amounts due from subsidiaries

Cash and cash equivalents

Total current assets

CURRENT LIABILITIES
Amounts due to subsidiaries
Other payables and accruals
Tax payable

Total current liabilities
NET CURRENT ASSETS

TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT
LIABILITIES

NON-CURRENT LIABILITY
Convertible bond

Total non-current liability
Net assets

EQUITY
Issued capital (note 30)
Reserves (note)

Total equity

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAﬂI;J_STATEMENTS

B RMIE

31 December 2021

44. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE 4h, KFRTFMBRRR

BERARABNREPARNVHBRITRNE
Company at the end of the reporting period is as follows: BN

2021 2020
T % T T4
RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ABET T
EREBEBE
RBATKRE 249,608 335,460
IERENE ELEER 249,608 335,460
RHEE
B FUE ~ EMEWEIE K
HMhEE 1,956 167
BARBEAEBTRZ
AR E 2,880 999
BARDBEFABRZZ
BEERE 12,530 13,055
JrE WP fB A Bl RR I8 15,846 74,692
BEMIREEEY 58 L
TMENE EAERE 33,270 88,957
REMEE
FE(ST B} BB A B =R IE 6,195 6,567
HMENTIBREER 933 7,487
FEIFR TR 5,990 5,996
B B (EAEEE 13,118 20,050
MENBREE 20,152 68,907
HWEERTEAR
269,760 404,367
EREBEE
AR ES 21,672 -
IEREN B EARER 21,672 -
BFEE 248,088 404,367
T
BT (FF:E30) 5,464 188,710
s (E) 242,624 215,657
T 48R 248,088 404,367
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44. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE b, AT BERRAR @
COMPANY (continued)
Note: Kt -
A summary of the Company's reserves is as follows: RABMEEZBEZNT !

Foreign

Share Convertible  currency
Share Contributed option Capital bond equity translation ~Accumulated
premium surplus reserve reserve reserve reserve losses

AR

R
RIVEE HARR BRERE BEREE f#h  EREE  RHER st
RMB000  RMB00D  RMB000  RMBO00  RMBOOO  RMBO0O RMB00D  RMB'000
ARBTT ARBTT ARETT ARETT AR®TT ARETT ARETR ARETR

At1January 2020 RoB-B&E—B—H 625,012 - 6304 106,715 - 59447 (1632000 634,278
Loss and total comprehensive FERERZEFELE
loss for the year - - - - - (6,284) (412,337)  (418,621)
At31 December 2020 and RZZB_EE
1 January 2021 +ZA=+—-HK
—E-—&-P-H 625,012 - 6306 106,715 - 53163 (575537) 215657
Loss and total comprehensive FEBRRZABRES
loss for the year - - - - - (678) (182,433)  (183,111)
Cancellation of share premium R RE (625,012) 625,012 - - - - - -
Capital reorganisation BAEH - 184152 = = = = - 184152
Issue of share IR 13,549 - - - - - - 13,549
Share issue expenses RipEITRHS (479) - - - - - - (479)
Equity-settled share option MEREE 2 BRE - - 2,743 - - - - 2,743
Issue of convertible bond TR ES = - - - 10,113 - - 10,113
At 31 December 2021 RIBZ—&
+=B=+-H 13070 809,164 9047 106715 10113 52485  (757,970) 242,624
45. APPROVAL OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 45. HEEGZ SRR
STATEMENTS
The consolidated financial statements were approved and BEEgN 2 F=-A=+—H#tEXR
authorised for issue by the board of directors on 31 March 2022. ERENEBERRSMBEIRR
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